

# ANALYZING CURRENT AND FUTURE WORKFORCE ISSUES:

Students'
Perspectives
on Career
Development





National Career Development Association A founding division of the American Counseling Association

Copyright ©2025 by the National Career Development Association 305 North Beech Circle Broken Arrow, OK 74012

No part of this book may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or otherwise without prior permission of the National Career Development Association.

Printed in the United States of America.

NCDA opposes discrimination against any individual based on age, culture, disability, ethnicity, race, religion/spirituality, creed, gender, gender identity and expression, sexual orientation, marital/partnership status, language preference, socioeconomic status, or any other personal characteristic not specifically relevant to job performance.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

FOREWORD
Marty Apodaca
NTRODUCTION v
Michael J. Stebleton
Instructions to Students
EXPLORING CURRENT ISSUES IN CAREER DEVELOPMENT
Employee Retention and Generational Issues – Ani Grothe
The Future is Hybrid – <i>Jasmine White</i>
DEI and Organizational Diversity Issues and Trends: Applications in  Career Development – Rachel Blankenship
Organizational Leadership Development Programs and Employee  Career Development – Nick Hartman
AI: A Possible Career Development Tool and Not Our Replacement - Nathan Price 2
Done with the Hustle: Time to Rethink 996 — Guoying Li
Women in the Workplace: Career Development and the  Motherhood Penalty – Yuxin Xue
APPLYING CAREER DEVELOPMENT MODELS TO SUPPORT SPECIFIC POPULATIONS
Supporting the Career Development of LGBTQ+ Workers – Shannon McCrady
The Role and Importance of Career Messaging and Development Support for Black, Indigenous Students of Color – <i>Leslie Garcia</i>
Addressing Male College Enrollment Decline Using Career  Development Theories – Kirsten Koerth
Reimagining Career Development for First-Generation Students:  An Indigenous-Informed Approach – <i>Trinity Vang</i>
Employee Mental Health: An Examination of Organizational Culture and  Leadership Approaches – Yenming Peng
The Role of Schools in Shaping Future Careers – Sally Spreeman
Applying Chaos Theory to Non-College-Educated African Americans – Christian Martin 8

# **FOREWORD**

# Marty Apodaca

In my work with graduate students, my greatest hope is always to kindle a passion for career development. I want them to see this field not just as a profession, but as a way of guiding people through some of the most important choices of their lives. When a student begins to realize that career development is about much more than résumés or job searches – that it is about identity, meaning, and storytelling – something ignites. That spark is what we need to nurture, because graduate students are not only the future of our field, they are also the future of how people will navigate work and life in an ever-changing world.

At its core, career development is about storytelling, helping people make meaning of their work, values, and life roles. In the years ahead, career decisions will be less about climbing ladders and more about choosing where, how, and with whom to spend our time and energy. Educators and practitioners will play a critical role as "career influencers," helping others learn how to make these decisions again and again. When career is seen holistically, as the mix of paid and unpaid life roles we navigate over time, every conversation becomes a career conversation. Graduate students, who often straddle the roles of learner, researcher, and practitioner, are uniquely positioned to embody this mindset and extend it into their future work. They are tomorrow's educators, counselors, HR leaders, nonprofit professionals, and policy makers. They will be the ones guiding others through transitions, uncertainty, and discovery.

This monograph excites me because it demonstrates the impact that graduate students can have when invited into the heart of the career development conversation. Born out of a graduate course at the University of Minnesota, the publication is more than just a collection of student projects. It is proof that when graduate students are challenged to think critically, to write for a professional audience, and to contribute as peers, they rise to the occasion. Their chapters explore pressing issues, from diversity and equity in the workplace to alternative career pathways, and apply theory to practice with fresh eyes and bold ideas.

Engaging graduate students in this way is not merely an academic exercise. It is an act of empowerment. By writing for publication, these students were invited to see themselves as contributors to the profession rather than passive learners. They discovered that their perspectives matter, that their voices belong, and that they have something important to offer to the ongoing dialogue about the future of work.

For NCDA, engaging graduate students means investing in the resilience and relevance of our profession. They bring fresh perspectives, challenge assumptions, and remind us that career development is constantly adapting to new realities. They are the pipeline of practitioners, educators, and leaders who will carry the mission of this association forward. Supporting them means ensuring that career development remains at the center of conversations about equity, innovation, and human flourishing in the decades ahead.

As you read this monograph, I encourage you to approach it with both curiosity and conviction. These chapters are not simply assignments polished for publication; they are glimpses into the future of our field, shaped

FOREWORD V

by the voices of those who will soon lead it. My hope is that you will see the spark of passion in their words, and that together, we can continue to kindle that spark until it grows into a fire that sustains our profession for generations to come.

*Marty Apodaca* NCDA President 2024-2025



Marty Apodaca, MA, LPCC, CCC, NCC is a Senior Counselor at the University of New Mexico's (UNM) Student Health and Counseling where he assists his clients in exploring the intersections of career and mental health. For over a decade, he previously served as a Career Development Facilitator at UNM Career Services, where he supervised and trained both individual and group counseling interns. Marty presents to counseling graduate students on career related topics and has taught undergraduate career development courses.

# INTRODUCTION

# THE NEED FOR MORE CAREER CONVERSATIONS:

Preparing Students to Engage in Critical Issues Impacting the Workforce

Michael J. Stebleton

The future of work continues to shift. f L For example, the average 5-year-old in the year 2025 may live to be over 100 years old. Tomorrow's graduates will likely have between 20-30 different jobs across multiple industries throughout their lifetime (McGowan & Shipley, 2020). How individuals envision and experience a new work-life landscape will be altered significantly in the coming years (Carstensen, 2022). Workers will develop their own new maps of life which will be comprised of a constellation of life roles, both paid and unpaid, over the course of a lifetime. Mid- and late-career professionals will likely pursue encore career options and have opportunities to reinvent themselves (Conley, 2024; Oliver, 2024).

The purpose of this introductory chapter is two-fold: first, to provide some context for the ways that career and work will continue to change in the future and second to describe the student-driven project that resulted in this monograph.

# **Engaging in Career Conversations**

Tristram Hooley (2023), career development scholar, discussed changes in career after the COVID-19 Pandemic and once defined *career* as how we opt to spend our time. Increasingly in the future, individuals who have the privilege to access more choices and resources will decide on what (and where) they want to spend that time. Career development counselors, coaches, and guides will occupy important roles in supporting students and clients to make those decisions over the course of a lifetime. Perhaps more importantly, educators can act as career

influencers and teach students and new workers how to develop the skills to make frequent career and life decisions (Stebleton & Ho, 2023). Career educators can support workers in developing these skills by having regular career conversations with students and new graduates. When career is viewed holistically (i.e., a combination of paid and unpaid roles that change over time), every conversation has the potential to be a career-related conversation (Ho & Stebleton, 2024).

Yet many young workers are reticent about holding these career conversations with managers and supervisors. It is well-documented that Gen Z individuals hold different values and perceptions of work, including technology (Katz et al., 2021). According to a 2024 Gallup poll, approximately 47% of Gen Z respondents said they would get better advice from ChatGPT rather than a manager (Gallup 2024). In another study reported by Forbes (Robinson, 2025), 41% of Gen Z respondents trust artificial intelligence (AI) more than humans, and 50% of Gen Z respondents feel more comfortable confiding in AI, rather than their manager, about work issues (Robinson, 2025). As a more seasoned career development professional and faculty member, I find these statistics disconcerting! It is my contention that everyone needs to feel comfortable having frequent career conversations, whether they are on the receiving and/or giving end of these interactions.

For career development educators, the fact that the way employees currently work has changed over recent years is not entirely a novel concept. That said, new students of

INTRODUCTION VII

career development and theory are learning how to best prepare for these changes. It is in the spirit of initiating and inspiring new career conversations that I entered the spring semester of 2025 with a group of new students who enrolled in my University of Minnesota course, *OLPD 5033: Foundations of Individual and Organizational Career Development*.

# **Course Purpose and Overview**

The purpose of the course is to learn and examine career development theory and practice from both an individual and organizational perspective. Additionally, the students explore workplace trends, demographics, and current topics related to their experiences. The three-credit course is open to graduate students and advanced undergraduate students. This course is taught in the College of Education and Human Development (CEHD) at the University of Minnesota-Twin Cities. The course is an elective that attracts students from a range of programs and colleges including Higher Education, Adult Education, Human Resource Development, and Human Resources/ Industrial Relations through the Carlson School of Management.

As in the past, the course offers opportunities for self-assessment and ongoing reflection through writing. For example, students are assigned to write a self-narrative for their project where they are asked to reflect on early childhood experiences about work and the meaning of success, however that might be defined. Students complete their own Strong Interest Inventory and leadership work values questionnaires. This semester, I decided to add another component to the writing process. I wanted the students to have the opportunity to write to a larger audience, a public one that would be able to read students' ideas and evaluations.

So often students write a final paper, upload it to the instructor, and move on to the next semester, often without reflecting on the process (and maybe not even taking the time to read the instructor's comments). My objective was to create a new learning experience where students would get

feedback from professional editors in the field – and then take those suggestions and feedback to keep revising and resubmitting until "accepted." In many ways, I hoped to simulate a professional manuscript writing experience (without the dreaded reviewer #2's dismissive comments).

In the fall of 2024, prior to the new semester, I approached Melissa Venable, editor at the National Career Development Association, about this project idea. Fortunately, she was up for collaborating with me on the task. The current monograph is the outcome of that initial conversation. The publication is a collection of 14 student contributions that resulted from their final project assignment in OLPD 5033. The projects address a range of timely issues and topics yet fall under two main categories: The first section explores current issues impacting work and career development. The second section focuses on applying career development theories and models to support specific populations of interest.

### The Students

There were 14 students enrolled in the course in the spring of 2025 from a range of diverse backgrounds and academic disciplines, including Human Resource Development, Higher Education, and Adult Education. There were three advanced undergraduate students who enrolled in the course. The other students were primarily M.A. or M.S. students completing this elective for their graduate programs. It should be noted that this career development course is not intended for counseling educators (i.e., students generally are not looking to becoming career counselors or guidance counselors).

The goal for the class is to become more aware of issues impacting career and work – and to encourage students to become more familiar with the language and theory of career – and to ultimately feel more comfortable having these career conversations across different work and learning environments in the future. It should be emphasized that students came to this project with a range of different writing experiences. For some students, this assignment was the first time that they wrote an academic

research paper that required following the American Psychological Association's (APA) style of publication.

# The Project

The final project was introduced early in the semester, but we did not begin to focus on it until around week seven. A couple of students have remarked that we might have started the project in earnest earlier in the term. I reviewed the objectives and guidelines that the students received in their instructions for the project. The draft of the project, including the structure and organization of the monograph, was shared and revised multiple times with Melissa Venable and another NCDA collaborator before sharing it with the students. I share these instructions here so that others may better understand and perhaps replicate this project.

# INSTRUCTIONS TO STUDENTS

Final Project: Writing for Publication

### **DIRECTIONS:**

We will be working together to each submit a chapter for a group publication. The publication will be a monograph that will only include this course's student contributions. The publisher will be the National Career Development Association (NCDA). NCDA will make our work available for anyone to read (i.e., you will be a published author at the end of this project).

# **OBJECTIVES:**

1) To explore a topic of your choice and to learn more about the varying perspectives on this issue as it relates to work and career development, 2) to apply career development (CD) concepts to a specific population, and 3) to have a polished piece of writing that will be published by a professional organization.

### **TOPICS:**

There will be two main sections to the monograph.1) Exploring Workplace Issues and Career Development, and 2) Supporting Specific Populations Using Career Development. The overall theme(s) for the monograph will focus on the integration of career development theory with a specific issue or problem impacting the workplace and/or the future of work; and to apply CD concepts to supporting populations. Each of us will have the opportunity to integrate career development theory with applied practice. You will opt to add your piece of writing to section 1 or section 2.

# INTENDED AUDIENCE AND OBJECTIVES:

It is our shared hope that these topics will be of interest to career development audiences at all levels and represent different contexts.

# **INSTRUCTOR'S NOTES:**

We discussed and negotiated different topics as a class – and finally reached 14 different topics. Although not scripted, we ended up with seven students who selected topic under section 1 and seven students under section 2. Students were encouraged to integrate at least 2-3 different career development theories or frameworks – and consider how these theories might be implemented into some form of practice. Some of the students opted to include more traditional theories (e.g., Super, Parsons), while others gravitated to the emerging theories such as narrative approaches and non-western models to understanding career. One of the many strengths of the monograph is the contributions that focused on the need to learn more about marginalized populations. This effort includes critically examining career issues from diverse perspectives (e.g., applying Indigenous approaches to first-generation college students) and integrating more inclusive approaches (Buford & Flores, 2025; Carter & Sisco, 2024).

INTRODUCTION iX

### **Outcome for the Writers and Readers**

For the reader, we hope that you will learn more about these timely and relevant topics impacting work and career development. Some of the issues are evolving now, such as diversity, equity and inclusion (DEI) policies in workplaces or hybrid and return to office mandates. Other chapters focus on populations and how to address pressing concerns about education and career pathways, such as BIPOC college students and young men who are opting out of fouryear degree trajectories. All the chapters are significant in some way and are directly related to current issues impacting the field of career development. The project aligns with NCDA's commitment to supporting and promoting greater involvement in graduate education and adding to the available NCDA graduate resources.

• • •

I would personally like to thank the editors Melissa Venable and Melanie Reinersman at NCDA for their time and energy reviewing and commenting on students' drafts. Finally, I would like to thank and acknowledge the students and their diligent work. Many of them commented on how much work this involved, but also on how much they learned from the project. I wish all student contributors and readers of this monograph the best as you move forward in your own career pathways.



Michael J. Stebleton, PhD, is a Professor of Higher Education at University of Minnesota-Twin Cities. He teaches both undergraduates and graduate students in the Department of Organizational, Leadership, Policy, and Development. Contact Dr. Stebleton at: steb0004@umn.edu.

### REFERENCES

Buford, M. V., & Flores, L. Y. (2025). Centering race in career development: A critical review of career scholarship and practice. *Journal of Career Development*, *52*(2), 195-213. https://doi. org/10.1177/08948453241309017

Carstensen, L. (2022, April). *The new map of life: A report from the Stanford Center on longevity*. Stanford University. https://longevity.stanford.edu/wp-content/uploads/2022/04/new-map-of-life-full-report.pdf

Carter, A. D., & Sisco, S. (2024). Leadership coaching strategies for Black women leaders who code switch: Avoiding linguistic profiling career boundaries. *Career Development International*, *29*(3), 323-338. https://doi.org/10.1108/CDI-07-2023-0211

Conley, C. (2024). *Learning to love midlife: 12* reasons why life gets better with age. Little, Brown Spark.

- Gallup. (2024). Gen Z. https://news.gallup.com/topic/generation-z.aspx
- Ho, C., & Stebleton, M. J. (2024). Not all who wander are lost: Redefining career exploration and indecision in undergraduate students. *Journal of College and Character*, *25*(2), 196-204. https://doi.org/10.1080/2194587X.2024.2326220
- Hooley, T. (2023). The future isn't what it is used to be! Revisiting the changing world of work after Covid-19. In M. Buford, M. J. Sharp, & M. J. Stebleton (Eds.), *Mapping the future of undergraduate career education: Equitable career learning, development, and preparation for a new world of work.* (pp. 38-51). Routledge.
- Katz, R., Ogilvie, S., Shaw, J., & Woodhead, L. (2021). Gen Z, explained: The art of living in a digital age. The University of Chicago Press.
- McGowan, H. E., & Shipley, C. (2020). The adaptation advantage: Let go, learn fast, and thrive in the future of work. Wiley.
- Oliver, H. (2024). Second act: What late bloomers can tell you about reinventing your life. John Murray One.
- Robinson, B. (2025, February 19). Gen Z trust AI more than humans in their careers, new study shows. *Forbes*. https://www.forbes.com/sites/bryanrobinson/2025/02/19/gen-z-trust-ai-over-humans-in-their-careers-new-study-shows/
- Stebleton, M. J., & Ho, C. (2023). Career development is everyone's responsibility: Envisioning educators as career influencers. *Journal of College and Character*, *24*(3), 189-196. https://doi.org/10.1080/2194587X.2023.2224577

INTRODUCTION

# EXPLORING CURRENT ISSUES IN CAREER DEVELOPMENT

# EMPLOYEE RETENTION AND GENERATIONAL ISSUES

# Ani Grothe

In today's diverse and rapidly changing workforce, understanding the unique needs and values of different generations is important to improving employee retention (Glynn, 2025).

While many organizations are filled with multigenerational workers – such as the Silent Generation, Baby Boomers, Generation X, Millennials, and Generation Z, working together in the office – there are differences among these groups in work norms and values that can be tied to decreased employee retention.

Low employee retention rates have become an increasingly important issue due to labor shortages increasing, AI and automation on the verge, workforce demographics shifting, and high turnover costs (ACG Resources, 2024; Solanki, 2025). Job-hopping has emerged as a key issue in today's career landscape, bringing up the debate about its impact on long-term professional development and organizational stability. As many of the Gen Z graduates (1997 -2012) enter the workforce, it is essential to understand why this is becoming more prominent and how to decrease it and bring employee retention rates up. Exploring these issues requires examining how employee retention involves a mutual commitment between employee and employer, focusing on how shifting expectations around mobility and stability, especially among younger workers, are reshaping what that commitment looks like.

This chapter explores employee retention across generations by looking at competing perspectives on job-hopping and workplace loyalty, integrating career development strategies to propose a plan for organizations and educators to address shifting workforce expectations and improve retention practices.

# The Mobility Mindset: Understanding Job-Hopping Among Younger Generations

The newer generation of employees tends to follow a mobility perspective, in which jobhopping is promoted and seen as beneficial. According to Richmond (2024), "The number one reason given was to get a higher salary, followed by better work conditions, more growth opportunities, and better benefits" (para 6). Out of all these reasons, there is a consensus that workers are involved in a work environment that does not fit their values or needs. This is because many organizations are still being managed by older generations, who have more traditional norms that prioritize face-to-face communication and hierarchical structures, which leads to newer generations feeling like they are not being seen or heard (Gerhardt et al., 2022). Richmond (2024) stated, "Gen Z workers are expected to comprise about a quarter of the labor force by next year, so finding ways to keep them on board is critical, especially since research shows as much as 50% are disengaged from their jobs, 40% want to leave within two years and 35% even say they would leave their current job without having another one to move to" (para 3). The desire to survive and thrive through work could cause vounger generations to follow the urge to change jobs to achieve better salaries, opportunities for growth, and benefits.

# The Value of Stability: Retention Benefits Across Generations

From a stability standpoint, where employee retention is favored, there are many benefits for both employees and employers across generations. For employees, the benefits include financial stability, credibility, career advancement, and skill mastery. An important

factor in this is the declining job market (Mould, 2025). The experience for most workers, in particular the younger ones, is "jobs vanish as quickly as they appear, benefits are slashed, exploitation is rife, and career paths once paved with middleclass respectability have crumbled under the relentless march of automation and the ubiquity of the platform economy" (Mould, 2025, para 2). With this ever-changing and unstable environment, the work world is immersed in, it is better to make career decisions based on security, and the new generation is realizing that. According to Mould (2025), "It appears as if Gen Z wants to emulate their grandparents' career paths that were tied to one company with large pensions, a tight-knit family feel and gold watch upon retirement, and revert to a life of comfort and security rather than the endless grind of competing in the employment marketplace" (Mould, 2025, para 2). As Generation Z begins to prioritize stability and long-term growth, their values begin to align more with older generations, while still staying true to valuing flexibility and continuous learning. This shift brings a unique opportunity for stronger intergenerational collaboration in the workplace. Employees from every generation have something to offer to an organization and their work teams (Glynn 2025).

"Creating intentional efforts to boost and retain employees across every working generation shows that your business is willing to invest in its people" (Glynn, 2025, para 43). When organizations create environments that encourage generational knowledge sharing, it leads to more dynamic problem-solving and innovation within an organization. This blend of perspective also promotes mutual respect and helps break down generational stereotypes, promoting a more cohesive workplace. As retention rates improve, these cross-generational relationships grow stronger, essentially enhancing team performance and organizational success. In this way, the growing desire for stability and long-term connection across generations echoes Davis's (2023) reasons for why people work: people seek purpose and a sense of belonging in their work, which is created

through environments that support retention and cross-generational collaboration.

# Career Development Models and Their Role in Retention

To better understand the motivations behind job-hopping and the push for stability, it is important to examine these trends through a career development lens. These models provide deeper insight into how individuals navigate their careers in response to internal values and external pressure, and how organizations can better support their sustainable career paths.

One model that is relevant to the issue of job-hopping and generational shifts in the workforce is the Protean Career Model. based on the work of Hall (1976). Hite and McDonald (2023) suggested the model explains that a person "can be flexible and adaptable in a turbulent, ever-changing landscape" (p. 18). This model emphasizes that individuals, not organizations, are responsible for managing their own career paths, a belief that strongly relates to younger generations like Millennials and Generation Z. These generations are progressively motivated by personal values, like flexibility, purpose, and work-life balance, rather than traditional organizational promotions or tenure. The Protean Career Model helps explain why many employees today may choose to switch jobs frequently, not because of disloyalty, but to find roles that better align with their goals and identities. In a labor market shaped by automation, shifting norms, and economic uncertainty, the model's focus on adaptability and continuous learning makes it relevant as it highlights the importance of self-direction and lifelong growth, both of which are essential for going through modern careers and for organizations looking to increase long-term retention (Truyens, 2019).

Another valuable framework for navigating modern career paths is the Chaos Theory of Careers, developed by Pryor and Bright. This theory "understands reality in terms of complex dynamical systems" (Pryor & Bright, 2012, p. 70), emphasizing that careers are non-linear and often unpredictable. In today's ever-changing workforce, this model helps explain why job-hopping and non-

traditional career moves have become more common (Solanki, 2025). According to this theory, individuals need to learn to adapt, take advantage of chaos events, stay open to new opportunities, and develop resilience in the face of uncertainty (Pryor & Bright, 2012). This is especially relevant for younger generations, who often face unstable job markets and must respond to uncertainty faster than previous generations.

Importantly, the Chaos Theory of Careers also speaks to issues of employee engagement and retention. As workers navigate instability, they are more likely to stay with employers who provide support through transitions, offer opportunities for continuous growth and learning, and promote adaptable, inclusive environments. According to Gallup's State of the Global Workplace (Harter, 2024), only 23% of employees report being engaged at work, while 62% are not engaged and 15% are actively disengaged, costing the global economy \$8.9 trillion. When employers encourage adaptability and promote learning through change, they not only empower individuals to manage their careers more effectively but also boost engagement, which is directly tied to retention. More engaged employees are not just more productive; they are also more likely to stay.

# **Implications for Career Development Educators and Practitioners**

Understanding the evolving dynamics of career development and generational perspectives has important implications for career development (CD) educators and practitioners across contexts like higher education. To effectively support today's workforce, CD professionals should train practitioners to avoid generational bias. A good resource for CD professionals to share is *Gentelligence* by Dr. Megan Gerhardt, who promoted four practices to help break the generational stereotypes and divide: resisting assumptions, adjusting the lens, strengthening traits, and expanding the pie (Edwards, 2025).

These insights not only shape how intergenerational dynamics are understood but also inform practical strategies that can be applied across various professional settings to create a more inclusive and productive career development support. The principles of employee retention and development have broad applications across many professional contexts. In higher education, institutions play a vital role in preparing Gen Z students for the workforce by offering career readiness programs, mentorship opportunities, and experiential learning that align with the evolving workplace expectations. In human resources and human resource development (HR/HRD), implementing tailored onboarding processes, personalized recognition strategies, and leadership development initiatives is crucial to engage a multigenerational workforce and reduce turnover. Similarly, adult education contributes by concentrating on the reskilling of older workers and promoting age-inclusive practices to make sure all employees, regardless of age, have access to growth opportunities and feel valued in their roles. Together, these efforts can create a more adaptive and inclusive work environment.

# **Strategies for Strengthening Retention Across Generations**

Looking ahead, addressing generational issues is crucial to improving employee retention in today's diverse workforce. First, applying Gerhardt's (2024) four principles for bridging the gap in a multigenerational workplace results in a better understanding of each generation. Her principles, resisting assumptions, adjusting the lens, and expanding the pie, encourage a new perspective on how to not discriminate on generational differences, but be curious about what each generation has to offer. Similarly, her principle on strengthening trust supports the creation of environments where collaboration is promoted and not discouraged due to psychological safety. Secondly, Glynn (2025) shared some useful steps to retain each generation in the workplace, such as implementing thoughtful policies, providing mentorship programs, allowing flexible work arrangements, offering training and development opportunities, creating multigenerational teams, and providing recognition and rewards. All these steps should help keep generations

active in the workplace and overall improve retention rates. Like Glynn said, "A variety of generations creates a more dynamic and innovative organization as each cohort brings its own unique background, perspectives, and experiences" (Glynn, 2025, para 5). By utilizing these strategies and perspectives, organizations can not only promote a more inclusive and collaborative environment but also build a resilient workforce equipped to thrive across generational lines.

As an undergraduate student who is part of the younger generation of workers, I think all these strategies are proactive and effective in providing a better space for different generations to work together. Because each strategy works to include a more inclusive space, newer generations will be inspired to stay at their current job, instead of jobhopping, because they will be able to fulfill their needs and feel seen, thus improving overall employee retention rates.

# Conclusion

Overall, navigating employee retention in a multigenerational workforce requires a thoughtful balance between honoring the diverse values of each generation and creating a shared workplace culture that is rooted in purpose and growth. As explored through this paper, strategies that promote flexibility, adaptability, and generational understanding, such as those outlined in the career development models like Protean Career and Chaos Theory, as well as Gerhardts's Gentelligence, offer practical ways to boost engagement and reduce turnover. When organizations commit to supporting both mobility and stability, they create environments where employees not only stay but thrive. This shift reflects deeper human needs in that, beyond survival and financial gain, employees are driven by a need for meaning, belonging, and the ability to contribute to something greater (Davis, 2023). By aligning organizational practices with these core motivations and embracing generational diversity, workplaces can not only retain talent, but also empower talent.



Ani Grothe

I am graduating from the University of Minnesota in December 2025 with a major in Business and Marketing Education and a Sales Certificate. I am lucky enough to have the opportunity to be a digital marketing and communications intern at DCC Marketing, where I assist in developing and executing social media strategies and support on media planning and reporting.

### REFERENCES

- ACG Resources. (2024, September 10). Evolving workforce demographics: Adapting to a changing talent landscape. https://www.acgresources.com/evolving-workforce-demographics-adapting-to-a-changing-tal ent-landscape/
- Davis, P. R. (2023). Working to survive, thrive, or something more? In D. L. Blustein & L. Y. Flores (Eds.), *Rethinking work* (1st ed., pp. 20–24). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003272397-5
- Edwards, K. (Host). (2025, March 26).

  Gentelligence: The revolutionary approach to leading an intergenerational workforce (No. 255) [Audio podcast episode].

  Student Affairs NOW.
- Gerhardt, M. W., Nachemson-Ekwall, J., & Fogel, B. (2022, March 8). *Harnessing the power of age diversity*. Harvard Business Review. https://hbr.org/2022/03/harnessing-the-power-of-age-diversity
- Glynn, P. (2025, March 21). Retaining a multigenerational workforce (from baby boomers to gen Z). Insight Global. https://insightglobal.com/blog/retaining-multigenerational-workforce/
- Hall, D. T. (1976). *Careers in organizations*. Scott, Foresman and Company.
- Harter, J. (2025, January 14). *U.S. employee* engagement sinks to 10-year low.
  Gallup. https://www.gallup.com/
  workplace/654911/employee-engagement-sinks-year-low.aspx
- Hite, L. M., & McDonald, K. S. (2023). Career theory and concepts. In L. M. Hite & K. S. McDonald (Eds.), *Career theory and concepts* (2nd ed., pp. 18–43). HRD Press.

- Mould, O. (2025, January 8). Why are gen Z shunning 'hustle culture' in favour of long-term jobs? Here are three good reasons. The Guardian. https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2025/jan/08/gen-z-hustle-culture-jobs-workers-stability
- Pryor, R. G. L., & Bright, J. E. H. (2012). The value of failing in career development: A chaos theory perspective. *International Journal for Educational and Vocational Guidance*, *12*(1), 67–79. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10775-011-9194-3
- Richmond, J. (2024, February 20). Cultivating loyalty: Employee retention strategies for the younger generations. *Forbes*. https://www.forbes.com/councils/forbesbusinesscouncil/2024/02/20/cultivating-loyalty-empl oyee-retention-strategies-for-the-younger-generations/
- Solanki, N. (2025, January 22). From job hopper to star performer: Rethinking non-traditional career paths. LinkedIn. https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/from-job-hopper-star-performer-rethinking-career-paths-nish a-solanki-bq43f/
- Truyens, M. (2019). *Protean career Douglas T. Hall.* MARCR. https://marcr.net/marcr-for-career-professionals/career-theory/career-theories-and-theorists/pr otean-career-douglas-t-hall

# THE FUTURE IS HYBRID

# Jasmine White

Tobs have been remote or hybrid for a while but as I was leaving high school everyone's lives changed, and the whole world stopped altogether. When I was a kid growing up, I saw how my parents went through their work careers, as well as the paths of my older brothers' friends entering the workforce. The talk about work was always post-college graduation: find a job with a company, put your nose to the grindstone, and work. The other part is that most work is 9-5 in the office or where your job site is and for me, it was unusual to see my parents being able to work from home. COVID-19 impacted everyone all at once and more specifically there was a dramatic change in job modality across the board. Everyone was remote, unemployed, or working through the fearfulness of COVID-19 being an essential worker.

A current topic within the workplace is what is going to happen to those who work from home or are in a hybrid setting. The initial wave of COVID-19 started five years ago, which kick-started the conversation of what work life would or could look like. Companies are reconsidering the modality of where their employees do their work. As some are mandated back in office, there has been quite a bit of uproar about those mandates. Living in Minnesota and reading up on government workers specifically, how their policies were recently changed, and the feedback they have provided is eye-opening. As an example: "Ryan Sully, a U.S. Department of Commerce employee, said Governor Walz's announcement was pushing him to consider a career change" (Bierschbach, 2025, p. 2). The recent news was a huge concern for Sully regarding his personal life because the main reason for moving in 2022 from South Dakota to Minnesota was that he was offered a fully remote job. With frustrations that were

represented in this article, he said he would consider going into the private sector and leaving government work. Sully is coming from an approach that is valid considering hearing about the news. When he was under the impression that is what the position would look like having a mandate to change his situtation completely with no discussion about options is almost appalling. "By early 2023 about 30% of full-paid days are worked from home, with hybrid [work from home] being the most common approach to this (Barrero et al., 2023)" (Bloom et al., 2022, p. 2). This 2023 statistic shows that of full-time paid jobs, under half are still working from home and a majority being a hybrid model. Working in an office full-time is a tough sell to most employees.

# **Disadvantages and Advantages**

A major issue with the change in where and how people work is how it can affect their personal lives. This can ultimately affect a largely diverse demographic, including parents, couples, single-person households, and individuals with disabilities. Over the last five years, there have been a lot of modifications workers have made due to going from working in the office to working from home or only having to go into the office a few times a week (Koski, 2023). For example, there have been responses from parents who work hybrid that say, "The biggest challenge for parents was to focus on two things at the same time, like focusing on work and not on personal responsibilities" (Koski, 2023, p. 55). There are challenges on both sides of working fully remotely and fully in person. A lot of it comes down to people's mental load to scramble to figure out a new system that works for their personal and work lives. The compromise and solution could be revisiting the hybrid working model.

Due to some dramatic life changes for some including not having to pay for childcare, as much gas for commuting, and when having a long day at the office resorting to buying take out meals.

Many workers express needing flexibility and the trust of their employers. This has promoted a healthy growth of better working outcomes as well as better working relationships (Koski, 2023). "These findings highlight how hybrid-WFH is typically beneficial for both employees and firms but is usually underappreciated in advance, particularly by managers." (Bloom et al., 2022, p. 18). It is a change that needs to be discussed and outlined for both parties to be comfortable with how work life is going to look for each company exploring this topic. As a few articles have described there is no right or wrong way to do hybrid work. This can be positive for all if the parties involved have open communication about what hybrid work will look like for them.

# **Economic Impact**

There are economic drawbacks from employees not working in buildings within cities because they are not contributing to the boost of income flow that is supported by having foot traffic being there to support funds to keep cities looking nice. With companies going from having workspaces in buildings to having all employees working at home and not returning there will be many empty buildings not being used (Brandes, 2024). There have been perks when it comes to working from home. Many Gen Zers like the option of remote or hybrid so they can avoid commute times and balance work and social life. Employees have been the majority of people who want to stay in a hybrid work life while leaders are the ones advocating for in-person work (Koski, 2023).

Considering many companies financially could not keep paying for workspaces when most of their employees were at home during COVID-19, they eventually gave up the space or stopped renting it out. Large cities in North America have seen major effects on their communities, one article notes two cities that stand out: Nashville, Tennessee and Boise, Idaho (Brandes, 2024). With the struggles

completely remote work has on cities, there have been a few strategies in the works to try and match the economic income a city gains when the buildings in the cities are full. Brandes told us that "there are cities that have historically been highly dependent on public transit" (Brandes, 2024, para. 10). That is where Nashville and Boise approached this challenge with a solution by making their cities vacation destinations to bring the revenue up through high volumes of foot traffic (Brandes, 2024).

Another view is that employers have been anxious about the productivity and quality of work when it comes to comparing remote/ hybrid work and in-office. When measuring this with a few studies looked at monthly/ yearly work reviews to measure what things have been done. Overall, it is hard to gather concrete evidence that hybrid employees aren't producing quality work. Quality goes hand and hand with trust, so employers need to find qualities of trust within their employees and the work they produce no matter where they are getting it done. At the end of the day, productivity is all relevant to what someone is working on and when it needs to get done to have it be done right. Hybrid work "gives employees independence to get quality over quantity" (Koski, 2023, p.27).

In terms of how much hybrid work can impact a company there of course are positives and negatives. A positive that hybrid options offer employees is that you can work with a team that lives all over the world which can bring in a lot of unique perspectives. A negative is employees missing out on in-office opportunities that will not happen when someone is working remotely. For teams to be collaborating there needs to be some sort of face-to-face experience to kick start natural interactions and relationships. This often happens when co-workers are in the office where things like lunch breaks can start up casual conversations. With a hybrid model, there is a chance for stronger bonding relationships between bosses and employees. Going back to gains for cities, the flexibility that most workers will have at some point of the week in office can start to go a long way

in building more consistent traffic in cities. Another interesting point Brandes (2024) mentioned is using vacant buildings for housing. "Emerging data suggest that the most economically resilient neighborhoods in cities are those that have a very healthy diversification of uses, such as offices and residential uses together in similar proportions" (Brandes, 2024, para. 25). Transforming office buildings into residential buildings is not a quick fix or one that will be remotely comparable in terms of the potential income that an office building would bring. It is very important to start somewhere, and this may be the solution for a more consistent rebuild.

# Job Satisfaction

Hybrid work has helped people's job satisfaction responses increase and created a desire to work without feeling burnout. "After the pandemic ended, nearly 90% of respondents would strongly demand flexibility in terms of when and where they work" (Wójcik, 2023, p. 56). Burnout is a major factor in job turnover rates as well as low job retention. Getting people in the office a few times a week is also beneficial when pairing remote work to build community. "The issue of the social well-being of employees, i.e., their interpersonal relations, seems to be particularly crucial" (Wójcik, 2023, p. 57). Before cell phones, there were natural breaks between home and work because there was not a massive open line of communication when leaving work with your co-workers and bosses.

Work has consumed a lot of people's lives since technology has information readily available at our fingertips. Back in the day, emails could only be read on computers, and they communicated with landlines or pagers. The article mentions how drastic of a change it was when cell phones came into the picture and that a boss relied on communicating via phone call to have his employee check for an important email to come through over the weekend. Other than people who work to save lives and rely solely on being in constant communication there should be separation from direct contact with work for those whose work lives are not a make or break on

someone's life status. There is an argument that hybrid work is here to stay and that there are positive reasons why it can be successful.

Hybrid is a mix of the best of both words in terms of compromise to being fully remote and fully in office. Work retention is a whole other topic that aligns with what is going on in the world of discussing this worldly transition of coming post-pandemic. With what everyone went through it is almost impossible to start to force people to be fully back in the office due to so many personal and professional positives by working at the bare minimum partially remotely. The luxury of flexibility has become a new normal and it has become a comfortable ask for most employees to their employers.

### Mental Health

A lot of what employees and employers need from work culture is trust and community. Patel and Plowman (2022) discussed the importance of having a best friend at work, which leads to many positive outcomes. Not only does this help people feel more comfortable in the workplace but also keeps people accountable for doing their work well. More specifically, Gen Z for example, exhibits socialization as being an important part of the workplace they want to be a part of. Recent studies show that Gen Z prefers a workplace that offers flexibility and one that takes time to get to know them. Making connections is crucial in deciding on a workplace for most Gen Zers because of the direct correlation to having access to constant contact via social media and mobile devices (Ma & Fang, 2023).

Chaos Theory ties into all the unknowns and not being able to control or predict them (Pryor & Bright, 2012). This theory helps to encapsulate what some are experiencing in the job hunt, working world, and balancing both work and personal life. Understanding that failing forward is going to be your best option to grow in times of uncertainty is going to be uncomfortable. Knowing that "everything has the potential to influence and be influenced by everything else in the system" (Pryor & Bright, 2012, p. 4). Knowing this, having support in place through career counselors or human resources personnel to find a creative solution can help to alleviate

the mental load. Gen Z students are looking for jobs that make them happy or interesting to be a part of because they care more about who they are working with and why they are spending quality time on things that matter (Ma & Fang, 2023).

Another way to support mental health as workers guide themselves through unpredictable times is being able to understand the Narrative Approach. "Narrative approaches view the episodes or phases of one's life as chapters to be examined and re-examined" (Stebleton & Franklin, 2022, p. 184). Being able to approach work situations with a sense of being more humane so that one can show up to work to the best of their ability. The Narrative Approach involves storytelling which can bring inclusion to the working community by letting individuals feel heard and seen. Some have imposter syndrome in the workplace due to not feeling as though they belong which is a heavy burden and can stop full potential productivity. It also helps to "educate clients regarding the reality that life-career planning is an ongoing, cyclical process rather than a single-time event that is only engaged in during times of crisis" (Stebleton & Franklin, 2022, p. 186).

Another mental load that can be very overwhelming, especially if the workplace is changing, is work modalities that you are not mentally prepared for and are worried it won't work out. Knowing that failure is talked about in the chaos theory can be good and it is uncomfortable. Chaos theory and Narrative go together in helping new people to adjust to the working environment, one's that had their working environment completely change and those who are looking for new work.

## Conclusion

Hybrid is a compromise between both sides that either want to continue to work from home and those who are mandated to work in person. Knowing that times are changing again due to being out of the pandemic it is going to cause a lot of problem solving. This topic of work and what it looks like does not have a quick fix, it will take time to get into the groove and find what works. It also

is individual choices based on the company or who you work for because each industry needs different things. Being patient and willing to have open communication about what is next and how to go about it is going to be the right path to finding solutions to this problem.



Jasmine White
I am a student at the University of
Minnesota and am getting a degree
in Business Marketing and Education
with a minor in Sports Management.

### REFERENCES

- Bierschbach, B. (2023, June 28). Most
  Minnesota government workers ordered
  to return to the office 50% of the time.

  The Minnesota Star Tribune. https://
  www.startribune.com/most-minnesotagovernment-workers-ordered-toreturn-to-the-office-50percent-of-thetime/601243884
- Bloom, N., Han, R., & Liang, J. (2022). *RTO* or WFH? The return to office and work from home. National Bureau of Economic Research. https://www.nber.org/system/files/working\_papers/w30292/w30292.pdf
- Brandes, U. (2024, September 20). Amazon is going back to the office every day. But can cities make a comeback after years of empty offices? Georgetown University School of Continuing Studies. https://scs.georgetown.edu/news-and-events/article/9786/amazon-going-back-office-every-day-can-cities-make-comeback-after-years-empty-offices
- Koski, R. (2023). *A study on remote work* and work-life balance [Bachelor's thesis, Haaga-Helia University of Applied Sciences]. Theseus. https://www.theseus.fi/bitstream/handle/10024/807701/Koski\_Rachel.pdf?sequence=2
- Ma, K., & Fang, B. (2024). Exploring Generation Z's expectations at future work: The impact of digital technology on job searching. *European Journal* of *Training and Development*, 48(9), 933–953. https://doi.org/10.1108/EJTD-05-2023-0076
- Patel, A., & Plowman, S. (2022, August 17). The increasing importance of a best friend at work. Gallup. https://www.gallup.com/ workplace/397058/increasing-importancebest-friend-work.aspx

- Pryor, R. G. L., & Bright, J. E. H. (2012). The value of failing in career development: A chaos theory perspective. *International Journal for Educational and Vocational Guidance*, *12*(1), 67–79. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10775-011-9194-3
- Stebleton, M. J., & Franklin, M. (2022).

  Applying narrative approaches to support undergraduate career decision-making. In M. V. Buford, M. J. Sharp, & M. J. Stebleton (Eds.), Mapping the future of undergraduate career education:

  Equitable career learning, development, and preparation in the new world of work (pp. 183–199). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003213000-16
- Wójcik, M., & Poroszewska, M. (2023). The impact of hybrid work on the quality of interpersonal relations in the HR department of the enterprise a case study. *European Management Studies*, *21*(2), 51–74. https://press.wz.uw.edu.pl/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1032&context=ems

# DEI AND ORGANIZATIONAL DIVERSITY ISSUES AND TRENDS: APPLICATIONS IN CAREER DEVELOPMENT

# Rachel Blankenship

ver the past decade, diversity, equity, and inclusion (DEI) practices have been at the forefront for individuals and organizations. As demographics change, organizations are expected to shift their practices and mindsets around DEI in meaningful ways. Although with the recent changes and awareness increasing, the discussion of DEI has shifted to a new mindset for many individuals and organizations while making it a more prominent focus around career development. The conversation around DEI includes topics such as promotion, workplace culture, hiring, and leadership representation. With these topics in mind, organizations may choose to take a different approach with DEI practices and initiatives. These practices can include employer-mandated training on diversity and commitments to equity in hiring practices.

Career educators and human resources personnel must thoroughly understand organizational diversity issues and DEI as they shape how individuals prepare for the workforce and support career development opportunities. When working in human resources, it is critical to understand more about DEI and how it influences individuals and the organization. As DEI evolves, it will continue to be an important conversation to be had as perspectives shift with changes and discussion. In particular, it can be valuable to look at it through the lens of career development, including Social Cognitive Career Theory and Systems Theory Framework, while examining what comes next.

### What DEI Looks Like Now

Over the past several years, DEI practices have evolved tremendously. Until recently, the idea of DEI initiatives and policies became acceptable as more people recognized that it would be a permanent enactment in various organizations. However, that changed when U.S. President Donald Trump signed an Executive Order in his first week in office that restored merit-based hiring and promotions across the federal government, along with another Executive Order that ended many DEI programs throughout the United States (White House, 2025). The Trump administration believes "corporate DEI practices have unfairly disadvantaged and discriminated against white men" (Guynn, 2025, para. 26). Additionally, the White House stated that "DEI creates and then amplifies prejudicial hostility and exacerbates interpersonal conflict" (Alfonseca, 2025, para. 20). This counteracts Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, which was put in place to end employment discrimination based on race, religion, color, sex, or national origin (Snell & Morris, 2023). Due to these executive orders, companies have been removing their DEI initiatives and mentions of diversity throughout their organization. Terms like "belonging" have taken the place of DEI in corporate lingo as it gets phased out and struck from their public agendas (Guynn, 2025).

Certain large companies that have rolled back their DEI policies include Major League Baseball, Walmart, Amazon, Molson Coors, Morgan Stanley, Google, and more (Murray, 2025). Among those, Target has been a major company raising discussion among Americans as Target removes its DEI practices. Target ended its Racial Equity Action and Change

initiatives along with its three-year diversity, equity, and inclusion goals (Bradley, 2025). According to the Wall Street Journal, their stocks dropped 12 percent within three to four weeks of the rollback, and their investors were unaware of the financial risks (Nassauer & Simon, 2025). Target saw 5 million fewer customers while Costco, which is standing firm with its DEI initiatives, saw 7.7 million more customers in the span of four weeks (Ghabbash, 2025). JPMorgan Chase has been in several headlines as the CEO. Jamie Dimon, talked about how he plans to eliminate ineffective and costly diversity initiatives but wants to stay committed to the programs that have been helping boost the diversity of the company's employees and customer base (Guynn, 2025). Despite many companies getting rid of or scaling back on DEI practices, other companies are standing strong and committed to programs that help their company's workforce and customer base, like JPMorgan Chase.

# **Differing Perspectives of What DEI Should Be**

Despite recent criticism over DEI efforts, some people believe that DEI is positive and contributes a lot to organizations around the world. In Defining Equity and Inclusion in the Future of Career Education, Bate (2022) shared that many organizations struggle when they work with historically advantaged populations as the organizational culture, unconscious bias among other employees, social segregation, and not being inclusive are due to preexisting structures and the rootedness of Whiteness within the systems. This shows that without DEI practices, it can be troublesome for environments to be truly inclusive, as the preexisting structures are the historical systems that were set in place for, and favor, White-dominant culture norms, along with their employees unknowingly excluding other individuals, making marginalized employees tend to feel unwelcome or not valued.

A Pew Research Center survey found that most US adults who are employed, about 56%, feel that focusing on increasing DEI practices at work is positive (Minkin, 2023). Minkin (2023) also found crucial information

that shows how DEI practices can be beneficial: about 78% of Black, 72% of Asian, and 65% of Hispanic workers believe that focusing on DEI within their workplace is a good thing. Workers were more likely to say that being a man in the workplace makes it easier to be successful than to say it makes it more difficult, about 36% to 6% respectively. Finally, another important point the survey found was that the DEI training within the workplace, was perceived to be positive with 53% of workers saying that the training was *very helpful* or *somewhat helpful* (Minkin, 2023).

Kratz (2024) made several key points about how DEI was a considerable factor in companies' initiatives and budgets. Findings included that 85% have a budget that is dedicated to DEI, and 78% of organizations in the US prioritized DEI more than they did in the previous year, while 45% discussed that they would increase their DEI budget in the next financial year. This older research (prior to the 2025 changes) supported the value that organizations placed on DEI practices and policies in relation to organizational success. This value stems from the belief that it is not about hitting diversity hiring quotas but rather breaking barriers so that everyone has the same opportunity to thrive in the workplace (Alfonseca, 2025). To these companies, DEI is about about the emphasis is on long-term change and fairness. With all of this in mind, it is crucial for career educators and human resource personnel to acknowledge how DEI initiatives influence employee experiences and various structures within the organization.

On the other hand, some individuals believe race and ethnicity should not be a part of the conversation, but rather employees should be hired or promoted due to their own merit and skills. As discussed before, U.S. President Donald Trump's actions are based on this belief regarding DEI practices. Entering his presidency, he vowed that he would "end the government policy of trying to socially engineer race and gender into every aspect of public and private life," and he would "forge a society that is colorblind and merit-based" (Murray, 2025, para. 48). People all over the nation

agree with what Trump has to say and believe that DEI focuses too much on race and gender at the expense of individuals' merit (Guynn, 2025). Kratz (2024) talked about what happens when organizations promote people solely based on their diversity, and the risks that might come with that. If you promote these individuals based only on diversity, they may not be the most qualified or experienced for the role, which can then lead to lower productivity, inefficiencies, and decreased employee morale (Kratz, 2024). This can lead to the perception of tokenism, which can undermine the organization's credibility in their commitment to DEI and might devalue the achievements of those who have earned their positions. Promoting individuals not based solely on merit and qualifications might lead individuals to have a sense that they are being treated unfairly, and they might start to show resentment as they have continuously and consistently shown what their capabilities are. This can lessen motivation and employee engagement while contributing to a toxic work environment (Kratz 2024). When employees do not identify with the organization's values and goals one result is increased turnover rates. With all of this in mind, there are risks and implications that come with the DEI practices that organizations have integrated into their workplace and hiring practices. Individuals can struggle to do well in their positions and integrate into the organization if they are not fully prepared for the position and do not fully align with what their mission. Looking at DEI through this lens, DEI initiatives may have their downfalls if they are not supportive of employees' loyalty and hard work in the company.

# **Applications of Career Development Models and Frameworks**

While looking at the two different perspectives on DEI practices, it is important to examine it through a career development perspective, specifically through models and frameworks. There are numerous theories and models that fit well in looking at how DEI operates. The Social Cognitive Career Theory (SCCT) aims to help explain the occupational choices individuals make,

along with their interests and how they achieve goals. Career Development and Counseling: Putting Theory and Research to Work by Robert W. Lent and Steven D. Brown (2020) discussed how SCCT looks at how the three cognitive-person variables help exercise agency in career development. The three are self-efficacy beliefs, outcome expectations, and personal goals. Self-efficacy beliefs refer to an individual's judgment of their own capabilities to be able to organize and execute various courses of action that are needed to perform (Brown & Lent, 2020). Burga et al. (2020) noted that these beliefs are continuously evolving, based on performance domains, and how individuals interact with socio-contextual factors that stimulate identification and motivate them towards their career goals. When organizations implement DEI initiatives, factors that contribute to individuals' development of self-efficacy beliefs are affected. Therefore, individuals may have a better experience at the organization and higher job satisfaction if they have high selfefficacy, i.e., they believe that they have the capability to perform well. Or they may have a higher self-efficacy if the organization they are working for does not have DEI initiatives, and they feel as though that is what they need to succeed. By looking at DEI through SCCT's belief of self-efficacy, everyone can have a different experience or perspective based on their judgment of what they need to achieve higher performance at work.

In addition to looking through the Social Cognitive Career Theory, the Systems Theory Framework (STF), can aid the understanding of the interaction between the employee and the environment. Hite and McDonald in Career Development Links to Career Psychology (2023) talk about how the Systems Theory Framework has several different systems that are interrelated, such as the individual, the social system, and the environmental-societal system over the context of time. The individual system includes influences that are gender, age, health, ability, disability, beliefs, values, sexual orientation, ethnicity, etc. (McMahon & Patton, 2018). The influences that represent the social system could include peers,

workplace, community groups, educational institutions, etc. (McMahon & Patton, 2018). This could also include national culture, the economy, and political environment for both the social system and the environmentalsocietal system (Zubair & Moazzam, 2024). The STF helps recognize how marginalized individuals might face barriers that are out of their control, such as discrimination or biased hiring practices. It shows how it is an interconnected system and how people do not make decisions about their careers solely on themselves but are also shaped by their family, peers, and more. In consideration of STF, organizations should not have their DEI efforts focus solely on the individual but on the entire organizational system, including culture and human resources (HR) practices. It also helps people look at how the STF considers the individual system influences and how they create experiences and challenges that are unique to the individual within the workplace.

Furthermore, social influences show that the stereotypes individuals may perceive to be positive can be damaging, setting unrealistic expectations, and might deny individuals the opportunity to be able to be judged and looked at based solely on their merits (McDonald & Hite, 2023). STF helps explain how it can be challenging for organizations to hire or promote individuals solely on merit and skills, as there may be distortions due to stereotypes or other underlying biases. McDonald & Hite (2023) explained how it can be a human tendency to think that your culture is the best and anything that is not like your own culture might appear unusual or unsuitable to you. From an HRD standpoint, STF may be beneficial to look at when executing hiring practices and how to better the employee experience. Systems Theory Framework helps take a different look at DEI and what it can look like for individuals within an organization.

# Strategies and Next Steps for the Future of DEI

Going forward, DEI will continue to change as the world evolves, and it is important to look at what strategies and applications could be the next steps for DEI. Bernstein et al. (20219) helped acknowledge and further reinforce the idea that organizations will be more inclusive if they look beyond the composition of the workforce, to help concentrate on how well those members who are not the majority are incorporated into the culture and address the system-level inequities that limit career opportunities for the non-majority employees. Along with that, Bate (2022) discussed how career coaches, counselors, recruiters, and HR managers need to help lead with the consciousness of inclusion for the future development of the workforce. These roles are key in influencing hiring practices and access to opportunities that will pave the way for the future workforce. Professionals believe that organizations need to take those steps to reach the goal of being a race-conscious organization to help acknowledge the national racial inequities in the workforce (Buford & Flores, 2024).

As more people adopt the idea of DEI and how important it is in the workforce, the more resistance there will be to the organizations that do not have DEI practices. If there is resistance within the organization, then it may lead to its downfall, as employees may choose to work elsewhere, and people will choose to get their goods and services at other places (Leonard, 2024). The less resistance, the better employee retention and competitiveness of the organization in the economy. Likewise, it was found that HR managers could streamline the process and procedures of applications to avoid barriers (Hamidullah et al., 2024). For example, the government and other nonprofit organizations should not look at people's names while screening applicants to avoid bias while reviewing resumes (Bertrand & Mullainathan, 2004). By acknowledging these steps and recommendations, they will help individuals and organizations prepare for the future of DEI.

As an individual studying human resource development with a minor in business, I will be taking this knowledge and these recommendations with me going forward as I enter the workforce. It is important for my line of work to stay on top of the continuously changing trends and laws about DEI and what that means for the individuals I will be working with. As I deepen my understanding of HR and what that looks like in organizations, I hope to help contribute to the solution of addressing workplace inequalities and creating environments that help all succeed in their professional development.

# Conclusion

Looking at DEI from a career development perspective through Social Cognitive Career Theory and Systems Theory Framework and different perspectives of individuals, it continues to be an important topic as the workforce evolves more each day. Career educators will be beneficial to those entering the workforce as they understand more about the effects of organizational diversity issues and DEI. Many believe that DEI is there to level the playing field and to recognize those barriers that exist that might prevent those who are equally as qualified from reaching the same opportunities. But others believe that DEI takes away the opportunity for individuals to be hired or promoted in the organization, as they need to be solely based on their skills and past experiences. DEI is a part of an ever-changing environment that constantly needs to push forward towards better practices and initiatives within organizations. It is pivotal to keep in mind what DEI means for you and what you need to succeed in your organization, whether that be an organization that continues to pursue DEI initiatives or an organization that has eliminated initiatives entirely. Continuously adapting and preparing for what comes next will help organizations and individuals stay ahead of the competition and evolve.



Rachel Blankenship is finishing her junior year at the University of Minnesota, studying Human Resource Development with a minor in Human Resource Industrial Relations. She co-founded the Human Resource Development Club and is an active member in SHRM, where she explores more of the human resources field. She currently works as an HR associate at a multimedia organization and completed an internship in talent management.

### REFERENCES

Alfonseca, K. (2024, January 24). *A look* at what DEI means amid Trump executive orders. ABC News. https://abcnews.go.com/US/dei-programs/story?id=97004455

Bate, T. (2022). Defining equity and inclusion in the future of career education. In M. Buford & M. Stebleton (Eds.), *Mapping the Future of Undergraduate Career Education* (1st ed., pp. 55–70). https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003213000-7

Bernstein, R. S., Bulger, M., Salipante, P., & Weisinger, J. Y. (2019). From diversity to inclusion to equity: A theory of generative interactions. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 167, 395–410. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-019-04180-1

- Bertrand, M., & Mullainathan, S. (2004). Are Emily and Greg more employable than Lakisha and Jamal? a field experiment on labor market discrimination. *American Economic Review*, 94(4), 991–1013. https://doi.org/10.1257/0002828042002561
- Bradley, D. (2025, January 24). Target ends DEI programs, publishes fact sheet about decision. *PR Week*. https://www.prweek.com/article/1903699/target-ends-dei-programs-publishes-fact-sheet- decision
- Brown, S. D., & Lent, R. W. (2020). *Career development and counseling: Putting theory and research to work*. (3rd ed.). Wiley & Sons.
- Buford, M., & Flores, L. (2024). Centering race in career development: A critical review of career scholarship and practice. *Journal of Career Development* 2024, 52(2), 1–19. https://doi. org/10.1177/08948453241309017
- Burga, R., Leblanc, J., & Rezania, D. (2020). Exploring student perceptions of their readiness for project work: Utilizing social cognitive career theory. *Project Management Journal*, *51*(2), 154–164. https://doi.org/10.1177/8756972819896697
- Ghabbash, H. (2025, April 18). *Costco vs. Target DEI: What happens when DEI becomes optional.* Diversity Resources.

  https://www.diversityresources.com/deibacklash-or-commitment-what-costco-andtarget-reveal/
- Guynn, J. (2025, March 4). DEI explained: What is DEI and why is it so divisive? What you need to know. *USA Today*. https://www.usatoday.com/story/money/2025/03/04/trump-dei-backlash-explained/81170

- Hamidullah, M.F., Piatak, J. S., & Chen, Y. (2024). DEI and human resources management. In M. F. Hamidullah (Ed.), *Handbook on diversity, equity, and inclusion in public administration* (Chapter 8). Edward Elgar Publishing. https://doi.org/10.4337/9781802206173.00020
- Kratz, J. (2024). DEI is a long game: How to budget strategically. *Forbes*. https://www.forbes.com/sites/juliekratz/2024/07/28/dei-is-a-long-game-how-to-budget-strategically/
- Leonard, S. (Featured Guest). (2024, October 22). *Why is DEI important?* [Audio podcast]. Howard University. https://podcasts.apple.com/us/podcast/why-is-dei-important-feat-dr-stephanie-leonard/id 1707588945?i=1000674034676&l=ko
- McDonald, K. S., & Hite, L. M. (2023).

  Career development: A human resource development perspective (2nd ed.).

  Routledge.
- McMahon, M., & Patton, W. (2018, January 21). Systemic thinking in career development theory: Contributions of the systems theory framework. *British Journal of Guidance & Counselling*, 46(2), 229–240. https://doi.org/10.1080/03069885.2018.1428941
- Minkin, R. (2023, May 17). *Diversity, equity and inclusion in the workplace.*Pew Research Center. https://
  www.pewresearch.org/socialtrends/2023/05/17/diversity-equity-andinclusion-in-the-workplace/
- Murray, C. (2025, January 5). These companies have rolled back DEI policies. *Forbes*. Retrieved on January 7, 2025. https://www.forbes.com/sites/conormurray/2025/01/07/these-companies-have-rolled-back-dei-policies-mcdonalds-is-latest-to-abandon-diversity-standards/

- Nassauer, S., & Simon, R. (2025, January 24). Target drops DEI goals and ends program to boost black suppliers. *Wall Street Journal*. https://www.wsj.com/business/retail/target-dei-program-ended-77cb4c75
- Snell, S., & Morris. S. (2023). *Managing human resources* (19th ed.). Cengage.
- The White House. (2025, March 19).

  President Donald J. Trump removes

  DEI from the foreign service. The White

  House. https://www.whitehouse.gov/
  fact-sheets/2025/03/fact-sheet-presidentdonald-j-trump-removes-dei-from-theforeign-service/
- Zubair, S., & Moazzam, A. (2024).

  Exploring career construction: A single narrative case study guided by the systems theory framework of career development (STFCD). South Asian Journal of Business and Management Cases, 13(1), 81–97. https://doi.org/10.1177/22779779241234135

## ORGANIZATIONAL LEADERSHIP DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMS AND EMPLOYEE CAREER DEVELOPMENT

#### Nick Hartman

#### Why Leadership Development Programs are Important for Retention and Talent

In the workplace today, companies face a key question about talent: Are they doing enough to retain and develop their workforce? As the competition for highly skilled employees grows, retaining key employees is growing in importance. Organizations need to actively invest in their talent to ensure success. A leadership development program is "an official commitment to help top-tier employees not only grow their skill sets but also help them find new roles within the company to exercise these skills with a long-term influence" (Wooll, 2025, point #2). Leadership development programs are essential for retaining and engaging talent because they help employees grow and envision a long-term future within an organization. Without these opportunities, a company can risk losing high potential talent to their competitors.

Many employees are looking for more than just a paycheck; they want growth and purpose in their work. Employee engagement also relates to purpose and growth. A company's lack of initiative to invest in its talent can lead to loss of profits and a disengaged workforce. Leadership development programs show employees that their potential is recognized and that the company is willing to invest in their future.

## What is a Leadership Development Program?

Leadership development programs in the corporate setting are structured programs designed to grow the next generation of leaders. They are particularly curated for high performers that show a strong potential and willingness to grow. These programs typically combine formal training, mentorship, projects, and exposure to senior leaders. According to McKinsey, "companies that invest in leadership development are 2.4 times more likely to hit their performance targets" (Brassey et al., 2019, p. 1). For young professionals and workers with less work experience, these programs can offer a fast-track to career growth and real-world learning that is more advanced than their peers. Some of the best leadership programs target individuals with potential rather than a high performing individual. This shows that an early investment in talent is a smart longterm move.

What makes these programs so special is their focus on development through a hands-on approach. Participants will often rotate through different departments or business units over a certain period of time. This gives them a broad understanding of how the company works and how all the different units interact with one another. Many programs also include coaching, regular feedback loops, and networking opportunities that someone may not have in a traditional role.

On the other hand, there are leadership development programs for executives that offer the higher tenure employees more development in the areas of strategic thinking, change management and leading at scale. At this level, the leaders are expected to drive company-wide results and change in the workplace. Executive programs usually involve initiatives like peer-to-peer learning, coaching from external consultants, and real-time problem-solving challenges. While younger professionals tend to benefit from

structure and exposure, executives need space to reflect, reset, and expand their leadership mindset. "Common executive leadership challenges include change management, retaining, recruiting, and developing talent, addressing conflict, and fostering a harmonious work environment" (Parsons, 2025, "Executive Leadership Challenges" section). These challenges are very high level and need high level strategic thinking to be addressed. In both aspects of leadership development programs, it is not just a goal that companies want to have, but a necessary program to ensure a company can develop top talent and provide long-term growth.

## **Key Characteristics of a Strong Leadership Development Program**

When looking at a good development program there are many key characteristics that stand out. The Harvard Business Review mentions that a strong leadership development program is not just about building specific skills, but it is about developing the whole person (Yemiscigil et al., 2023). This is a helpful framework to understand when creating a program because certain skills are important to have but rounding out an individual will ultimately help them grow and succeed at a company faster than ever. Mentorships and coaching are key areas that make a program successful. Early career professionals may be able to develop relationships with executives or other high-level employees that can foster growth and personal development. The most common mentorship model that is used in these programs is one-on-one mentoring. This allows for an employee to directly connect with an experienced co-worker in a more meaningful way. It creates a space where feedback can be personalized, and an employee can openly discuss the different challenges they are experiencing. Along with mentorship, successful programs include rotational assignments and cross functional experiences. These make sure that the participants have exposure to all of the different areas in the business which will help build a much broader skill set. Having a structured evaluation along this journey is

also important for developing a leadership development program (LDP). It allows for the participant to ensure they know what they can improve on. All of these different aspects help create a well rounded experience, but ultimately a good LDP invests in the participants not for the roles they are in currently but the leaders they can become.

A good example of a successful LDP comes from Milwaukee Tool (2025). The Milwaukee Tool Engineering Development Program (EDP) is a well-structured rotational program designed to turn new engineering graduates into future leaders within their company. Over two years, the participants rotate through different areas like product design, testing and manufacturing which gives them exposure and hands-on experience (Milwaukee Tool, 2025). What makes this program stand out is how it combines technical training with real project work, mentorship and continuous feedback. This is a strong example of an LDP because it invests in the employees early on and shows a structured career path for the workers' future.

## CAREER THEORIES THAT SUPPORT LDPS

#### **Systems Theory Framework**

It is useful to explore the intersection of LDPs and career development theory because LDPs can play a critical role in a person's career development. The Systems Theory Framework points out that career paths are not linear but that they are shaped by ongoing interactions between personal attributes, social relationships, and broader environmental factors (McMahon & Patton, 2018). Leadership development programs contain a systematic approach such as encouraging reflection, adaptability, and continuous learning. By developing self-awareness and a strong leadership identity from participating in a LDP, individuals can align their personal values with organizational goals. This is very important as it supports long-term satisfaction engagement. These programs also emphasize learning through experience, feedback, and mentorship. A participant is continually growing as they journey through

the program. Each participant can have a different experience than their peers and it is very much nonlinear. Leadership development programs do not just support individual career advancement; they also strengthen a person's ability to navigate and influence the complex systems of the business which can be essential for career growth. For example, this can happen through an organization's culture. Work culture influences expectations around behavior, collaboration, and values, which can make navigating a new environment challenging. This is where a LDP can be especially valuable. By rotating through different experiences each year, participants build the skills to adapt and succeed across various organizational settings.

#### **Career Construction Theory**

Career Construction Theory emphasizes that individuals actively construct their careers through personal narratives, adapting to changing roles, environments, and expectations (Savickas, 2020). Story construction helps employees connect their experiences to a larger narrative, giving them purpose and clarity. It enhances goal setting and ownership of their development. This is especially relevant in a leadership development program as participants are often navigating new professional identities and broader responsibilities. With many different rotations comes new experiences and relationships which can directly shape a participant's interests and narrative. This can happen through reflection and the different experiences they may have throughout the program. Participants begin to discover who they are and where they want to go. A corporation that has a strong LDP wants to ensure that their participants can understand their own interests, so as to develop a strong competency in an area where they can excel and find personal growth. To maximize the benefits of Career Construction Theory in LDPs, organizations should prioritize opportunities for regular reflection and narrative building. Incorporating structured reflection sessions can help participants connect their diverse experiences to a coherent career story. Providing tools like

career assessments and coaching should also occur throughout this process.

#### **Moving Forward**

Looking ahead, leadership development programs offer a meaningful way to address two of the most pressing issues in today's workplace, employee disengagement and employee development. LDPs can offer organizations a clear path to invest in their own workers while responding to shifting employee expectations and workplace dynamics. It helps them grow into roles that align with both their personal aspirations and the organization's long-term strategy. When designed well, these programs can create a sense of purpose, connection, and direction.

Sometimes LDPs are not the answer. Not every employee is interested in pursuing a strong leadership path. Career development is not one-size-fits-all, and organizations should recognize that different people are motivated by different kinds of growth. What is the most important aspect is offering diverse pathways and ensuring that employees feel seen and supported regardless of whether they are on a leadership track. For those with the interest and potential, LDPs can be a powerful tool.

Leadership development programs are not just about creating future executives. They are about creating stronger, more engaged teams and building a workplace culture that supports success.



Nick Hartman is currently pursuing a master's degree in human resources and industrial relations at the University of Minnesota — Carlson School of Management. He is passionate about the HR field and is especially interested in how people strategy, workplace culture, and employee development shape organizational success.

#### **REFERENCES:**

- Brassey, J., Christensen, L., & Dam, N. van. (2019, February 13). *The essential components of a successful L&D Strategy*. McKinsey & Company. https://www.mckinsey.com/capabilities/people-and-organizational-performance/o ur-insights/the-essential-components-of-a-successful-land-d-strategy
- McMahon, M., & Patton, W. (2018). Systemic thinking in career development theory: Contributions of the systems theory framework. *British Journal of Guidance & Counselling*, 46(2), 229–240. https://doi.org/10.1080/03069885.2018.1428941
- Milwaukee Tool. (2025). Early careers:
  Engineering development program.
  Milwaukee. https://www.milwaukeetool.
  jobs/GradsAndInterns/EngineeringDevelopment-Program
- Parsons, L. (2025, February 19). What future executives should be thinking about.

  Harvard Division of Continuing Education. https://professional.dce.harvard.edu/blog/what-future-executives-should-be-thinking-about/
- Savickas, M. L. (2020). In S. D. Brown & R. W. Lent (Eds.), *Career development and counseling: Putting theory and research to work* (3rd ed.). John Wiley & Sons.
- Wooll, M. (2025, January 21). What is a leadership development program and why do you need one? BetterUp. https://www.betterup.com/blog/what-is-a-leadership-development-program-and-why-do-you-need-one
- Yemiscigil, A., Born, D., & Ling, H. (2023, February 28). What makes leadership development programs succeed? *Harvard Business Review*. https://hbr.org/2023/02/what-makes-leadership-development-programs-succeed

## AI: A POSSIBLE CAREER DEVELOPMENT TOOL AND NOT OUR REPLACEMENT

#### Nathan Price

## Workforce Shifts and the Urgency to Evolve

The workforce is going through significant transformations, including the rapid integration of artificial intelligence (AI) and automation, an urgent demand for new digital and adaptive skills, the need for continuous upskilling, and a widening disconnect between education and industry needs (McKinsey & Company, 2025). According to Korn Ferry (2018), the world could face a global talent shortage of more than 85 million skilled workers by 2030, so ignoring the current needs for advancement will be detrimental to the functions of Human Resources (HR) and academia. Many HR functions have embraced advancements in the employee experience with AI such as training, recruitment, and talent development (Khang et al., 2024), which is starting to put leaders in the role of translators between human values and AI systems (Tenakwah, 2025). Conversely, many higher education institutions have resisted integrating AI into their systems, clinging to traditional systems that are not adequately aligned with the evolving nature of work (Chklovski, 2025; Oswald et al., 2019). The current dynamic of the world calls for a systemic overhaul and revision of not only education requirements but also career readiness frameworks that better integrate K-12 education, vocational training, and higher education.

#### The High School Opportunity Gap

According to Super's Life-Span, Life Space Theory (1990), adolescence, particularly during the high school years, is a formative period for career identity development (Super, 1990). However, the current high school system often falls short of providing equitable, personalized support. With an average caseload of 375 students per

guidance counselor (IES, 2024), many schools prioritize compliance-driven (e.g., GPA, FAFSA, SAT) services and interventions rather than the transformative guidance that is critically needed for our students (Stanciak, 1995). School systems such as Minneapolis Public Schools have begun investing in Career and College Readiness Centers to bridge this gap (Achieve Twin Cities, n.d.). However, the current reality is that many districts lack the resources to replicate such a success system wide.

These challenges disproportionately impact low-income families and students of color. Studies show these students are more likely to encounter biased perceptions and be steered away from rigorous career pathways by educators (Linnehan et al., 2011; Shillingford et al., 2018). Additionally, Parkhouse et al. (2021) argued that we should have culturally responsive guidance and education for our students to affirm their lived experiences. Even with new training initiatives, the lack of personalized and individualized support has created a motivation gap, particularly among underserved students, who may not see the immediate value of participating in career planning while managing daily survival (Griffiths & Campbell, 2025; Quispe-Victoria et al., 2024). To break through these ongoing barriers, we will have to redesign and implement targeted, inclusive strategies that address and solve the systemic inequalities while also preparing a capable workforce to meet workforce demands.

There has been a shift, not entirely to our career development structures, but to the access to Generative AI and how individuals use it for career development and decision making. As career development specialists (CDS) within education systems, we must evaluate whether AI can assist with our career development interventions and increase the

need for personalized access. We cannot ignore the elephant in the room, but must be willing to address and explore potential ways to advance our practices.

## Defining AI and Its Role in Student Futures

The rising exploration and utilization of Generative AI induces fear due to the notion of replacing work, a tool for people to work smarter and faster, or a detriment to our current world. As a career coach, I see students and adults who are comfortable with AI, using it to drive their career development and guide their decisions faster than the traditional way of exploring through programs, mentorships, and other initiatives.

Wilson et al. (2024) and Schatt (2023) cautioned against adopting AI without understanding the necessary human context, conditioning of AI, and quality of input. Schatt (2023) emphasized the irreplaceable value of human sensitivity toward emotions and the narrative dimensions of a student's journey. Wilson et al. (2024) and Borenstein et al. (2023) similarly reported concerns about reinforcing bias and undermining trust if not strategically guided through ethical humancentered frameworks. Another downside of using AI is the potential for critical thinking skills to become underutilized. Individuals may use an AI platform for assistance before thinking through the scenario, avoiding going through the process to disseminate what information is pertinent versus overgeneralized. The goal is to debunk the thought that AI is trying to replace or eliminate the necessity of community and practitioners.

There are advantages in the ways AI could be customized to the individual; it has a collective knowledge that it can pull from, and is accessible to everyone to use. Also, using AI can give young people time to cover other materials that may be needed for their exploration (Wilson, 2024). When used thoughtfully, AI can play a transformative role in career development by offering scalable, personalized guidance, helping students match their skills and interests to evolving labor market trends, and democratizing access to career exploration tools (Wilson

et al., 2024; Chklovski, 2025). Research shows that AI-assisted systems can support early exposure to career pathways, simulate real-world scenarios, and offer reflective prompts that encourage deeper meaning-making, all essential components in narrative career construction (Schatt, 2023). Although there are counterproductive behaviors and arguments towards applying AI, there is a way to train individuals how to use it as a tool to drive their career development.

#### **Exploring AI and Career Development**

Since our students are starting to use AI as a navigational tool, CDS can step up with intentional structures that train, guide, and support their career development. To effectively meet the needs of students in an increasingly AI-driven workforce, high school career development centers (when available) must adopt a tiered intervention model that personalizes the career exploration process while remaining aligned with staff capacity (Achieve Twin Cities, n.d.). Before integrating AI, several preparatory steps should be taken, including strategic planning, capacity building, and institutional alignment. Cobo and Garrido (2023) argued that effective implementation of AI in schools depends on four key readiness factors: capacity building among educators, accessible digital infrastructure, ethical culture, and shared ownership between leadership and frontline practitioners.

#### **System-Wide Introduction/Intervention**

CDS teams and school administrators should co-develop a strategic plan that introduces students and staff to AI platforms. A school-wide launch is helpful to create a sustainable structure of training all in the tool. Since many career development centers have automated workshops (Duarte et al., 2022) to give to students, this could be a way to collaborate with the teachers to discuss expectations and introduce a way to properly use AI. Your school could schedule a workshop during orientation or back-to-school rallies titled "What is AI and how AI can support, not replace, your decision making." This should include teaching

#### **CAREER EXPLORATION ACTIVITY**

In this activity, students begin by completing a career interest assessment using O\*NET, reflecting on their results, and using AI tools (e.g., ChatGPT or other school-approved platforms) to analyze and synthesize their findings. They will then begin forming connections between their career curiosities and real-life professionals, culminating in a written "Day in the Life" narrative for one career of interest. This activity builds technical and analytical skills and encourages students to explore their identity, values, and future aspirations through narrative writing and dialogue with trusted adults or mentors.

- 1. O\*NET Career Interest Inventory
  - a. Students visit O\*NET and complete the Interest Profiler.
  - b. Upon completion, students download or screenshot their results as a PDF.
  - c. Students upload the file into their digital folder or Google Drive.
- 2. Personal Reflection
  - a. Students write a 1-2 paragraph reflection answering:
    - i. What career areas resonated with me the most?
    - ii. Which roles am I not interested in, and why?
    - iii. What surprised me?
    - iv. What questions do I have about these careers?
- 3. AI Prompt Creation and Analysis
  - a. Remind the students of AI's role and reiterate the ethics and limitations of AI.
  - b. Students attach a PDF of their interest inventory summary and personal reflection into ChatGPT (or another AI platform).
    - i. Prompt to use:
      - "Based on my interest inventory and reflections, what are three careers that align with my skills and values? Please explain why each career might be a good fit."
  - c. Students read, reflect on, and save the AI-generated response.
  - d. Have the student revise their prompt to include more context (e.g., life goals, family dynamics, and academic preferences) and have them re-run their prompt.
- 4. Use the "Day in the Life" Narrative
  - a. Students choose one of the three AI-recommended careers.
  - b. They use AI to help write a "Day in the Life" story of someone in that profession.
  - c. Prompt to use:
    - "Write a realistic 'day in the life' story of a [career title] who enjoys [student's interests]. Include what tasks they do, who they work with, and what makes their job fulfilling."
- 5. For the next assignment, have the students find 1 individual who is currently in the field and conduct an informational interview with a person in their desired field to gain insight into their lives.
- 6. Finally, have the student write a report on the field of choice and compare the AI notes with the interview notes. Have them report on the comparison of what AI got right. What surprised them from the interview? How can you use this as a tool to further your understanding of the field?

students how to write meaningful prompts and how to reflect on the information provided while also teaching about bias awareness, critical prompting, and ethical exploration. Additionally, it is essential to create a resource guide that pairs with the presentation, along with related activities, such as narrative approach essays to explore potential career fields and personal statements that will support secondary students as they prepare for the college admissions process.

#### **Reimagining Career Development Through AI Integration**

AI-assisted career development should be further reinforced through integrated classroom activities. CDS can collaborate with educators to embed a series of reflective and exploratory exercises into English, social studies, or advisory curricula. The goal is to have a guide that can be uploaded to the AI platform to analyze the students' writing and stories. Have the students write prompts for other areas, such as scholarship essays, personal statements, and other narrative approaches.

Writing prompts should include information about demographics, family influences, strengths, values, and life goals. AI outputs align with their identities and goals when students provide an in-depth input context. Through this customization, students are turning the simple AI tool into a platform for self-discovery, not just information retrieval. In exercises, such as the Career Exploration Activity provided in this chapter, students are encouraged to use AI to simulate answers, compare outputs with real-life conversations, and refine their perspectives. Students should be explicitly taught how to provide meaningful input into AI systems by grounding their queries in personal context.

#### 1:1 Interventions

In one-on-one sessions guided by high school CDS, AI can function as a reflective bridge between meetings, offering students a tool to evaluate their stories and pull out themes to bring to the CDS. For example, you can have a student conduct a narrative construction exercise; students can be prompted to ask AI how certain interests might manifest in future roles. CDS can review these AIassisted reflections with students and ask what contextual elements may be missing from their story or output to identify areas for deeper exploration or redirection. This ongoing process empowers students to move beyond static inventories and engage in iterative meaning-making, which is an essential component of adaptive career development (Hirschi, 2015). CDS teams must monitor how students are using AI, ensure culturally sustaining practices are honored, and address misconceptions early. By positioning AI as a reflective partner rather than a replacement for human insight, CDS creates a model that expands access, deepens understanding, and honors the complexity of each student's journey (Wilson et al., 2024; Schatt, 2023).

#### Conclusion

CDS are preparing students to thrive in a future shaped by digital transformation and rapid innovation. Equipping both students and CDS professionals with the tools and training needed to engage AI responsibly will expand access to meaningful exploration and identity-aligned planning. With systemwide workshops, in-class writing prompts, and one-on-one coaching layered with thoughtfully guided AI tools, we can support every student, especially those historically underserved. AI is not the answer to all gaps in career development, but when guided by human values, it becomes a bridge: one that creates space for deeper reflection, stronger relationships, and a more equitable path to purpose.



Nathan Price is a PhD student in the Higher Education track of the OLPD program at the University of Minnesota. I/O Psychology practitioner and founder of The Academic I/O, a platform dedicated to advancing academic leadership and workforce development through evidence-based organizational strategies.

#### **REFERENCES**

- Achieve Twin Cities. (n.d.). *Career and college readiness centers*. Achieve Twin Cities. Retrieved April 26, 2025, from https://www.achievetwincities.org/career-and-college-readiness-centers
- Borenstein, J., & Arkin, R. (2023). The role of ethics in co-designing AI for youth. In M. J. O'Dowd (Ed.), *AI in Education: A Practical Guide* (pp. 101–118). Springer.
- Chklovski, T. (2025, April). *The human edge in the AI era*. eCampus News. https://www.ecampusnews.com/ai-in-education/2025/04/23/the-human-edge-in-the-ai-era/
- Cobo, C., & Garrido, M. (2023). AI literacy in schools: Building capacity for inclusion and ethical practice. In M. J. O'Dowd (Ed.), *AI in Education: A Practical Guide* (pp. 61–83). Springer.

- Duarte, M. E., Oliveira, S., & Paixão, M. P. (2022). The role of technology in supporting career adaptability and planning: A review of evidence. In *Supporting Students' Career Decision-Making with Technology* (pp. 35–56). IGI Global.
- Griffiths, K., & Campbell, M. A. (2025).

  Empowering the undergraduate journey:
  A decade of research on the impact of
  life coaching with university students.
  International Journal of Evidence-Based
  Coaching and Mentoring. https://doi.
  org/10.24384/srg2-8j19
- Hirschi, A., Herrmann, A., & Keller, A. C. (2015). Career adaptivity, adaptability, and adapting: A conceptual and empirical investigation. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 87, 1–10. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jvb.2014.11.008
- Khang, A., Rani, S., & Gujrati, R. (2024).

  Designing workforce management systems for industry 4.0: data-centric and AI-enabled approaches (First Edition). Taylor & Francis.
- Korn Ferry. (2018). The \$8.5 trillion talent shortage: How the global talent crunch could threaten your business future. https://www.kornferry.com/insights/thisweek-in-leadership/talent-crunch-future-of-work
- Oswald, F. L., Behrend, T. S., & Thompson, L. F. (Eds.). (2019). Workforce readiness and the future of work. Routledge.
- Schatt, S. (2023). *Still room for humans:* career planning in an AI world. Business Expert Press.
- Tenakwah, E. S., & Watson, C. (2025). Embracing the AI/automation age: preparing your workforce for humans and machines working together. *Strategy & Leadership*, *53*(1), 32–48. https://doi.org/10.1108/SL-05-2024-0040

Wilson, M., Robertson, P., Cruickshank, P., & Gkatzia, D. (2024). Opportunities and risks in the use of AI in career development practice. *Journal of the National Institute for Career Education and Counselling*, 48(1), 48–57. https://doi.org/10.20856/jnicec.4807

### DONE WITH THE HUSTLE: TIME TO RETHINK 996

#### Guoying Li

In recent years, the 996 working system – working 9 a.m. to 9 p.m., six days a week – in China's internet workplace culture has become particularly prevalent. Initially, this model was regarded as a way to boost corporate competitiveness. However, it has gradually evolved into a passively accepted workplace norm. Phrases like "996 is a blessing" have even emerged, equating long working hours with personal success and further fueling the rise of a culture of Juan.

The word *Juan* originates from internet slang, referring to the phenomenon where individuals or groups overly strive to compete in an environment with limited resources, ultimately leading to a decline in overall efficiency. Unlike healthy competition, involution is usually manifested as ineffective overtime, redundant tasks, and wasted resources, lead individuals and organizations into a cycle of low efficiency.

Currently, the phenomenon of 996 or even 007 (i.e., working all day) is becoming very common. To stand out in the workplace, many employees have to use their rest time to work. At the same time, work intensity is constantly increasing with heavier workloads, a faster pace, and companies expecting employees to complete more tasks in a shorter time. As a result, there is often more focus on quantity rather than quality. Career competition is also getting tougher. Both frontline employees and senior managers are under a lot of pressure. For senior managers, the pressure is even greater because promotion opportunities are limited, and resources are scarce. They need to not only perform well, but also maintain their influence and position in the company. This can easily lead to tension and conflict among colleagues.

In the context of globalization, is the Juan culture in the Chinese workplace a driving force for economic development or a reflection of imbalanced management models in enterprises? This chapter explores the causes and influences of Juan culture and how individuals may find a way out of this kind of work environment. From the perspective of international career development, it is helpful to compare the management methods of different countries, which provides a reference for the workplace environment in China.

#### The Origins of Involution: A Complex Socioeconomic Phenomenon

The formation of Juan culture is a complex social phenomenon influenced by several factors such as the economy, enterprise management mode, and social culture. These forces influence employees' attitudes toward work and normalize long working hours.

From an economic perspective, China is transitioning from a traditional labor-intensive economy to a high-tech and refined economy. In this process, companies need employees to invest more time and energy to enhance their technological and innovative capabilities (Qiuye, 2019). Rapid development and fierce market competition have accelerated the rise of Juan culture. Especially in the internet industry, in which enterprises need to rapidly expand and iterate products to seize a limited market share. In this context, companies often improve efficiency and competitiveness by extending employees' working hours (Yong, 2022).

At the organizational level, the Chinese business management mode generally uses performance appraisal to measure the work performance of employees. This management model forces employees to work overtime to achieve higher performance goals. Meanwhile, achieving these goals will bring employees higher salaries and better

promotion opportunities. Additionally, most of these companies have developed from the ground up over the past two decades. They expect staff members to have the same level of dedication as the organization's founders and early management. This thinking has become normal in the culture of the company.

Social and cultural expectations also influence employee behavior. Chinese society emphasizes collectivism, and individuals often closely link their values with the achievements of the collective. Under this cultural background, employees are more likely to accept the overtime culture. Also, families have high expectations of individuals, especially in families with poor economic conditions. Children often need to work hard to improve their family's economic situation. This family pressure prompts employees to accept the Juan culture.

## The Impact of Juan Culture on Individuals, Organizations, and Society

This section examines Juan culture on people, organizations, and society, reflecting both the benefits and the costs influenced by long working hours and high-intensity work at different levels.

#### Individual Level

Due to long working hours and intensive effort, individuals may accumulate more work experience, improve their professional skills, and thus obtain promotion opportunities and faster career growth, accelerating career development (London, 1983). Also, overtime is often accompanied by overtime pay or other forms of rewards, particularly in the internet sector, where high-intensity work can bring substantial financial returns.

The adverse impact of long hours of highintensity work can easily lead to mental health problems, such as physical and mental exhaustion, anxiety, and depression (Sun, 2025). In terms of physical health, there may also be a decrease in immunity, an increased risk of chronic diseases such as hypertension, and even death from overwork (Jinguan, 2021). At the same time, long work hours compress personal life and family time, making it difficult to balance intimate relationships and personal interests, leading to difficult family relationships, decreased social activities, and decreased life satisfaction (Whiting, 2023).

#### Organizational Level

In addition to the individual level, organizations also hope to maximize their benefits through the 996 work schedule. By extending working hours, employees can complete more tasks in a short period, helping companies achieve higher performance and profitability. Companies also save recruitment and training costs by reducing the cost of hiring new employees. The 996 work schedule accelerates project progress, launches products quickly, and meets market demands in the short term, which can enhance corporate competitiveness.

Excessive work pressure and overtime culture can also lead to an increase in the employee turnover rate. The average employee turnover for more than 31 Chinese online enterprises is less than three years (Jiemian, 2018). The organization's long-term stability is impacted by frequent talent turnover, which also raises training and recruitment expenses. This high-intensity work and repetitive tasks can lead to employee burnout and a lack of creativity, negatively impacting the company's innovation and long-term development.

#### Societal Level

The 996 culture at both the individual and organizational levels will eventually have an impact on society. From a macro perspective, the culture of Juan plays a role in driving economic growth by pushing individuals to make efficient use of their time and energy. Encouraging continuous innovation can enhance overall productivity improvements and industrial advancement.

At the societal level, the competitive atmosphere influences this work culture, promoting diligence and efficiency. This leads to faster innovation cycles, greater labor output, and improvements in industry standards. It may enhance productivity in the short term. However, the downside of Juan's

expectations is becoming increasingly visible in social health. Rising stress and fatigue leave employees with limited time and energy to invest in their families. For example, the stress may impact marital stability, reducing the willingness to have children (Yu, 2023).

Meanwhile, the Juan culture will exacerbate inequality among societies. High-paying companies, such as the internet industry, usually offer more rewards for employees working overtime. However, employees in non-high-paying companies, such as manufacturing, traditional service industries and agriculture, may face the same time requirements without corresponding rewards. In the long run, this will exacerbate social inequality.

#### Cross-Cultural Comparison of Workplace Practices: Understanding and Learning from Different Countries

To address the influence of Juan culture on both the individual and organizational levels, while reducing social inequality, this chapter compares the working cultures of different countries. Through describing the key characteristics of the working environment in each country, and how these characteristics affect employees' work and organizational behavior, we can learn from the advantages and challenges of these workplace cultures.

#### Japan

Japanese organizational culture emphasizes stability, continuous improvement, and collective decision-making. Lifetime employment is not as common as before, particularly before the 1990s. Many companies provide long-term employment opportunities. Employees expect job security from their employers (Shimizutani & Yokoyama, 2009).

Similar to the concept of stability is Japan's improvement culture, that is, continuous improvement. This culture encourages employees to improve their work processes. Focus more on the efficiency, pursue quality rather than quantity (Smith, 2024). To achieve stability and continuous improvement, Japanese companies often use *Ringi*, which means that through consensus and collective

discussions, decisions are made and conflicts are resolved. Usually, frontline employees give ideas, these ideas will be approved layer by layer. Ringi ensures that every decision within the organization is well thought out and widely supported (Baker, 2025).

## Learning from Japan — Kaizen Culture to Promote Continuous Improvement.

Companies can apply the PDCA model (Plan-Do-Check-Act) to their daily operations (Deming, 1986). This helps employees constantly improve work processes and enhance the productivity of their daily work. This iterative thinking does not regard improvement as a one-off event. This not only enhances organizational productivity but also cultivates organizational adaptability. Furthermore, through lean management, redundant steps and unnecessary processes have been reduced. Employees no longer achieve their goals by extending their working hours. This approach enables employees to focus on high-value tasks and enhance organizational efficiency.

#### **United States**

American workplace culture emphasizes individual personal freedom and independence (Amelia, 2024). Workers are encouraged to be creative, suggest new ideas, and work on their own. Companies care more about individual abilities and performance (Amelia, 2024).

In addition to individualism, American companies usually focus on results and are increasingly adopting flexible working models. The company emphasizes results rather than strictly adhering to processes. Flexible working hours and remote work have become common, especially in the high-tech sector (HaiMa ZhiJia, 2025). Furthermore, many American companies generally adopt a flat management structure, emphasizing teamwork and communication. The direct communication method enables employees and superiors to express their opinions more freely (HaiMa ZhiJia, 2025).

Learning from the US — Flat Management and Flexible Work. The company can achieve flat management by reducing management levels. The simplification of the organizational

structure can shorten the decision-making time and improve communication efficiency. Establishing a more inclusive workplace to increase the employees' sense of ownership, such as an open communication platform. The internet industry's adoption of remote working as a flexible working model enables workers to better manage their time based on the demands of their jobs, increasing productivity and job satisfaction. For instance, a few Chinese online companies have started experimenting with the idea of working four days in the office and one day from home.

#### **Europe**

The workplace culture in Europe attaches great importance to employee benefits and the balance between work and life. In many European countries, employees are offered longer paid vacations and shorter working hours. Many companies support flexible working methods, such as remote work and flexible schedules (Tuncturk, 2023).

Equality and inclusiveness are also key principles within European work environments. The workplace culture in Europe emphasizes equality and inclusiveness. Companies usually advocate open communication and employee participation in the decision-making process. Emphasizing teamwork and collaboration, and communication between employees and superiors creates a more open and transparent environment (Ling, 2022). In addition, diversity and inclusion are fundamental values in European organizations. European companies encourage employees from diverse backgrounds and cultures, welcome different perspectives and experiences, and encourage employees to share diverse views and experiences (Griffith, 2023).

Learning from Europe — Employee
Benefits and Workplace Diversity. Drawing
on the practices of Europe, companies can
offer more reasonable vacation arrangements
by increasing paid annual leave and
introducing greater flexibility in working
hours. Offering remote work and flexible
work schedules helps employees manage
their personal and professional obligations
better, also it can improve organizational

efficiency.

Businesses should support organizational diversity and inclusivity and encourage individuals from diverse backgrounds to participate in decision-making to lessen workplace prejudice based on gender, age, or ethnicity. This helps improve creativity. For example, in China's internet industry, there is a common but unofficial rule not to hire people over 35. Although not publicly stated, many companies follow this principle when recruiting. Learning from Europe's inclusive culture can help provide more equal job opportunities for all employees.

Utilization of the managerial expertise of other nations may enhance the Chinese workplace. Japan's Kaizen culture places a strong emphasis on continuous improvement through the PDCA cycle, allowing staff to concentrate on high-value tasks. Innovation is encouraged by flat management, which is supported by the US model. Diversity and benefits are valued in European workplaces. It is advised to lessen discrimination and give everyone an equitable opportunity for advancement.

# APPLYING CAREER DEVELOPMENT THEORIES TO ESCAPE EXCESSIVE OVERTIME

#### Holland's Career Theory: Finding the Right Role to Avoid Unnecessary Overtime

Holland's Career Theory (Holland, 1997) focuses on the personal interests and career types. In China's 996 work culture, many people forget themselves and their own interests.

STRATEGY: Use the elevator pitch method to assess yourself (Reid, 2018). If you feel hopeless and aimless every day, it is a serious mismatch. The Holland Career Interest Inventory assesses people's interests and abilities in depth and determines the best career path for them. By knowing if you are Realistic, Artistic, or Social, for example, you can avoid roles that do not fit your personality. Additionally, as more companies

begin to adopt flexible working models and offer a wider range of job roles, people have more and more opportunities to find careers that better align with their interests and working styles, which not only increases job satisfaction but also helps reduce unnecessary overtime caused by poor job fit. Adopting this strategy gives people more career possibilities while simultaneously increasing job happiness and reducing needless overtime brought on by a poor job fit.

## **Super's Career Theory: Planning by Stages to Avoid Over-Competition**

Super's Career Development Theory considers career growth as a progressive process, and individuals can change their work goals through the different career stages (Super, 1980). In China's highly competitive working environment, it is very common to face the pressure of long working hours to pursue rapid promotion (Ni, 2023). Many employees tend to overlook the importance of integrating career decisions with longer-term life goals. If there is a lack of clear long-term goals, the career path will deviate.

STRATEGY: A more structured strategy is to divide career goals into short-term (1-2 years), medium-term (3-5 years), and long-term (over 5 years). Focus on developing your key skills and managing key efforts to increase your influence in a short time. Aim for horizontal development or managerial roles in the medium term. Long-term planning on how to maintain a healthy work-life balance and prevent the 996 from becoming the norm. By avoiding excessive investment in inappropriate stages, a sensible career plan can help reduce anxiety and unnecessary competition.

#### Social Cognitive Career Theory (SCCT): Coping with Uncertainty Through Self-Efficacy

SCCT mentions the individual self-efficacy impact on career decision-making (Lent et al., 1994). Due to worries about their careers stagnating, people in China's competitive workplace frequently experience overtime pressure, which lowers their self-efficacy.

STRATEGY: Developing self-efficacy helps people avoid uncertainty, reduce long-term work anxiety. Using time management tools like the Pomodoro Technique and Time Box (Cirillo, 2018) to make work time more efficient. Establishing clear expectations for results, focusing on the process rather than the results. If your workload becomes too much, talk to your manager and adjust priorities to avoid overcommitment.

#### Integrative Life Planning (ILP): Balancing Work and Life for Complete Growth

ILP emphasizes a creative balance between work and life (Hansen, 2011), avoiding excessive bias towards one aspect while neglecting others. For Chinese professionals, work often occupies a large part of their lives, neglecting aspects such as family, health, and social interactions.

STRATEGY: Treat life as a five-part patchwork to reduce stress and, over time, emphasize the diversity of life. Establish a clear digital boundary, such as avoiding sending work emails outside working hours. By using overtime compensation for activities such as fitness training or psychological counseling, an investment in physical and mental health can be achieved. Maintain close relationships by consciously arranging family time and social activities every week. By using commuting time or spare time to learn new knowledge or explore personal interests, skill development can be integrated into daily life. To ensure financial stability, it is suggested to establish a six-month emergency fund.

#### Conclusion

The Chinese workplace 996 and Juan culture issues need to be considered from the organizational, individual, and social levels. Because these problems do not exist independently, they are the reason why companies run, how individuals respond, and how the broader environment shapes our ideas about work. Only by these three levels can we find the root cause and explore the solutions.

At the organizational level, to avoid employee burnout and maximize efficiency.

We can learn management techniques from Japan's PDCA cycle and reduce unnecessary tasks. Meanwhile, Americans' flexible arrangements and flat structures can improve communication and encourage employee autonomy. European models place a strong emphasis on diversity and employee benefits, which enhances business branding and raises employee happiness.

At the individual level, it is necessary to enhance career planning and responsibility. People can use the Super's Development Theory and Holland's Career Interest Theory to find a job that fits their interests and life stages. Also, the SCCT can increase self-efficacy, enhancing time and resource management. Changing major to small cities, or from huge to smaller firms, is also an option for people's work-life balance.

At the societal level, creating a healthier work environment requires stronger regulatory enforcement and a change of cultural attitudes. Government organizations must enforce labor regulations to protect workers' rights. At the same time, the media and educational institutions can help change public opinions. For example, pay attention to the long-term negative effects of excessive work and encourage more sustainable, human-centered values around success and work.

Addressing the issue of Juan culture needs a group effort, policy innovation, and cultural influence. Through working together, we can create a focus on value, a highly performing and productive workplace. Thereby, we can balance work life and create a respectful and caring atmosphere.



Guoying Li - I am a 30-year-old mother with seven years of experience in human resources and business support at leading Chinese internet companies. In pursuit of personal growth and career transformation, I chose to study for a graduate degree in the United States during a critical stage of my career, and welcomed the birth of my child during my studies. Despite the challenges of shifting roles, I managed my time efficiently and completed all my courses with straight A's. This experience has broadened my life perspective and strengthened my adaptability and coordination skills in multitasking environments. I am now eager to apply these experiences to my next professional chapter.

#### REFERENCES

- Amelia, N. (2024). *US work culture in 2025:* 8 characteristics you need to know. Edstellar. https://www.edstellar.com/blog/american-work-culture
- Baker, Z. (2025). 10 Japanese work culture lessons for success in 2025. *Edstellar*. https://www.edstellar.com/blog/japanese-work-culture
- Cirillo, F. (2018). The pomodoro technique: The acclaimed time-management system that has transformed how we work. Crown Currency.
- Deming, W. E. (1986). *Out of the crisis*. MIT Press.
- Griffith, M. (2023). European work culture: Understanding the professional environment. *Europe Settlement*. https://www.europesettlement.com/europeanwork-culture-understanding-the-professional-environment/
- HaiMa ZhiJia. (2025). What are the characteristics of American workplace culture and work habits? *High Mark Career*. https://www.highmarkcareer.cn/qzjl/4861.html
- Hansen, S. S. (2011). Integrative life planning: A holistic approach. *Journal of Employment Counseling, 48*(4), 167–169. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2161-1920.2011. tb01105.x
- Holland, J. L. (1997). Making vocational choices: A theory of vocational personalities and work environments (3rd ed.). Psychological Assessment Resources.
- Jiemian. (2018). Chinese TMT employees' senior PK: Alibaba employees are more loyal than Tencent employees. *Sina*. https://finance.sina.com.cn/chanjing/cyxw/2018-05-16/doc-iharvfht7664403. shtml

- Jinguan. (2021). Is 996 more beneficial than harmful to the country and society? *WangYi*. https://www.163.com/dy/article/GRO58AGG0552R9TQ.html
- Lent, R. W., Brown, S. D., & Hackett, G. (1994). Toward a unifying social cognitive theory of career and academic interest, choice, and performance. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *45*(1), 79–122. https://doi.org/10.1006/jvbe.1994.1027
- Ling. (2022). Workplace culture differences you should know when working in European and American companies. *Huxiu*. https://www.huxiu.com/article/655330.html
- London, M. (1983). Toward a theory of career motivation. *Academy of Management Review*, 8(4), 620–630. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.1983.4284664
- Ni, J. (2023). Where is hope? 2023 happiness index survey report for programmers. *The Paper*. https://www.thepaper.cn/newsDetail\_forward\_25908572
- Qiuye. (2019). Why are more companies adopting the 996-work system? *36Kr*. https://36kr.com/p/1723473526785
- Reid, S. (2018). The art of the elevator pitch: How to present yourself compellingly. Business Expert Press.
- Shimizutani, S., & Yokoyama, I. (2009). *Has Japan's long-term employment practice survived? Developments since the 1990s*. Industrial Relations Research Center.
- Smith, S. (2024). 15 highlights of Japanese work culture. *Civilisable*. https://civilisable.com/japanese-work-culture/
- Sun, Z. (2025). Latest report on China's national mental health: Depression risk is higher with over 10 hours of work per day. *China News Service*. https://www.chinanews.com.cn/jk/2025/04-17/10401217.shtml

- Super, D. E. (1980). A life-span, life-space approach to career development. *Journal of Vocational Behavior, 16*, 282–298. https://doi.org/10.1016/0001-8791(80)90056-1
- Tuncturk, A. (2023). Live to work or work to live? Work culture in the U.S. versus Europe. *Berkeley Economic Review*. https://econreview.studentorg.berkeley. edu/live-to-work-or-work-to-live-work-culture-in-the-u-s-versus-europe/
- Whiting, G. (2023). Work-life balance statistics for 2024: A global perspective. Hubstaff. https://hubstaff.com/blog/work-life-balance-statistics/
- Yong, H. (2022). Why has 996 become the norm? *36Kr*. https://www.36kr. com/p/1815329186802823
- Yu, J. (2023). *Research Brief No. 133*: Enhancing fertility intentions and ensuring stable fertility rates. Guanghua School of Management, Peking University. https://www.gsm.pku.edu.cn/thought\_ leadership/info/1007/2498.htm

## WOMEN IN THE WORKPLACE: CAREER DEVELOPMENT AND THE MOTHERHOOD PENALTY

#### Yuxin Xue

fter the enactment of the 19th Amendment to the U.S. Constitution in 1920, women's employment became legal and universal. Especially during World War II and in the decades that followed, the status of women in the labor market improved significantly (Yellen, 2020). Today, it has become a social norm for women to enter the workplace. However, with the prevalence of female employees, a serious problem is now being overlooked: the motherhood penalty. The motherhood penalty refers to disadvantages experienced by women in the workplace because of their role as a mother (or potential mother), such as discrimination in hiring, reduced wages, lack of recognition of abilities, and more stringent evaluation criteria (Correll et al., 2007). Many academic studies have documented the motherhood penalty, which is not a new phenomenon, but remains a persistent and timely problem. For example, research by Correll et al. (2007) found that job applicants who were mothers were regarded as incompetent and not dedicated enough, resulting in a decrease in promotion and employment opportunities. Budig and England (2001) found that the income of women with children was lower than that of women without children.

The motherhood penalty is highly relevant to women's career development and there is a growing awareness of this issue. Whether companies should make jobs easier for women and how policies can relieve this phenomenon are widely debated. Addressing the motherhood penalty is no longer a matter of individual women's grievances. It is the key to making career development more fair. This article primarily uses career development theory to address the motherhood penalty as much as possible.

#### Importance of the Issue

In the current job market, the motherhood penalty has become a widespread but often overlooked issue. Women with children are often treated unfairly when it comes to job hunting, salary and promotion opportunities.

Data show that women's job opportunities, salaries, and promotion opportunities will all be affected after having children. "Women are 20% less likely to be in work a decade after their first child is born" (Amy, 2025, para. 7). After controlling for marital status and all human capital variables, Budig and England (2001) found that the drop in wages for having one child was 5%, while the total drop for having two children was 11%. The total decrease in having three or more children was 15% (Budig & England, 2001). Data from the Survey of Income Dynamics (PSID) in the United States supported researchers' findings that mothers may reduce their work experience because of caring for children, or take on more flexible jobs that may have limited pay and growth prospects (Jee et al., 2019). This may directly affect their chances of promotion.

All these findings show that motherhood seriously affects the career development of female employees. Even women who have not yet given birth are indirectly affected. For example, female employees may choose not to have a baby to avoid the motherhood penalty, or the company may not hire female employees to avoid offering maternity allowance. Therefore, addressing the motherhood penalty is crucial for promoting fair career development opportunities.

#### Dispute of the Issue

There is a lot of controversy about the motherhood penalty. The differences in

measurement methods, sample selection, and theoretical interpretation among various studies have led to widespread debate over the existence and cause of the motherhood penalty (Cukrowska-Torzewska & Matysiak, 2020). Some people believe that the motherhood penalty is unreasonable workplace discrimination, while others believe that the motherhood penalty is reasonable because the pregnancy of female employees causes economic losses to the company.

Working women who become moms may trade perceived competence for perceived warmth. According to Cuddy (2004), recruiters expressed less interest in hiring, promoting, and educating the working mother compared to the childless woman, which sets female employees at a competitive disadvantage in the workplace simply because they become mothers (Cuddy et al., 2004). Cuddy et al. (2004) concluded that "This trade unjustly costs them professional credibility and hinders their odds of being hired, promoted, and generally supported in the work-place" (p.715). Motherhood penalty is an unfair treatment due to gender bias and stereotypes. This bias not only deprives women of career opportunities but also exacerbates gender inequality in the workplace.

Another view of motherhood that many people believe is that after having children, women spend more hours taking care of children, which leads to a reduction in their working hours. Therefore, the efficiency of the company will decrease. The company is not obligated to bear this loss, so it avoids the problem by hiring fewer female employees because men's labor force participation and work efficiency are not assumed to be affected by having children. Research shows that after the birth of the first child, women's labor force participation rate and working hours show a significant and lasting decline, while men's labor force participation rate and working hours are largely unaffected (Kleven et al., 2019). With this viewpoint, companies have the right to make decisions based on projected productivity, and this is not considered gender discrimination.

## **Use Career Development Theory to Solve the Issue**

This article proposes solutions to the motherhood penalty through the application of Super's Life-Span, Life-Space Theory and Social Cognitive Career Theory.

#### Super's Life-Span, Life-Space Theory

According to Super's Life-Span, Life-Space theory, people's career development is a lifelong process, consisting of five stages: growth, exploration, establishment, maintenance and decline, in which each person will play multiple roles (Hartung, 2013).

From the individual level, the conflict between the role of mother and the role of employee is the key to the motherhood penalty. This is also the expression of the concept of life-space mentioned by Super. "Adult roles often conflict and may affect career salience, choices, and satisfaction" (Hartung, 2013, p. 88). First, female employees need to recognize that this conflict is universal, not a sign of lack of ability or lack of professional determination (Hartung, 2013), and they should maintain confidence in their abilities. At this time, career development consultants can help women reflect on their level of investment and expectations in different roles. Career development consultants can also help them adjust short-term goals and reformulate longterm career plans by rethinking priority roles in their current career development. This can help them reduce the stress of not being able to develop as before. Career development is a non-linear, circular process (Hartung, 2013). Career development consultants can help women recognize that a temporary break is not the end point, but a turning point. Cognitive behavior therapy, for example, may help them reassess their self-concept. When planning their future development, women should be encouraged to re-explore themselves through skills renewal, reeducation and other methods to expand their career development path.

At the corporate level, the company's values and norms directly affect employees. If the company culture does not encourage or support work-family balance, as exemplified

by the lack of flexible work systems or parental leave offered by the company, it may increase the mother's work stress and role conflict, thus aggravating the motherhood penalty. Super emphasized that people have multiple roles, and these roles need to be coordinated and balanced (Hartung, 2013). By aligning workplace policies with the life stages and role requirements of employees, companies can help reduce role conflicts and support continuous career development. For example, companies can provide female employees with flexible working methods, such as remote work. According to Super's theory, career development should be combined with an individual's life stage, and organizations should allow a certain flexible development trajectory, such as non-linear promotion and phased return to work when formulating promotion systems and job requirements (Hartung, 2013).

#### Social Cognitive Career Theory (SCCT)

SCCT emphasizes self-efficacy, outcome expectations and personal goals, as well as the interaction of social cognitive learning and social environment (Lent, 2013). The core of SCCT is that, from the perspective of cognitive psychology, it reveals how individuals are influenced by self-belief, environmental feedback, and psychological expectations when they face complex career choices (Lent, 2013).

At the individual level, female employees may internalize the social stereotype that they should always put their children first. This belief can lead to negative outcome expectations, such as thinking that they will be less successful or less valued in the workplace, which is the negative outcome expectation of SCCT (Lent, 2013). Hence, career development consultants need to guide women in the conversation to identify and reject traditional internalized biases, so that they understand that this thinking is not necessarily from their own experience, but from the discipline of the patriarchy. Career development consultants can also use SCCT's cognitive reframing to help them reconsider their role as mothers, such as changing from thinking that they need to be primary caregivers to children and reduce their work

efficiency to being able to multitask and manage their emotions.

At the company level, companies should also change any implicit bias against female employees who raise children. Rather than making working mothers feel excluded from important responsibilities, organizations should use action to reinforce that they remain reliable and valued team members. Companies can also establish a special feedback system so that all employees can see the performance growth after the return of employees with children, which may break the bias. This may also motivate mothers and make them more confident. SCCT also emphasizes the importance of role models, so companies can hold regular mentoring activities to let outstanding mother employees be role models and publicly recognize them.

## **Implications for Career Development Educators**

The motherhood penalty is not a superficial personal issue, but rather an unfair restriction for mothers hidden behind workplace rules and social concepts. Therefore, as adult educators, we should not only impart knowledge and skills, but also identify and intervene in structural injustice (Egan et al., 2006). Educators should include content such as the distribution of roles in household labor in career development courses to help women uncover hidden structures of inequality. One of the core aspects of adult education is to help learners build critical thinking to advance society. Educators can encourage women to think about who sets the rules and who benefits from the rules, and guide them to turn their personal experience of the motherhood penalty into a cornerstone of social equality. Egan et al. (2006) proposed that career development should not only be seen as a process of individual skill accumulation, but also as a transformative process that is shared between organizations and individuals. Although motherhood is often seen as a limitation in the traditional workplace, adult education can help female learners identify the core competencies through career redefinition strategies, and translate them into career competencies recognized by the labor market.

#### **Next Step in Solving the Issue**

To truly solve the problem of the motherhood penalty, workers, employers and educators need to go beyond the surface of identifying problems and empathizing with them. Companies could start by offering flexible office hours and locations for women with children. Maternity leave should also be promoted for both men and women, so that their work efficiency is basically the same. In this way, companies can change the policy of not hiring women because it makes them less productive. Educators need to help women identify, critique, and challenge hidden inequities in the workplace, rather than adapt to them. The most important thing is for everyone to reduce social stereotypes of women, such as the belief that women will have to sacrifice their careers and mothers should return to the family.

I think I will play the role of researcher and practitioner in solving this problem. I will continue to study issues related to the penalty of motherhood and find more targeted solutions based on women's educational experience and social background. I will also apply the research results, guide learners to grow and reflect on their own lives and society, and promote social equality.



Yuxin Xue - I am a graduate student at the University of Minnesota, majoring in Adult Education. I grew up in China and am now studying in the United States. Therefore, I have experienced two completely different educational approaches and academic concepts. This cross-cultural journey has deepened my understanding of diversity and equity. My research interests include women's development, women's rights and workplace equality. The article submitted offers some strategies for women and related personnel who are facing or worried about the issue of the motherhood penalty in the workplace.

#### REFERENCES

- Amy, B. (2025, March 6). Why having a baby remains a career obstacle for women. *Financial Times*. https://www.ft.com/content/254582f8-6253-4cb3-9bd0-f6ae82ac0125
- Budig, M. J., & England, P. (2001). The wage penalty for motherhood. *American Sociological Review*, 66(2), 204–225. https://doi.org/10.2307/2657415
- Correll, S. J., Benard, S., & Paik, I. (2007). Getting a job: Is there a motherhood penalty? *American Journal of Sociology*, *112*(5), 1297–1338. https://doi. org/10.1086/511799
- Cuddy, A. J. C., Fiske, S. T., & Glick, P. (2004). When professionals become mothers, warmth doesn't cut the ice. *Journal of Social Issues*, 60(4), 701–718. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0022-4537.2004.00381.x
- Cukrowska-Torzewska, E., & Matysiak, A. (2020). The motherhood wage penalty: A meta-analysis. *Social Science Research*, 88–89, 102416–102416. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssresearch.2020.102416
- Egan, T. M., Upton, M. G., & Lynham, S. A. (2006). Career development: Loadbearing wall or window dressing? Exploring definitions, theories, and prospects for HRD-related theory building. *Human Resource Development Review*, 5(4), 442–477. https://doi.org/10.1177/1534484306294155

- Hartung, P. J. (2013). Life-span, life-space career theory and counseling. In S. D. Brown & R. W. Lent (Eds.), *Career development and counseling: Putting theory and research to work* (2nd ed., pp. 83–113). John Wiley & Sons.
- Jee, E., Misra, J., & Murray-Close, M. (2019). Motherhood penalties in the U.S., 1986-2014. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 81(2), 434–449. http://www.jstor.org/stable/45211274
- Kleven, H., Landais, C., & Søgaard, J. E. (2019). Children and gender inequality: Evidence from Denmark. *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics*, 11(4), 181–209. https://www.jstor.org/stable/26794325
- Lent, R. W. (2013). Social cognitive career theory. In S. D. Brown & R. W. Lent (Eds.), *Career development and counseling: Putting theory and research to work* (2nd ed., pp. 115–146). John Wiley & Sons.
- Yellen, J. L. (2020). *The history of women's work and wages and how it has created success for us all*. Brookings Institution. https://www.brookings.edu/articles/the-history-of-womens-work-and-wages-and-how-it-has-created-success-for-us-all/

# APPLYING CAREER DEVELOPMENT MODELS TO SUPPORT SPECIFIC POPULATIONS

# SUPPORTING THE CAREER DEVELOPMENT LGBTQ+ WORKERS

#### Shannon McCrady

## The Long and Winding Road Toward Equality

Nearly 75 years ago, those belonging to the lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer and questioning (LGBTQ+) community began the fight for equal rights as a result of what came to be known as the *Lavender Scare*. The Lavender Scare started because of the Cold War, when being gay was seen as a security risk in the US government, and resulted in the dismissal of thousands of gay and lesbian federal employees. This purge was linked to fears of communism and the belief that gay individuals could be blackmailed.

President Eisenhower's Executive Order 10450, signed in 1953, banned LGBT people from federal jobs. This deeply affected the lives of the LGBT community, far beyond those working in government jobs. The effects were widespread and lasted for decades, delaying the push for equality as a result (Lavender Scare, 2025). Although the federal ban was partially struck down in 1973, when a federal court ruled that sexual orientation cannot be the only justification for dismissing someone from federal employment (Lavender Scare, 2025), it was not fully repealed until nearly 64 years later when President Barack Obama signed his final Executive Order, #13764 on January 17, 2017, (Executive Order 10450, 2025).

Obviously, being a part of the LGBTQ+ community, especially in the workplace, has never been easy, but career professionals can help. In the decades since the Lavendar Scare, we've seen the LGBTQ+ community rise up in various ways:

• demonstrations in the mid-1960's "for the right to federal employment and military service" (Baumann, 2020, para. 1),

- Stonewall Riots of 1969, which lasted for six days and marked a key turning point in this fight (Howard University School of Law., 2023a), and
- marches on Washington D.C. for LGBTQ+ rights, first in 1979, and again in 1987, 1993, 2000, and 2009 (Howard University School of Law., 2023b).

In 2015, in a landmark decision, the Supreme Court ruled in Obergefell v. Hodges that based on the equal protection clause of the 14th amendment, the right to marry is a fundamental right, which established samesex marriage equality in the United States (Obergefell v. Hodges, 2015). This granted the LGBTQ+ community the right to equal access to employment benefits like dependent health insurance, though many larger companies were already offering domestic partner benefits (Dawson & Rae, 2023).

Today, thanks to the Supreme Court ruling in Bostock v. Clayton County (2020), discrimination in employment on the grounds of sexual orientation or gender identity is prohibited under Title VII of the Federal Civil Rights Act (Bostock v. Clayton County, 2020). Treagus (2020), citing a USA Today article from 2019, estimated that about 5.7 million LGBTQ+ Americans lived in US states that did not explicitly provide workplace protections. Thankfully, because of the Bostock v. Clayton County (2020) ruling, it is now illegal nationwide to discriminate against workers because of their LGBTQ+ status (Treagus, 2020). However, in 2025, despite these history-making triumphs, the LGBTO+ community is being targeted again by a conservative federal government that threatens to take away rights and protections, including "giving federal agencies the green light to openly discriminate against their trans employees" (Francois, 2025, para. 4).

## Discrimination in the Workplace Continues

While the recent rulings are promising for the LGBTQ+ community, there is still work to be done. A 2022 survey conducted by the Center for American Progress (CAP), found that employment discrimination and exclusion from the workforce hinder economic stability for LGBTQ+ communities, leading to higher rates of poverty, unemployment, reliance on public benefits, and housing instability (Medina & Mahowald, 2023). The 2022 CAP survey revealed that:

- 50% of LGBTQI+ respondents experienced workplace discrimination or harassment due to their sexual orientation, gender identity, or intersex status.
  - This figure rises to 70% among transgender respondents.
- 37% experienced verbal harassment.
- 25% faced sexual harassment.
- 15% encountered physical harassment.
- 22% were fired or not hired due to their sexual or gender identity.
- 21% were denied promotions, equal wages, or training opportunities because of how they identify.
  - These issues were significantly more prevalent among transgender respondents, LGBTQI+ people of color, and those with disabilities (Medina & Mahowald, 2023).

Clearly, the *Bostock v. Clayton County* (2020) ruling was not enough.

Another study, *Equality Rising*, conducted by the Human Rights Campaign (HRC) Foundation in 2023, three years after *Bostock v. Clayton County* (2020), found that while a majority of LGBTQ+ workers are open about their sexual or gender identity to at least one coworker, they are least likely to be open about it with Human Resources. This indicates a lack of trust in Human Resources Departments. This should be deeply concerning to human resources professionals. The *Equality Rising* study also found that there are double standards in the

workplace when it comes to conversations with coworkers. LGBTQ+ people report hearing about coworkers' kids, relationships, and social lives at work, yet they tend to keep silent about those aspects of their own lives to avoid outing themselves or making people uncomfortable. This puts LGBTQ+ workers in a position of feeling the need to withhold details about their personal lives or even lie when working in unaccepting work environments. The *Equality Rising* study also found:

- Workers who reported feeling depressed at work due to the unwelcoming work environment, including:
  - 42% of LGBTQ+ workers,
  - 42% of LGBTQ+ workers of color; and
  - 54% of transgender and non-binary workers.
- Workers who reported feeling exhausted from hiding their sexual orientation or gender identity at work:
  - · 22% of LGBTQ+ workers and
  - 41% of transgender and non-binary workers.
- Of workers who chose to be discreet about their sexual orientation or gender identity at work:
  - 51% hid their identities due to concerns about privacy.
  - 40% hid their identities out of fears of stigma or violence.
  - 29% hid their identities due to fears of negative impacts on their work image or status.
  - 23% hid their identities due to fears of discrimination and lack of workplace protections (HRC Foundation, 2023).

## What can we do to support LGBTQ+ people in the workplace?

Based on HRC Foundation's *Equality Rising* Study (2023), support starts with an inclusive work environment, which allows everyone to "feel a sense of belonging and fairness" (p. 20), regardless of sexual orientation or gender identity. Company values and corporate social responsibility efforts need to be shared

from the top down and with all employees. Unwelcoming work environments are harmful not only to productivity but also to employee retention. Companies perform better when they create inclusive environments where everyone feels they can be themselves and succeed at work. Employees who feel safe and accepted at work are often better employees because they feel happier, are more engaged and productive, and are less likely to quit (HRC Foundation, 2023).

Mitch Berlin, Vice Chair of Ernst & Young Americas, said, "There are millions of dollars on the line, and as the LGBTQ+ population grows, organizations that prioritize inclusiveness will differentiate themselves among top talent" (Ernst & Young, 2024b, para. 5). A 2024 workplace survey, conducted by Ernst & Young, found that the LGBTQ+ community in the US has nearly 14 million adults and continues to grow at a rapid pace as Gen Zers (who are six times more likely to identify as LGBTQ+ than Gen X) reach adulthood (Ernst & Young, 2024a). The HRC published findings from the Public Religion Research Institute that show 28% of Gen Z adults identify as LGBTQ+ (Pappy, 2024). By 2030, Gen Z will make up 30% of the workforce, so clearly it is paramount that employers improve LGBTQ+ inclusion, visibility, and engagement using tangible strategies, clear communications and operational initiatives (Ernst & Young, 2024a). Taking into consideration that the Equality Rising Study (2023) found that 28% of LGBTQ+ workers and 37% of transgender or non-binary workers have left a job due to the unaccepting work environment, this is significant for companies that want to have a diverse and dedicated workforce. Companies must utilize employee resource groups and adopt corporate social responsibility efforts targeted at creating inclusive and supportive environments where all employees can thrive as their most genuine selves. Employees who feel accepted and safe at work tend to be happier, more productive, invested in their work, and are less likely to quit their jobs (HRC Foundation, 2023).

Therefore, for companies that want to recruit and retain the best and brightest employees, including those who may identify as LGBTQ+, creating a corporate culture that is safe and inclusive is vital. According to a Catalyst webinar, Active allyship: Strengthening LGBTQ+ inclusion in your company, one way for company leaders to accomplish this is by creating allyship in the workplace culture. To do this, they must recognize and tackle discrimination within their institutions (Catalyst, 2024). The Catalyst webinar also suggested that companies should develop comprehensive nondiscrimination policies, create confidential channels for grievances, and utilize employee engagement surveys along with exit interviews to effectually identify and resolve instances of discrimination (Catalyst, 2024).

Next, leaders will need to facilitate educational initiatives including training on subjects like gender identity and sustaining ongoing awareness campaigns to combat the rise of anti-LGBTQ+ discourse. Leaders should also work to transition from superficial gestures to authentic allyship by actively engaging with LGBTQ+ employees to ensure that initiatives are based on real needs. It is imperative to provide extensive mental health resources as well as genderaffirming healthcare to effectively support LGBTQ+ employees (Catalyst, 2024).

For allyship within a company to be successful, leaders must advocate openly and inclusively. They should issue public declarations regarding diversity and inclusion while incorporating inclusive language in their communications. CEOs ought to interact directly with employees to cultivate a culture of authentic allyship. Organizations should empower managers and Employee Resource Groups (ERGs) to serve as capable allies. It is essential to offer managers opportunities to enhance their understanding of inclusion when it comes to teams, as well as time to work collaboratively with ERGs (Catalyst, 2024).

At a time in the US when organizations are abandoning diversity, equity, and inclusion initiatives, and protections of LGBTQ+ people seem precarious at best, career counselors and human resource professionals have an obligation to support employees and job seekers who are marginalized. Lyons et al. (2020) found that access to a social support

network was a significant contextual factor that positively influences both the sexual identity and career advancement of LGB individuals. Therefore, it is imperative that career counselors help LGBTQ+ clients identify local support networks if they don't already have them. This could be through community groups, like local chapters of PFLAG or OutFront, or through online forums and social media groups.

Tang et al. (2020) suggested that those seeking counseling may not understand the "interconnectedness of health, mental health, work, and life concerns," (p. 23). Therefore, counselors must bear in mind that wellness is related to one's work life and personal life, as well as overall health. Research demonstrates that career development and one's mental health are connected, and a combined approach of career and mental health counseling may be optimal (Tang, et al. 2020). According to Niles and Harris-Bowlsbey (2013) and Zunker (2016), as cited in Speciale and Scholl (2019), career counseling is a holistic practice, which means, in addition to work-related concerns, counselors are addressing more personal issues like discrimination based on age, gender identity, sexual orientation, or race.

Zunker (2016), as cited in Speciale and Scholl (2019), found that it is important for career counselors to assess their own biases and beliefs prior to their first meeting with a marginalized client. Career counselors need to recognize that resistance on the part of the client may stem from fears of judgment or from previous bad experiences with other counselors. In fact, it is common for the LGBTQ+ community to experience intolerance, prejudicial attitudes, or harassment from counseling professionals (Galgut, 1999; Henke, Carlson, & McGeorge, 2009; McNair, 2003; as cited in Speciale and Scholl, 2019). According to Tang et al. (2020), research suggests using integrative career counseling approaches to address the needs of diverse clients.

Savickas' *Career Construction Counseling* is one example of a proven counseling strategy that effectively incorporates mental health concepts and terminology into career counseling (Savickas, 2002, as cited in Tang,

et al. 2020). It is not possible to disentangle mental health from career counseling. As Tang et al. point out, "Truly holistic treatment requires an integrative counseling approach that addresses both the intertwined nature and the intersectionality of clients' presenting issues" (2020, p. 28). While career counselors may not see themselves as mental health practitioners, research clearly suggests that career counseling and mental health are closely connected.

# WHAT CAREER DEVELOPMENT THEORIES CAN BE USED TO SUPPORT THIS COMMUNITY?

#### **Social Cognitive Career Theory**

Social Cognitive Career Theory can be especially useful when working with marginalized groups who have experienced discrimination in the workplace and society, to help them understand the process of career development and decision-making (Lyons et al., 2020). This model can help overcome barriers like encountering prejudice and discrimination based on sexual orientation, which can "impede the translation of interests into academic and career goals" (Lyons et al., 2020, p. 385). Even when they have high self-efficacy, when LGB workers anticipate discrimination in a specific realm, they are less likely to develop a serious interest in that area (Lyons et al., 2020). Career counselors can assist these clients by helping them reconsider career options they may have previously disregarded as not an option. By helping them understand why they felt these were not good career options, we can help them analyze their work-related skills, personal values, and potential career interests, thereby expanding their potential career options (Lent, 2020).

#### **Integrative Life Planning**

Another useful approach is the Integrative Life Planning (ILP) model. According to Sunny Hansen creator of ILP, this career development framework allows career counselors and their clients to study different parts of life to determine how they fit together as a whole and relate to each other overall. This approach, which goes beyond the typical job seeking tasks, is specifically appropriate for the LGBTQ+ community because it offers the opportunity to gain a more holistic understanding of the individual. ILP considers clients' identities, experiences, and life goals, to "help them make sense of where they have been, where they are, and where they are going" (Hansen, 2011, p. 168). In fact, the flexibility of ILP surprised even Sunny Hansen when she learned how the approach has been used in different settings and with diverse populations. The six critical life tasks of ILP are also relevant for LGBTQ+ clients:

- 1. Seeking work that needs doing within the evolving global landscape;
- 2. Caring for physical, mental and emotional health;
- 3. Linking family life and work life;
- 4. Appreciating multiculturalism and inclusiveness;
- 5. Examining spirituality and your reason for being; and
- 6. Handling personal and organizational changes.

By completing this list of tasks, career counselors can assist their clients in creating a more methodical life plan, which will help them feel more control over their lives (Hansen, 2011).

#### **Social Learning Theory**

Datti (2009) suggested that Krumboltz's Social Learning Theory is another option for working with LGBTQ+ clients. This theory is defined by four influential factors affecting career decisions, including genetics (gender, race), environmental factors (political climate, location), learning experiences (positive and negative), and problem-solving skills (work habits), which can help clarify the reasoning behind career choices. According to Datti, as cited in Lyons et al. (2020), some of these conditions that are commonplace for non-LGBTQ+ people, may have a greater

impact on LGBTO+ clients. The most obvious example of this is politics, which affects everyone, but may impact the LGBTQ+ community more significantly. Datti (2009) points out that career counselors who work with the LGBTQ+ community must understand and address issues surrounding coming out, being part of a sometimesinvisible minority, as well as other cultural and family values, self-esteem issues, and the potential for confusion when it comes to identity. By creating a safe space and empathizing with clients regarding these concerns, career counselors can help increase confidence, especially with those who may be resistant to the idea of counseling (Datti, 2009).

#### **Hope-Centered Models**

Powers and Duys (2020), as cited in Lu et al., (2024) suggested that career counselors need to be cognizant that trauma may present with other negative symptoms, such as a negative self-concept, so it is important to integrate coping skills into career counseling sessions. This gives clients the strategies they need to effectively navigate the challenges that will inevitably arise at work and in life. Prescod & Zeligman (2018) and Topiztes et al., (2019), as cited in Lu et al. (2024) suggested that using "an approach based on hope and resilience, along with positive regard and positive reinforcement can be effective in building posttraumatic growth" (p. 11).

Although the hope-centered model of career development (HCMCD), developed by Niles, Amundson, and Yoon, was not originally intended for LGBTQ+ workers, it is a valid approach for working with this community (Clarke et al., 2018). This model "encourages individuals to reflect on their circumstances; envision their future; and develop, implement, and adapt their plans as they build their desired life" (Clarke et al., 2018, p. 156). One significant aspect of this model, especially when working with clients who may have experienced trauma, is hope. Niles (2011) described hopefulness as "envisioning a meaningful goal and believing that positive outcomes are likely to occur should specific actions be taken" (p. 174), which allows LGBTQ+ clients to

see the possibilities in various options and encourages them to take action toward their goals. HCMCD also takes into consideration environmental factors (Clarke et al., 2016), which are certainly relevant for the LGBTQ+ community, especially given the increasingly hostile environment in the US today. Using the HCMCD model, we can help clients develop "the necessary self-awareness, work awareness, and adaptability required for career self-management" (Niles et al., 2014, as cited in Clarke et al., 2018, p. 156). In other words, this model provides the opportunity to help LGBTQ+ individuals understand their own feelings and motivations, the world of work and what opportunities are available to them, as well as how they can be flexible and open in their approach to work.

#### Conclusion

Career counselors can use these theories to support the unique needs of their LGBTQ+ clients, whether that is in a higher education setting or working with adults in career transitions. The most important thing to keep in mind is the history of oppression and discrimination, as well as the trauma these clients may have experienced, especially if they fit into multiple categories of marginalization. These theories can be utilized in counseling sessions to help clients overcome barriers, offer them hope and perspective, as well as insights into their perceptions of the workplace. The data clearly highlights the importance of taking the time to get to know these clients and ask questions about their experiences, so career counselors can be sensitive to the societal, familial, and cultural contexts that may influence their clients' decision-making.

#### **AUTHOR'S NOTE:**

While there are many acronyms for the LGBTQ+ community, for the purposes of this paper "LGBTQ+" is used except when the cited source uses "LGBT", "LGBTQI+", or "LGB."



Shannon McCrady is graduate student at the University of Minnesota. She is pursuing a Master of Education in Human Resource Development. She also works at the University of Minnesota and lives in Minneapolis with her family.

#### REFERENCES

Baumann, J. (2020, June 18). *The long history of LGBTQ employment rights activism*. The New York Public Library. https://www.nypl.org/blog/2020/06/18/supreme-court-ruling-lgbtq-employment-rights

Bostock v. Clayton County, 590 U.S. 644. (2020, June 15). https://www.oyez.org/cases/2019/17-1618

Catalyst. (2024, June 26). *How to build genuine LGBTQ+ allyship in your company*. Catalyst.org. https://www.catalyst.org/insights/2024/discriminationeducation-allyship-speak-up-erg

Clarke, A., Amundson, N., Niles, S., & Yoon, H. J. (2018). Action-oriented hope: An agent of change for internationally educated professionals. *Journal of Employment Counseling*, *55*(4), 155–165. https://doi.org/10.1002/joec.12095

Datti, P. A. (2009). Applying social learning theory of career decision making to gay, lesbian, bisexual, transgender, and questioning young adults. *The Career Development Quarterly*, *58*(1), 54–64. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2161-0045.2009. tb00173.x

- Dawson, L., & Rae, M. (2023, October 26). Has marriage equality for LGBTQ people impacted access to domestic partner health benefits? KFF.org. https://www. kff.org/private-insurance/issue-brief/ has-marriage-equality-for-lgbtq-peopleimpacted-access-to-domestic-partner-health-benefits/
- Ernst & Young, LLP. (2024a). 2024 EY US

  LGBTQ+ workplace barometer. https://
  www.ey.com/content/dam/ey-unified-site/
  ey-com/en-us/campaigns/diversity-equityinclusiveness/documents/ey\_lgbtq\_survey.
  pdf
- Ernst & Young, LLP. (2024b). *Employers* barely get a passing grade on workplace inclusiveness from LGBTQ+ Gen Z, New EY Research Finds. Ey.com. https://www.ey.com/en\_us/newsroom/2024/03/ey-us-lgbtq-workplace-barometer
- Executive Order 10450. (2019, December 15). In *Wikipedia*. https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Executive Order 10450
- Francois, L. (2025, April 21). *The human toll of Trump's anti-trans crusade*. ACLU of New Mexico. https://www.aclu-nm.org/en/news/human-toll-trumps-anti-transcrusade
- Hansen, S. S. (2011). Integrative life planning: A holistic approach. *Journal of Employment Counseling*, 48(4), 167–169. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2161-1920.2011. tb01105.x
- Howard University School of Law. (2023a, January 6). *A brief history of civil rights in the United States: The stonewall riots.* https://library.law.howard.edu/civilrightshistory/lgbtq/stonewall
- Howard University School of Law. (2023b, January 6). A brief history of civil rights in the United States: National march on Washington for lesbian and gay. https://library.law.howard.edu/civilrightshistory/lgbtq/march

- HRC Foundation. (2023). *Equality rising: LGBTQ+ workers and the road ahead.*Human Rights Campaign. https://hrc-prod-requests.s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.
  com/2023-Equality-Rising-Report-Final.pdf
- Lavender Scare. (2018, December 6). In *Wikipedia*. https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Lavender scare
- Lent, R. W. (2020) Career development and counseling: A social cognitive framework. In S. D. Brown, & R. W. Lent, (Eds.), Career development and counseling: Putting theory and research to work (pp. 129-163). John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Lu, W., Yanos, P. T., Oursler, J., Beninato, J., Topitzes, D., Banko, A., Chung, W. E., & Stone, B. (2024). Trauma informed career counseling for young adults with mental health conditions. *Journal of Employment Counseling*, 62(1), 2–21. https://doi.org/10.1002/joec.12236
- Lyons, H. Z., Prince, J. P., & Brenner, B. R. (2020) Career development of lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender individuals. In S. D. Brown, & R. W. Lent, (Eds.), Career development and counseling: Putting theory and research to work (pp. 375-394). John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Medina, C., & Mahowald, L. (2023, January 12). Discrimination and barriers to well-being: The state of the LGBTQI+community in 2022. Center for American Progress. https://www.americanprogress.org/article/discrimination-and-barriers-to-well-being-the-state-of-the-lgbtqi-community-in-2022/
- Niles, S. G. (2011). Career flow: a hope-centered model of career development. *Journal of Employment Counseling*, 48(4), 173–175. https://doi. org/10.1002/j.2161-1920.2011.tb01107.x
- Obergefell v. Hodges, 576 U.S. 644. (2015, June 26). https://www.oyez.org/cases/2014/14-556

- Pappy, A. (2024, January 24). *ICYMI: New data shows that nearly 30% of gen Z adults identify as LGBTQ+*. Human Rights Campaign. https://www.hrc.org/press-releases/icymi-new-data-shows-that-nearly-30-of-gen-z-adults-identify-as-lgbtq
- Speciale, M., & Scholl, M. B. (2019).

  LGBTQ affirmative career counseling:

  An intersectional perspective. *Career Planning and Adult Development Journal*, 35(1), 22–35.
- Tang, M., Montgomery, M. L. T., Collins, B., & Jenkins, K. (2021). Integrating career and mental health counseling: Necessity and Strategies. *Journal of Employment Counseling*, *58*(1), 23–35. https://doi.org/10.1002/joec.12155
- Treagus, S. (2020, December 15). *Historic SCOTUS decision affirms LGBTQ worker rights*. EVERFI. https://everfi.com/blog/workplace-training/historic-supreme-court-decision-lgbtq-worker-rights/

## THE ROLE AND IMPORTANCE OF CAREER MESSAGING AND DEVELOPMENT SUPPORT FOR BLACK, INDIGENOUS STUDENTS OF COLOR

#### Leslie Garcia

s a young student of color on the path to college, I received little guidance on what I should be doing in preparation for college until my junior and senior year of high school. By participating in Minnesota's Post-Secondary Enrollment Option (PSEO), I was able to get an understanding of how to navigate college life before enrolling in a university. In high school, the conversations I had with my high school advisor and family members about attending a university mainly focused on studying what I want to. From those conversations, I decided to pursue a college degree and major in international business so I could one day go work for an international company. But as I began postsecondary education at the University of Wisconsin - Eau Claire, I started doubting the message of studying whatever I wanted to. After some time, I reevaluated what I needed and wanted out of my college experience and moved back to Minnesota to finish my undergraduate degree. I realized that family was a greater value to me than whatever I was studying. It was no longer about some grandiose plan that needed to be accomplished, because it was interfering with my values.

Career messaging starts young and conversations regarding what a student wants to accomplish as they grow older should follow. I am only one person with one set of experiences. There could be Black, Indigenous, and Students of Color (BISOC) who have had similar experiences, but there could also be other students who haven't been given similar opportunities or messages from family, friends, or mentors in their lives. By providing opportunities to develop

life-relevant skills and forms of educational support for students of color, career messaging and career development can be more accessible for these students. By using career development theories, advisors, career educators, or mentors can help students of color align themselves with a future where the students are able to find success.

#### Overview of the Issue and Perspectives

BISOC do not always have the privilege to navigate existing systems without barriers as they interpret the messages they receive regarding higher education and future career development. A lack of university experience affects the message that BISOC youth receive and could also impact how they navigate a university setting. Part of this lack of university experience can begin at a young age, such as around high school, for students of color. This could relate to the experiences and knowledge of educators who are in the classroom teaching these students. Examining the relationships between teachers and students of color at an early stage is important to help educators create a sense of belonging and allow students to be ready to participate in the classroom setting. This could be achieved with teachers who are more conscious of BISOC messaging, as stated by Parra Lopez et al. (2024):

Evidence suggests that student-teacher relationships are even more important for BIYOC [Black, Indigenous Youth of Color]. ... Many studies have investigated the effect of matching student and teacher race/ethnicity, and that having teachers who are a similar race has many positive effects, including improved

student engagement, achievement, as well as reduced dropouts, absences, and suspensions. (p. 2450)

Students of color are more likely to interact with the instructor and the institution when they know they have more individualized support from an external source (Parra Lopez et al., 2024). These relationships provide students with a teacher who mirrors similar experiences and allow students to possibly even ask questions and receive relevant information to the student.

Another aspect to consider are possible life-altering events that divert students away from education, for example, the COVID-19 pandemic. Ott (2024) brought in the concept of authentically caring for students. Ott (2024) shared, specifically from the beginning of the pandemic:

Access to technology necessary for distance learning, such as laptops and internet hotspots, were slowly distributed and access to food, healthcare, and mental health services typically provided by schools and districts disappeared at the onset of school closures, with low-income BISOCs [Black, Indigenous, Students of Color] most significantly affected. (p. 2347)

With all the barriers that occurred during the COVID-19 pandemic, many students of color and their families were burdened with a lack of resources; these students lost the chance to be prepared for school and interact with teachers who wanted to see them succeed in school and then succeed later in life in their work.

A different perspective to consider when thinking about how to handle the needs and messaging for students of color comes in the form of colorblind racism. For example, Russo-Tait (2022) noted some of the "colorblind racism" or "color-blind ideology" that affects academia, specifically the Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematical (STEM) fields. As stated by Russo-Tait (2022), "Color-blind ideology is not about overt racism, it is an ideological system that keeps white people from understanding systemic racism for what it is, preserving the racial order in the process" (p. 1826). This impacts underrepresented students of color because

ignoring the issues regarding race and STEM, or in any field of study, in a primarily white institution (PWI), this could prevent these students from wanting to pursue these fields. If colorblind racism is about preserving a racial order, then that leaves a bit of a conundrum because there is then a hierarchy of races solely based on an idea. The idea that this form of racism is not overt still has great impact due to keeping white people unaware of the impact that certain actions have on BISOC. Making students, regardless of race, aware of subtle racist actions and the consequences of those actions on students of color can provide space to have discussions about racism in academia.

## **Career Development Theories to Consider**

One career development theory to consider when examining career messaging for BISOC is the Hope-Action Theory (Niles et al., 2011). This theory includes five competencies: self-reflection, self-clarity, visioning, goal setting and planning, and implementing and adapting. The application of this theory for career messaging and development will focus on the visioning competency. Visioning, as stated by Niles et al. (2011), "involves brainstorming future possibilities and identifying future scenarios" (p. 124). By providing the opportunity to students of color to work with a trusted mentor to imagine their futures, this can allow students to become more motivated and excited to envision what life they can attain.

To use Hope-Action Theory with professionals in practice, work from Clarke et al. (2018) provided practical uses. The authors worked with internationally educated professionals in Canada, applying the Hope-Action Theory with this group and journaling specifically as the method of applying visioning to their work. The authors encountered one student who struggled with learning a language before conducting a visioning exercise, and after the exercise, the participant stated, "I can't believe I let language stop me! I can't wait to get language out of the way!" (Clarke et al., 2018, p. 162). By examining this specific example, career development educators or other mentors can

adapt a visioning exercise with their students of color to help students identify what could be a possible barrier in their future possibilities when they start imagining their education beyond middle or high school.

Another career development theory to consider when examining career development for students of color includes the Social Cognitive Career Theory (SCCT) (Lent et al., 1994). This theory focuses on selfefficacy, expectations on outcomes, and the interactions with the goals but still considers an individual's culture and their own personal development regarding either their educational messaging or their workplace development. Lent et al. (1994) recognized that the framework can be used, in its original state, to "better capture the issues, challenges, and obstacles that especially characterize the career development of particular groups of women and minority members" (p.117). Acknowledging that the framework has application to students of color is relevant. Transitioning from a student to an individual in the workplace is already a challenging journey for some. Having additional obstacles in the journey can be daunting to the student.

SCCT can provide some greater understanding, especially with help from Burga et al. (2020) to understand what purposes it could use for in work readiness. As stated, "[Furthermore], personal agency is being tested as the structures provided by family systems and educational institutions diminish over time" (Burga et al., 2020, p. 156). The messaging for students of color may seem to be in contention, as there will be many considerations for them in terms of their values. Personal agency, family structure, and the institution are examples of forms of messaging and values given to students of color as they approach decisions regarding choosing a university or other types of education.

Social Cognitive Career Theory also provides some insight for human resources professionals. Professionals should be "interested in the models addressing task performance, work satisfaction, and career management, since they are more focused on the experiences of individuals already in

the workforce" (McDonald & Hite, 2023, p. 115). Human resource professionals in an organization may become career development educators for incoming students of color as they transition into the workforce. They need to be prepared to understand the different experiences that students of color bring into the workplace.

### **Practices and Implications for Career Development Educators**

One practice to consider is work-based learning programs (WBLs), as shared by Medvide and Kenny (2022). Work-based learning programs are described as experiences beyond the classroom:

Programs outside of the school setting represent another potential resource in preparing students for a successful transition to postsecondary education or the workforce. These programs, which can include internships, apprenticeships, job shadowing in the community, or vocationally based curricula, can provide students with direct exposure to work environments, opportunities to develop tangible skills, and access to supportive adults in the workplace. (Medvide & Kenny, 2022, p. 298)

This would be beneficial when thinking about hope and students of color because all these parts of a WBL program provide students with the opportunity to envision themselves successfully making transitions from school to the workplace. WBL also provides students with direct mentorship from those with the experience of working in a variety of fields of a student's interests.

A consideration to account for in future implications of career messaging is the idea of student success and self-efficacy, a major proponent of Social Cognitive Career Theory. According to Weatherton and Schlusser (2021), "Student success can be seen in terms of outcomes, like persistence, increase in self-efficacy, and publication rate. However, these concepts can just as easily be seen as components that facilitate success if it is defined as achieving a particular goal" (p. 2). This definition of success is complex as it considers traits such as persistence and

self-efficacy into the goal. A student of color may be able to do the work asked of them, but the goals of the work may move to an unobtainable level of completion depending on who is assigning the work and the goals.

#### **Next Steps to Address Future Problems**

One of the next steps to consider when examining hope and other forms of career support for BISOC is to focus on self-efficacy and self-advocating. However, one of the issues with self-efficacy or self-advocating can be the feeling of burn out. For example, Suwinyattichaiporn and Johnson (2020), examined Latino/a/x first generation students, finding a variety of factors that affect their mental health as they pursue higher education, which include stress, social isolation, and depression. According to Suwinyattichaiporn and Johnson (2020), "Support from family and friends has been found to reduce the impact of psychological problems among students ... previous evidence suggests social support helps lessen college students' depression, anxiety, and stress" (p. 301). Students of color require social support from friends and family to help provide networks of mental strength and outlets to express their fears surrounding their life at university.

#### Conclusion

In 2023, I decided to pursue a master's degree after a conversation with my father in the Summer of 2022. He assured me that I'd be supported by my family to go back to school, and so I decided to take the leap and apply. I had previously spoken with my undergraduate professors who recommended me as a graduate student candidate. As stated in the introduction, I am one experience in navigating career messaging and career development. I would be the first in my family to return to higher education to obtain a degree beyond an undergraduate degree, which provided its own challenges. However, if I were to tell myself in 2022, by applying hope-action theory and social cognitive career theory to my mentality on returning to higher education, there would be great possibilities for me in imagining what life would look like as a graduate student.

In turn, career educators or advisors to young students of color could use the theories provided by giving them guidance on how to advise Black, Indigenous students of color from their own experiences. By also being a workplace that offers a space for work-based learning programs for students of color, workplaces are creating a beneficial environment for themselves and the students of color by getting them accustomed to the transition from being a student to a workplace professional. Also having human resources professionals who become more conscious of the different experiences BISOC can provide from their education and personal lives can create a more diverse workplace. By supporting these students from the beginning of their education, even during a traumatic event such as COVID-19, to when the student makes their decision on what to do post-primary and secondary education, their messages for career development will also come into fruition.



Leslie Garcia is a graduate of the University of Minnesota - Twin Cities with a Bachelor of Arts in Gender, Women, and Sexuality Studies and Master of Education in Human Resource Development. Leslie transitioned back into academia after graduating with her bachelor's degree in December 2020 earning her master's degree in May 2025. Leslie has a passion for improving organizational training and development and focusing on employee development and recognition.

#### REFERENCES

- Burga, R., Leblanc, J., & Rezania, D. (2020). Exploring student perceptions of their readiness for project work: Utilizing social cognitive career theory. *Project Management Journal*, *51*(2), 154–164. https://doi.org/10.1177/8756972819896697
- Clarke, A., Amundson, N., Niles, S., & Yoon, H. J. (2018). Action-oriented hope: An agent of change for internationally educated professionals. *Journal of Employment Counseling*, *55*(4), 155–165. https://doi.org/10.1002/joec.12095
- Lent, R. W., Brown, S. D., & Hackett, G. (1994). Toward a Unifying Social Cognitive Theory of Career and Academic Interest, Choice, and Performance. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *45*(1), 79–122. https://doi.org/10.1006/jvbe.1994.1027
- McDonald, K. S., & Hite, L. M. (2023).

  Career development links to career psychology. In K. S. McDonald & L. M. Hite (Eds.), *Career Development* (2nd ed., pp. 107–131). Routledge. https://doi. org/10.4324/9781003246381-5
- Medvide, M. B., & Kenny, M. E. (2022). Hope in the lives of low-income students of color: A qualitative study of experiences in a work-based learning program. *Journal of Career Development*, 49(2), 297–310. https://doi.org/10.1177/0894845320937430
- Niles, S. G., Amundson, N. E., & Neault, R. Career flow: a hope-centered approach to career development (1st ed.). Pearson.
- Ott, C. D. (2024). "Normal wasn't always productive or helpful": Teachers of color authentically caring for the humanities of Black, Indigenous, and students of color during the COVID-19 pandemic. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*, *37*(8), 2345–2360. https://doi.org/10.1080/09518398.2024.23 18278

- Parra Lopez, A., Jones, T. M., Malorni, A., Diaz, A., & McCowan, K. (2024). The role of teacher critical racial consciousness in cultivating student–teacher relationships and school belonging for Black, Indigenous, and youth of color. *Psychology in the Schools*, *61*(6), 2448–2472. https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.23175
- Russo-Tait, T. (2022). Color-blind or racially conscious? How college science faculty make sense of racial/ethnic underrepresentation in STEM. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, *59*(10), 1822–1852. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.21775
- Suwinyattichaiporn, T., & Johnson, Z. D. (2020). The impact of family and friends social support on Latino/a first-generation college students' perceived stress, depression, and social isolation. *Journal of Hispanic Higher Education*, *21*(3), 297-314. https://doi-org.ezp2.lib.umn. edu/10.1177/1538192720964922
- Weatherton, M., & Schussler, E. E. (2021). Success for all? A call to re-examine how student success is defined in higher education. *CBE Life Sciences Education*, 20(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1187/cbe.20-09-0223

### ADDRESSING MALE COLLEGE ENROLLMENT DECLINE USING CAREER DEVELOPMENT THEORIES

#### Kirsten Koerth

#### **Interest Population**

Throughout the United States, college class sizes are getting smaller. There are 2.7 million fewer college students now than there were at the start of the last decade (Marcus, 2025), and men represent a greater portion of that number of those lost (Bennet & Fritz, 2024). Declining enrollment is especially significant for male BIPOC (Black, Indigenous, People of Color) students (Bennet & Fritz, 2024). Overall college enrollment is down due in large part to a reduced birth rate following the Great Recession (2007-2009), but there are many additional factors (Marcus, 2025). Beyond the falling birthrate, rising wages in the skilled trades and an increased demand for workers in those fields is drawing many young men to those occupations instead of college. The phenomenon has led Generation Z (people born between 1997 and 2012) to be dubbed "The Toolbelt Generation" (Cheung, 2024). The multitude of negative societal and economic effects of declining male enrollment in college is motivation for career professionals to discover ways to encourage more men to consider higher education.

Jobs within the trades are appealing to a greater proportion of young males because of a variety of factors, including a lack of interest in college, a demand for workers in the trades, and the changes in jobs in trades. Advancing technology within many fields has allowed for more variety within certain jobs (Cheung, 2024). These careers can also be high paying, especially for a worker who is just starting their career (Schaffhauser, 2024). A concern that artificial intelligence (AI) may threaten certain positions that require a college degree is additionally motivating for a person joining the trades, as is the rising cost of college (Bennet & Fritz, 2024; Cheung,

2024).

While the current development of more professional training opportunities outside of college is helpful for many, the decline in college attendance is still concerning. There are several reasons why a decrease in the number of college-educated men could have a negative effect on individuals and the greater society. Downstream consequences for the economy are a clear issue, as fewer candidates for jobs requiring college degrees will be available. This can be seen in STEM fields, including the semiconductor industry, which is experiencing a dearth of qualified job applicants (Wiseman, 2024). Fewer students also means fewer colleges, which support thousands of employees (Marcus, 2025). College educated people generally also make more money throughout their lifetimes (Cheung, 2024). The culmination of these economic impacts may have significant ripple effects for the future economy.

Additionally, employees with college degrees are more likely to report increased overall satisfaction with their lives (Bennet & Fritz, 2024). This may be due in part to the difficult and physically demanding conditions or challenging schedules of many jobs that do not require a college education, including in the trades (Cheung 2024). While many people gain satisfaction and great reward from working in the trades, some are attracted to these careers because of high pay, rather than for reasons that contribute to their overall career satisfaction. Factors other than pay that contribute to long-term job satisfaction include independence and the ability to serve others (Blustein et al., 2023). Careers in the trades may be high paying, especially initially, but they are also more likely to include long hours, physical labor, and periods of

unemployment (Cheung, 2024). Not every worker will tolerate the amount of physical work that is needed for these positions for their entire working life, and a college degree may be needed for a less physically strenuous job.

Careers in the trades generally fit the standard of *decent work*, as they typically pay a satisfactory wage, have union representation, and offer safety protections for workers. These careers may not always fit the definition of meaningful work, or "individuals experiencing their work as being both significant and positive in valence" (Blustein et al., 2023 p. 297). Characteristics of meaningful work include community within the workplace, ability to attain personal goals, and a lack of repetitive or meaningless tasks. Those who describe their work as meaningful are more likely to stay at their organization, have higher psychological well-being, and be innovative in their role (Blustein et al., 2023).

In addition to the economic and individual drawbacks of declining male college enrollment, negative cultural impacts of a less-educated male populus are salient, though more difficult to predict and pinpoint. Attending college has a multitude of benefits outside of earning a degree, and can contribute to a person's overall personal development. Some specific benefits include development of soft skills, networking and socialization, exposure to new ideas, progression of critical thinking skills, among many others. Soft skills, like professionalism and teamwork are fostered during college, and a lack of those skills may have negative consequences on the quality of job applicants (Bennet & Fritz, 2024). The culture of our nation may be negatively influenced by a citizenry with fewer soft skills. Non-college educated people are also less healthy and lead shorter lives, influencing the overall national culture (Zajacova & Lawrence, 2018).

Current efforts by colleges to reverse the decline in male enrollment include developing college departments that attract more male applicants, such as natural resources and forestry (Elder-Connors, 2024). Certain colleges have created task forces specifically tasked with recruiting more male students. These efforts have brought male high school students to college campuses to expose them to opportunities there, and have developed initiatives to retain male students once they enroll (Bennet & Fritz, 2024).

#### **Using Career Theories in Practice**

Male students should be advised to follow whatever career they are interested in and have the aptitude for, but post-secondary education should be a part of the conversation throughout their schooling. Teachers, school counselors and specialists, administrators, coaches, and other school staff members are an integral part of inspiring boys to go to college. Simple reassuring conversations with students can greatly impact students' decisions, as well as their confidence in themselves. Several career theories can be useful as a foundation in career advising for young men.

#### Trait and Factor Theories

Trait and factor theories state that careers can be matched with workers like a lock and key, with qualities of both the job and the applicant together making a perfect fit (Nauta et al., 2020). While this is a somewhat prescriptive perspective on career development, it can be a starting place for students to better understand what their interests and aptitudes are through assessments that assist with recommendations for career direction. This approach may be especially important for students who are not already considering college, because it can spark the exploration of options that are not in their immediate interest area or are outside of their perceived qualifications. An especially useful website for trait and factor-related advising is O\*NET Online, an online inventory that includes a wealth of information about a variety of career fields and occupations (U.S. Department of Labor, 2025). Guiding high school students on the use of this tool may help them find careers that they previously had not known about, and it provides details on required qualifications for each job, among other relevant information.

#### Social-Cognitive Career Theory

Social-Cognitive Career Theory (SCCT) can also be used effectively to advise young adults, especially men. Self-efficacy, or "people's judgments of their capabilities to organize and execute courses of action required to attain designated types of performances" (Lent et al., 2020, p. 132), and outcome expectations or "beliefs about the consequences or outcomes of performing particular behaviors" (Lent et al., 2020, p. 133) are main tenets of SCCT. Building selfefficacy among young men is important for them to know they are capable of achieving a college degree. Many students may feel as though they do not belong in college for a variety of factors, including societal prejudices against BIPOC men, for example (Bennet & Fritz, 2024). Developing positive outcome expectations related to college may also help with societal expectations that deter male students from attending college (Lent et al., 2020). For example, some male students may feel that there are negative social ramifications for attending college, but if outcome expectations for males are presented positively, they may be more likely to consider higher education.

#### Systems Theory

When advising young men, systems theory can be applied to recognize the context of each student. Systems theory considers the influence of contextual factors including race, gender identity, geographic location, political environment, etc. when providing career advice (McMahon & Patton, 2018). Learning enough about an individual to be able to implement systematic thinking can be time consuming for a career development professional, but it is needed for the most successful and genuine interactions. Teachers are uniquely able to apply systematic thinking, because they may already know contextual factors about the student from their pre-existing relationship.

### The Role of Teachers and School Career Development Professionals

Teachers play an especially important role in helping students grow self-efficacy and

positive outcomes expectations. Gender norms and career aspirations are influenced greatly by teachers, and teachers have the power, throughout a child's school career, to build self-assurance and provide opportunities for their male students to develop college aspirations (Korlat et al., 2023). Possessing negative academic expectations of oneself can be a self-fulfilling prophecy, and without having self-efficacy in academic areas, students are unlikely to pursue college. Creating positive outcome expectations for young males may remedy concerns men have with attending college. Teachers can use their existing relationships with students and their understanding of students' contexts to create positive outcome expectations, and provide effective and tailored advice (Yenney, 2020). Male role models (including teachers), especially for BIPOC students, help students envision themselves in college and create a sense of social acceptance for young men in higher education (Bennet & Fritz, 2024).

Academic encouragement from teachers and their role modeling may help counteract negative messaging around college for men. Since much of a student's "holistic social context," or the "social context that comprises several crucial social groups to which individuals belong" while in high schoolcomes from their teacher (Xu et al., 2023, p. 596), they have a specific role to play in male students' feelings about college. Introducing and discussing career development and college throughout students' education is essential, as students' career aspirations during adolescence can have significant effects on their future career success (Perry & Raeburn, 2017). This indicates that there is a need for students to have exposure to career development early on, as their aspirations may be set at a relatively young age.

Workers in the skilled trades are currently needed in higher demand (Schaffhauser, 2024), and the Toolbelt Generation has been readily filling those positions. While workers are needed in those areas, a de-emphasis on college for young men may have a variety of negative impacts. Career and college professionals are in a unique position to let

male students know that they are still needed in college, and several career development tools and frameworks, including Trait and Factor theories, SCCT, and systems theory can be used to assist in that task.



Kirsten Koerth is graduate student in the University of Minnesota Agriculture Education master's program. She obtained her undergraduate degree from St. Olaf College in Biology and Environmental Studies, and she grew up in Helena, Montana. Her academic interests include sustainable agriculture research and education.

#### REFERENCES

- Bennet, G., & Fritz, M. (2024, June 25). Why fewer young men are choosing to pursue college degrees. PBS News. https://www.pbs.org/newshour/show/why-fewer-young-men-are-choosing-to-pursue-college-degrees
- Blustein, D. L., Lysova, E. I., & Duffy, R. D. (2023). Understanding decent work and meaningful work. *Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior*, *10*(1), 289–314. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevorgpsych-031921-024847
- Cheung, P. (2024). How gen Z is becoming the toolbelt generation: More young workers are going into trades as disenchantment with the college track continues, and rising pay and new technologies shine up plumbing and electrical jobs. *The Wall Street Journal. Eastern Edition*.
- Elder-Connors, L. (2024, June 5). *Colleges* struggle with falling enrollment -- especially male students. NPR. https://www.npr.org/2024/06/05/nx-s1-4993536/colleges-struggle-with-falling-enrollment-especially-male-students
- Korlat, S., Schultes, M.-T., Schober, B., Spiel, C., & Kollmayer, M. (2023). Gender typicality and prestige of occupational aspirations in adolescents: The relevance of agency and communion. *Journal of Career Development*, *50*(2), 405–424. https://doi.org/10.1177/08948453221100744
- Lent, R. W. (2020). Career development and counseling: A social cognitive framework. In S. Brown & R. Lent (eds.) *Career Development and Counseling: Putting Theory and Research to Work* (pp. 129–163). John Wiley & Sons, Inc. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781394258994.ch5

- Marcus, J. (2025, January 8). A looming 'demographic cliff:' Fewer college students and ultimately fewer graduates. NPR. www.npr.org/2025/01/08/nx-s1-5246200/demographic-cliff-fewer- college-students-mean-fewer-graduates
- McMahon, M., & Patton, W. (2018). Systemic thinking in career development theory: Contributions of the systems theory framework. *British Journal of Guidance & Counselling*, 46(2), 229–240. https://doi.org/10.1080/03069885.2018.1428941
- Nauta, M. M., Brown, S., & Lent, R. (2020). Holland's theory of vocational choice and adjustment. In S. Brown & R. Lent (eds.), *Career Development and Counseling* (pp. 61–93). John Wiley & Sons, Inc. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781394258994.ch3
- Perry, J. C., & Raeburn, R. (2017). Possible selves among urban youth: A study of developmental differences and the aspirations–expectations gap. *Journal of Career Development*, 44(6), 544–556. https://doi.org/10.1177/0894845316670032
- Schaffhauser, A. (2024). *High demand, high pay trades occupations in northwest Minnesota*. Minnesota
  State Department of Employment and
  Economic Development. https://mn.gov/
  deed/newscenter/publications/review/
  april-2024/spotlight.jsp
- U.S. Department of Labor (2025). O\*NET Online. https://www.onetonline.org/
- Wiseman, B. (2024, August 2). Reimagining labor to close the expanding US semiconductor talent gap. McKinsey & Company. https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/semiconductors/our-insights/reimagining-labor-to-close- the-expanding-us-semiconductor-talent-gap

- Xu, R., Deng, L., Fang, X., Jia, J., Tong, W., Zhou, H., Guo, Y., & Zhou, H. (2023). Association among parent-teacher relationship, autonomy support, and career development of high school students across school types. *Journal of Career Development*, 50(3), 595–611. https://doi. org/10.1177/08948453221123629
- Yenney, C. B. (2020). "I trusted her more than I trusted myself": The impact of academic advising on rural students' sense of belonging in college. *New Directions for Student Services*, *2020*(171–172), 29–36. https://doi.org/10.1002/ss.20362
- Zajacova, A., & Lawrence, E. M. (2018). The relationship between education and health: Reducing disparities through a contextual approach. *Annual review of public health*, *39*, 273–289. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevpublhealth-031816-044628

### REIMAGINING CAREER DEVELOPMENT FOR FIRST-GENERATION STUDENTS: AN INDIGENOUS-INFORMED APPROACH

#### Trinity Vang

"Career narratives are shared acts of survival and hope."

— Kedibone Diale-Tlabela

s students graduate from college, they Amay ask themselves: "Now what?" As a first-generation college graduate who works to support students navigating higher education, I have seen firsthand how challenging it can be to pursue a path that was created by a system with students like me in mind. By 2031, 72% of jobs will need some kind of college education (RTI International, 2024). This makes it even more important to rethink how career development professionals support first-generation college students (FGCS), especially in ways that reflect their lived experiences and values instead of traditional Western career advice that is often geared as a one-size-fits-all.

First-generation college students are typically defined as students whose parents have not earned a bachelor's degree from a four-year college or university. It is important to acknowledge that this group of students is not a monolith (Jehangir et al., 2015). Within the United States, 56% of the undergraduate population identifies as first-generation (RTI International, 2024). When first-generation college students are entering the work field today, these students face challenges in navigating the hidden curriculum of professional environments. University support services and structures often fail to adequately address the complex needs of first-generation students. Firstgeneration students are not only navigating academia but also frequently balancing family expectations, financial stress, and unfamiliar systems while simultaneously trying to figure out who they are and where they belong

(Jehangir et al., 2015). Career development is one area where the issue is evident among first-generation college students (Buford & Flores, 2024; Jehangir et al., 2015). Traditional Western career development models often assume access to resources, mentors, and networks that many first-generation college students lack. These models also center on individualism and linear career planning, which may not align with how many students from culturally diverse or Indigenous backgrounds see themselves or their future. For many first-generation college students, their sense of purpose is tied to community rather than individual success, which often renders traditional Western career development models irrelevant (Jehangir et al., 2015). In order to truly support firstgeneration students, career development models need to reflect the values and lived experiences of those students.

There is a need to reimagine career development models that include more than just rewriting existing ones that push for more culturally centered frameworks and include the lived experiences of students (Buford et al., 2024). Concepts such as balance, interconnectedness, and community alignment are not extra components to how we develop a sense of our career, but are central for students making career decisions. There are other frameworks outside of Western thinking that already exist in various forms of knowledge. Indigenous knowledge systems may offer holistic, relational, and culturally grounded approaches that can better support first-generation students

in exploring careers that reflect their full identities, not just the available job opportunities. When we include Indigenous perspectives, we create space for more culturally grounded and community-centered approaches. It is more than just about career preparation. It is about identity, purpose, and belonging. This shift offers a future where first-generation students feel seen, supported, and empowered.

### **Understanding the Layers of the First- Generation College Journey**

Within the United States, about one-third of all undergraduate students identify as first-generation, though this number can be higher at specific institutions or among BIPOC populations (RTI International, 2024; Oxendine, 2025). These students are often navigating overlapping systemic barriers tied to race, class, and educational access, which all shape their experiences in ways that require more nuanced and responsive support. First-generation college students represent a wide range of racial, ethnic, and socioeconomic backgrounds, with disproportionately high representation among Latinx, Black, Indigenous, and Southeast Asian communities (RTI International, 2024).

First-generation college students often enter college with significant preparedness gaps, especially when it comes to navigating unfamiliar academic environments and norms (Payne et al., 2023). They may feel behind their peers in what may seem like common tasks in higher education, such as knowing how to reach out to professors or instructors, attending office hours, or balancing their academic workload with responsibilities at home (Payne et al., 2023). While these tasks may seem minor, they can have a profound impact on their academic confidence and willingness to ask for help (Buford et al., 2022). In addition, many first-generation college students are excluded from highimpact opportunities, such as unpaid internships or networking opportunities, due to financial constraints, cultural barriers, or family obligations (Jehangir et al., 2020). These missed opportunities can limit their access to social capital and professional exposure, which only further widens the gap

between their generation peers (Jehangir et al., 2020).

First-generation college students face not only academic hurdles but also distinct career development challenges as they transition into the workforce. Many of these students lack the career social capital that their more privileged peers have access to, such as professional mentors, exposure to diverse careers, or an understanding of a hidden curriculum of networking and workplace behavior (Buford et al., 2022). Hidden curriculum in this context refers to the unspoken norms and expectations that are often assumed in professional and academic spaces (Jehangir et al., 2022). Without access to this knowledge, first-generation students may enter these spaces feeling unprepared or out of place within their career and academic journeys (Jehangir et al., 2022).

Social capital refers to the networks, relationships, and social knowledge that provide individuals with access to opportunities and resources (Jehangir et al., 2015). Students whose parents have college degrees or professional careers may receive informal guidance on how to navigate job interviews, build connections, or gain internship experience, which are all advantages that are not as readily accessible to many first-generation students (Jehangir et al., 2022). Without these resources, firstgeneration college students often struggle to envision their career paths and future. There are also distinct cultural transition challenges that first-generation college students face, such as cultural differences between their identity at home versus their identity in professional settings, which often lead to code-switching, identity tension, and pressure to conform (Carter et al., 2024). However, it is essential to recognize that these students also bring significant cultural wealth, multilingual skills, and aspirational capital that are often overlooked in traditional career development models (Yosso, 2005). Still, many firstgeneration college students may feel like they are living in two worlds, navigating family expectations while trying to meet institutional and professional workforce norms (Jehangir et al., 2015).

### **Indigenous Knowledge Systems and Career Development**

Indigenous knowledge systems provide a powerful alternative to traditional Western career development models, which often prioritize individualism. Indigenous knowledge systems are rooted in holistic worldviews, viewing life as a web of relationships between people, land, ancestors, spirit, and the environment (Christian et al., 2021). Growth is not linear, nor is it solely based on our achievements. It is a continuous cycle grounded in balance, harmony, and connection (Christian et al., 2021). When we consider career in this context, it is not just about personal advancement. It is about walking a path that reflects one's responsibility to community and ancestors (Diale, 2022). Career decisions are not just about self, but for the collective. The value of wisdom passed down through elders, connection to land, and spiritual guidance all play an important role in shaping a person's career journey (Diale, 2022). Indigenous scholarship challenges Western career development models by honoring multiple epistemologies and decolonial aspirations (Huaman, 2022). By integrating these perspectives into career development models, it allows for more relational and culturally grounded approaches.

The whole-person approach views the mind, body, spirit, and emotions are all intertwined (Christian et al., 2021). The approach emphasizes that students must be viewed holistically rather than onedimensionally. Career development cannot be separated from the multiple layers students hold, such as their identities, values, or cultural backgrounds (Christian et al., 2021). This is why Indigenous frameworks rely on storytelling, mentoring, and experiential learning as foundational tools. Storytelling has become a core means of passing on knowledge and envisioning future paths. The emphasis on storytelling has supported theories such as Narrative Career Theory, developed by Mark Savickas and Donald Super (Savickas et al., 2012). In Indigenous contexts, storytelling is more than a pedagogical strategy but instead a way of life and method of passing down

generational wisdom and values (Diale, 2022; Christian et al., 2021). These stories are often shared in community settings, grounded in lived experiences, and used to help support decision-making, including career and life paths (Diale, 2022). Narrative theory views career as a process of creating identity through the stories we tell about our lives and transitions (Savickas et al., 2012). In our everyday lives, people use themes to describe their careers and give them personal meaning (Savickas et al., 2012). Narrative Career Theory honors the realities of first-generation and Indigenous students whose lives are shaped by intergenerational knowledge and systemic barriers. This may allow students to reclaim their authorship and center their stories around resilience, identity, and connection. This approach aligns with culturally grounded frameworks that include storytelling, holistic development, and the importance of community shaping career pathways (Christian et al., 2021).

To truly understand and support first-generation college students, there must be a will to decolonize career development itself. This is an active practice for practitioners to consider. This means questioning the dominance of Western career development models and making space for Indigenous knowledge frameworks in education and career development. Student career success requires honoring multiple ways of knowing and redefining success not as a linear path but as a relational process that centers on care, culture, and collective well-being (Burgess et al., 2022).

### **Integrating Career Development Theories**

Career development is not a one-size-fitsall approach, especially for first-generation college students navigating multiple systems that were not built with them in mind (Diale, 2022). Traditional Western career development models are not as applicable to the lived experiences of first-generation college students (McMahon & Patton, 2018). It is not to say we can completely disregard traditional Western career development theories, but instead expand upon them with more inclusive frameworks that center identity, context, and intersectionality (Buford & Flores, 2024). We can still recognize theories while honoring other diverse ways of knowing and being.

#### Systems Theory Framework

The Systems Theory Framework provides a foundation for understanding how career paths are shaped by multiple interconnected systems, including the self, family, community, institutions, and societal factors (McMahon & Patton, 2018). This aligns with Indigenous worldviews, which also view life and purpose through a relational lens, where decisions are made with consideration for the community and future generations (Diale, 2022; Christian et al., 2021).

#### Chaos Theory of Careers

Another reference is The Chaos Theory of Careers, which rejects the idea that career journeys are linear and predictable (Pryor et al., 2012). Instead, the model encourages reflection and exploration, providing an opportunity for first-generation college students to reimagine their career planning (Oxendine, 2025). It allows students to view careers not as a fixed outcome but as an evolving path that can accommodate their whole being. The emphasis on storytelling among these theories can align with Indigenous oral traditions, which center on voice, memory, and ancestral knowledge (Oxendine, 2025). These theories allow students to reclaim authorship over their stories and reframe their journeys through resilience and purpose. Traditional Western career development models can offer a framework that validates the complexities of first generation journeys that make space for multiple forms of knowledge and success (Burgess et al., 2022; Lent & Brown, 2020). If integrated with Indigenous-informed practices, such as mentorship, experiential learning, and community engagement, career development frameworks and practices can move closer to a more humanized and decolonized vision of career development (Burgess et al., 2022; Lent & Brown, 2020).

#### An Indigenous-Informed Philosophy and Future Plan for First-Gen Career Development

How do we envision Indigenous knowledge systems in the context of career development? This framework incorporates Indigenous knowledge systems alongside Western career development theories while centering on students holistically. It steers away from individualistic, output-driven models and instead moves towards career development that nurtures the whole person.

Recommendation #1: Integrating cultural identity in career counseling and development should begin by honoring students where they are and where they come from. This includes validating their values, beliefs, and family histories. There should be space to develop tools for cultural reflection and to affirm cultural strengths. To achieve this, career educators need intentional training through both counselor education and ongoing professional development that centers space to develop tools for cultural reflection and affirmation within career exploration.

Recommendation #2: Narrative and storytelling methodologies are a tool to benefit first-generation college students, but for all students. Narrative-centered counseling and storytelling can help students bridge the gap between home and academic lives while affirming both. Career educators should be trained to implement narrative-centered counseling approaches within their practice. These methods can include supporting students to bridge the gap between their home and academic lives, affirming both, and allowing them to explore career paths through the lens of identity, culture, and lived experience.

Recommendation #3: Career planning should view students holistically, considering their mental, emotional, physical, and spiritual well-being. This includes honoring students' multiple identities and roles as workers, caregivers, and community members.

Career planning should reflect those identities, not ignore them. The First-Gen Plus framework emphasizes the importance of addressing these layered experiences to provide more inclusive and impactful support (Whitley, 2018).

Recommendation #4: Decolonizing career services is key to developing relevant career development for students. This means hiring diverse staff, including Indigenous elders and leaders, as well as culturally relevant practitioners, into career spaces. This also means relearning what a "career fair" or "resume workshop" might look like, as well as other traditional career models.

### **Implications for Future Research** and **Practice**

Considering future implications, there is a clear need for more research on Indigenousinformed career development models, especially those that track outcomes for first-generation college students. The practice should focus on community-based approaches that respect and honor the lived experiences of individuals. In career development practice, career professionals need ongoing training grounded in Indigenous frameworks, which is not a onetime workshop but a continuous process of learning and growth. This also includes training grounded in trauma-informed care and cultural competency. This training must be ongoing, reflective, and a relational process. From an institutional level, policy and funding decisions must align to build sustainable and culturally relevant career support for students. We must be intentional about integrating tools that amplify and preserve culture rather than erasing it. Frameworks in the future must move forward, remaining adaptable and inclusive of the diverse realities within first-generation student communities.

#### Conclusion and Reflection

Reimagining career development for firstgeneration students is not just a possibility; it is a promising path forward. We cannot continue to expect students to fit into applying one-size-fits-all models to career development. First-generation college students deserve practices that affirm their cultures, acknowledge their realities, and honor their potential and future. By integrating Indigenous knowledge systems with career development theories, we can create more holistic pathways that help students move forward. As a first-generation college graduate myself, I understand what it means to navigate systems that were not built with my story in mind. That is why the work matters. It challenges educators to reimagine models that see the students they serve, reflect upon their lived experiences, and make space for who they are becoming.

Pursuing a career is not just about getting a job. It is about discovering who you are, where you come from, and how you want to present yourself in the world. We owe it to ourselves and our students to meet them where they are in that truth. Career development should be grounded in identity and community.

Through this project, narrative theory and systems theory because resonate strongly with me. They create more space for complex identities and storytelling. These models provide a different perspective to support students not just as learners but as whole people. This course reminded me how many students are navigating uncertainty and systems that were not built for them. If I can continue to root my work in both theory, practice, and community, then I would consider myself to be doing right by the students I serve.



Trinity Vang (she/her) is a Hmong-American higher education professional passionate about advancing equity in career development. With experience in recruitment, student engagement, and academic support, she focuses on serving first-generation, BIPOC, and non-traditional students through culturally responsive, community-rooted approaches that honor their lived experiences. A proud alumna of the University of Minnesota–Twin Cities, Trinity holds a B.S. in Youth Studies and is currently pursuing her M.A. in Higher Education there.

#### REFERENCES

- Buford, M., & Flores, L. (2022). First-generation students and racial equity in career education. In M. Buford, M. Sharp, & M. J. Stebleton (Eds.), *Mapping the future of undergraduate career education* (pp. 145–160). Routledge.
- Burgess, C., Bishop, M., & Lowe, K. (2020). Decolonising indigenous education: The case for cultural mentoring in supporting indigenous knowledge reproduction. *Discourse: Studies in the Cultural Politics of Education*, *43*(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1080/01596306.2020.1774513
- Carter, A. D., & Sisco, S. (2024). Leadership coaching strategies for black women leaders who code switch: Avoiding linguistic profiling career boundaries. *Career Development International*, 29(3), 323–338. https://doi.org/10.1108/cdi-07-2023-0211

- Christian, T. M., Quressette, S., & Ned, K. (2021, October 6). *The importance of a whole-person approach in indigenous career development*. CERIC. https://ceric.ca/2021/10/the-importance-of-a-whole-person-approach-in-indigenous-career-development/
- Diale, B. M. (2022). 'indlela ibuzwa kwabaphambili': Using indigenous knowledge practices to support first-year first-generation African students in their career transition to higher education. *African Journal of Career Development*, 4(1). https://doi.org/10.4102/ajcd.v4i1.62
- Huaman, E. S. (2022). How indigenous scholarship changes the field: Pluriversal appreciation, decolonial aspirations, and comparative indigenous education. *Comparative Education Review*, 66(3), 391–416. https://doi.org/10.1086/720442
- Jehangir, R. R., Deenanath, V., & Stebleton, M. J. (2015). *An exploration of intersecting identities of first-generation, low-income students*. National Resource Center for the First-Year Experience and Students in Transition.
- Jehangir, R. R., Moock, K., & Williams, T. B. (2022). In support of first-generation and working-class students' career development. In M. Buford, M. Sharp, & M. J. Stebleton (Eds.), *Mapping the future of undergraduate career education* (pp. 104-121). Routledge.
- Jehangir, R. R., Telles, A. B., & Deenanath, V. (2019). Using photovoice to bring career into a new focus for first-generation college students. *Journal of Career Development*, 47(1), 59–79. https://doi.org/10.1177/0894845318824746
- Oxendine, C. L. (2025). First-gen stories: Connecting first-generation students' stories through oral history. *Journal of Student Affairs Research and Practice*, 62(2), 186–202. https://doi.org/10.1080/19 496591.2024.2435891

- Patton, W., & McMahon, M. (2014). *Career development and systems theory: Connecting theory and practice*. Sense Publishers.
- Payne, T., Muenks, K., & Aguayo, E. (2023). "Just because I am first gen doesn't mean I'm not asking for help": A thematic analysis of first-generation college students' academic help-seeking behaviors. *Journal of Diversity in Higher Education*, 16(6), 792–803. https://doi.org/10.1037/dhe0000382
- Pryor, R., & Bright, J. (2011). The chaos theory of careers: A new perspective on working in the twenty-first century. Routledge.
- RTI International. (2024). First-generation college students' achievement and federal student loan repayment. FirstGen Forward. Retrieved 2025, from https://www.firstgenforward.org/our-insights/fact-sheets
- Whitley, S. E., Benson, G., & Wesaw, A. (2018). First-generation student success: A landscape analysis of programs and services at four-year institutions. Center for First-generation Student Success, NASPA–Student Affairs Administrators in Higher Education, & Entangled Solutions. https://firstgen.naspa.org/report/first-generation-student-success-landscape-analysis
- Yosso, T. J. (2005). Whose culture has capital? A critical race theory discussion of community cultural wealth. *Race Ethnicity and Education*, *8*(1), 69–91. https://doi.org/10.1080/1361332052000341006

### EMPLOYEE MENTAL HEALTH: AN EXAMINATION OF ORGANIZATIONAL CULTURE AND LEADERSHIP APPROACHES

#### Yenming Peng

In recent years, employee mental health has increasingly become a serious concern in many workplaces, with significant implications for organizational outcomes (Kelloway et al., 2023). Organizational culture refers to the shared values and beliefs that shape how members interact within an organization (Lubis & Hanum, 2020). Large companies must manage many employees and adapt to global trends. Therefore, a healthy organizational culture plays an important role in a company.

Centralized power, bullying, and psychological pressure within an organization can contribute to serious mental health issues, including anxiety, depression, and burnout (Blustein et al., 2021; Reed, 2004). This issue is not hypothetical, especially in Taiwan's high-tech industries. Taiwan is famous for high-tech industries such as semiconductor manufacturing and information technology firms. A tragic incident was the highly publicized death of a Chief Technology Officer (CTO) in Taiwan, which followed a confrontation with the company's chairman after the CTO had stepped down. Prior to the incident, the CTO had reportedly revealed experiences of workplace bullying and humiliation (Liu & Younger, 2025). The incident raised public concerns about leadership behaviors, particularly authoritarian control, poor communication, and psychological pressure. This tragedy reflects the severe consequences of toxic leadership and an unhealthy organizational culture. Leadership style, which refers to the behaviors and strategies leaders use to guide, support, and influence their teams (Northouse, 2021), is another critical factor shaping workplace experiences. Employees usually bear a high-pressure

environment and a performance-driven culture. Companies are encouraged to support employee career development and retention, as doing so can enhance organizational efficiency and reduce costly turnover. The increasing prevalence of burnout and stressrelated turnover across global industries indicates that addressing employees' mental health problems is a critical issue and a key factor in an organization's long-term growth (Kelloway et al., 2023). Reports by the World Health Organization (2024) show that unaddressed workplace mental health concerns result in billions in productivity losses annually. Clearly, this is an area where HRD engagement is urgently needed.

This chapter explores how organizational culture and leadership style directly affect employees' mental health and career development paths and provide insight and suggestions for Human Resource Development (HRD) practitioners.

#### **Background and Issue Analysis**

Taiwan's tech industry, notably the semiconductor and software industries, usually follows strict performance standards, long working hours, and a hierarchical organizational culture. Recent studies show that these work conditions restrict opportunities for social interaction and cause significant psychological stress, worsening employees' physical and mental health (Lu et al., 2020). According to Aon's 2024 Taiwan Employee Wellbeing Report, 42% of employees reported that overwork negatively affected their mental health.

Toxic leadership refers to a self-serving behavior that leads to long-term damage to employees and the organization (Reed 2004). It also causes serious challenges in a highpressure industry. Reed emphasized that toxic leaders usually prioritize short-term performance and pleasing superiors while ignoring the well-being of their employees. These dynamics are relevant in Taiwan's high-tech sector, where hierarchical structures and performance-driven cultures can cause negative outcomes. This culture can cause fear, mistrust, and emotional exhaustion, ultimately weakening morale and contributing to mental health problems.

Moreover, in many East Asian workplaces, cultural values such as maintaining harmony and deferring to authority may lead employees to remain silent rather than criticize problematic leadership behaviors. Research by Peng and Tjosvold (2011) showed that many employees face concerns — worries about maintaining dignity, reputation, and social harmony — causing them to avoid open conflict, especially when interacting with their leaders. Similarly, Zhang and Wei (2017) indicated that employees choose superficial harmony rather than directly addressing tensions because they are worried about negative effects. This situation may lead employees to hide their real emotions and thoughts in their workplace, which can eventually affect their work performance and mental health.

#### **Theoretical Frameworks**

This chapter uses four career development theories as a framework to analyze how organizational culture and leadership styles influence employees' mental health, particularly within Taiwan's high-pressure technology sector.

#### Systems Theory Framework

Systems Theory Framework (STF) provides a holistic framework to explain how individuals, organizations, and cultural systems affect employees' mental health and decision-making (McMahon & Patton, 2018). STF helps to clarify the relationships between leadership behaviors, organizational norms, and employee mental health. It is useful in Taiwan's tech industry because hierarchy and performance pressure deeply affect employees' daily lives. For example, in some

tech companies, even mid-level leaders may feel limited in their decision-making, which decreases their ability to support intervention. From an STF view, HRD professionals can identify the system problem to help them solve it. Additionally, they can use STF to examine feedback between leadership behavior and mental health. From there, they can design more effective interventions, not just surface-level fixes.

#### Career Construction Theory

Career Construction Theory (CCT) explains the role of personal narrative and meaningmaking in career development. Under toxic leadership, employees might struggle to make sense of their career path (Savickas, 2020). CCT illustrates how a positive organization assists with mentoring, career coaching, and leadership transformation to rebuild employees' career narratives, career adaptability, and long-term well-being. For example, in my previous company, my boss tried to incentivize employees. He held meetings with each employee every Friday. Employees were free to talk about anything such as career planning and the current problems they were facing. Through narrative-based career coaching, the employees were able to reshape their goals and professional identities. This supports CCT's idea that people can rebuild their career stories (Savickas, 2020). Employees who experience suffering from work or sudden changes can benefit from interventions based on this theory. Narrative approaches can help them understand what happened and find new motivation when they feel a loss of meaning at work.

#### Hope-Centered Career Development Model

Hope-Centered Career Development Model (HCMCD) emphasizes the importance of fostering hope, establishing self-clarity, and setting career goals to help individuals respond to uncertainty and enhance resilience (Clarke et al., 2018). It provides a holistic framework to explore how individuals, organizations, and cultural systems affect employees' mental health and

decision-making. Therefore, company policies that emphasize goal-setting and personal development are very important. For instance, organizations can set clear goals to support and encourage employees. When leaders follow these policies, they can also develop their leadership skills and help employees gain clarity and confidence about their career paths. This model supports the design of goal-setting workshops because setting clear and attainable goals can enhance employees' agency and hope, which are essential for career adaptability. In these workshops, employees can clarify their short-term and long-term goals.

#### Chaos Theory of Careers

Chaos Theory of Careers (CTC) focuses on the uncertainty and complexity of modern careers (Pryor & Bright, 2012). The theory explains how negative organizational events such as bullying and unhealthy power dynamics create chaos in individual career paths. CTC's focus on flexible career paths is useful in fast-changing tech companies. In those companies, employees may face leadership changes or restructuring, which can lead to poor performance. Building adaptability and resilience is an important strategy to support them. Moreover, HRD can provide adaptability training and real-world scenarios to assist employees in getting ready for unexpected changes and see them as chances to grow.

#### **Applications and Strategies**

HRD professionals, organizational leaders, and managers can implement various strategies to support employees' mental health and career development outcomes. These approaches can effectively foster employee well-being and career growth.

Create a "Psychological Safety Leadership" program to teach managers and encourage them to develop their skills such as open dialogue, active listening, and empathy. The training should combine feedback systems and role-play to help leaders recognize each team member's condition. Moreover, building on Edmondson's (2019) concept of psychological safety, HRD professionals can collaborate with leadership development specialists to incorporate psychological safety principles into the "Psychological Safety Leadership" program. This approach can help organizations develop a more supportive workplace culture.

Strengthening and clarifying mental health support is a critical organizational approach. Maintaining confidentiality and collaborating with external mental health specialists can help employees relieve their stress. Additionally, organizations can organize events to enhance awareness, such as promoting available supportive resources, holding resilience workshops, and offering stress management seminars to encourage employees to recognize and use these important services (Kelloway et al., 2023). These efforts not only address employees' mental health concerns but also develop a preventive care culture.

Implementing career coaching and narrative career interventions can help employees rebuild meaningful career paths, especially those experiencing mental challenges due to organizational pressure or toxic leadership. Narrative career interventions, through structured coaching sessions or career workshops, can provide a space for employees and encourage them to reflect on their experience, helping them rebuild meaningful career paths (Savickas, 2013). Employees can attend narrative coaching, and they can also talk to mentors rather than their direct manager. These actions can assist by giving them a space to reflect and speak honestly without fear of judgment. Additionally, organizations can formulate a plan to align with career values, personal strengths, and well-being goals to enhance these projects.

Finally, organizations should engage leadership in systematically addressing toxic elements within the culture through transparent communication, employee feedback systems, and zero-tolerance policies on workplace bullying. Organizational leaders can design a anonymous feedback about company culture and leadership styles. It is essential to ensure effective communication and respect throughout the process.

#### Role and Stance

In the future, I will advocate for comprehensive mental health and career development strategies, including designing complete training sessions for leaders, creating strong mental health resources, and supporting organizations to take responsibility for employee well-being. This aligns with Tang et al. (2021), who indicated that mental health and career well-being are closely connected rather than independent fields. I will also bring STF, CCT, and HCMCD to promote organizational development, help employees reach their potential, and support their mental and professional growth. Additionally, I hope to conduct internal needs assessments and lead small-scale pilot initiatives (e.g., mental health peer circles) to identify barriers to psychological safety and test solutions before scaling up. As someone who values preventative practices, I also want to design culturally responsive measures that reflect the perceived inadequacies and voices of employees in the program.

#### Conclusion

Paying attention to organizational culture and leadership plays an important role in supporting employee mental health, particularly in high-pressure settings like Taiwan's tech sector. By drawing on career development theories and HRD practices, companies can strengthen employee wellbeing, improve performance, and promote adaptability in the workplace. As noted by McDonald and Hite (2023), integrating HRD approaches into career development initiatives is critical for fostering both employee growth and organizational effectiveness. Overall, mental health is not just a benefit but also a significant strategy for talent development and organizational success.



Yenming Peng is currently pursuing a master's degree in human resource development at the University of Minnesotathrough a dual-degree program with Yuan Ze University. He previously interned at a management consulting firm in Taiwan focused on tech industry recruitment, with interests in talent development and organizational support.

#### **REFERENCES**

Aon. (2024). Focus on your employees, now more than ever: 2024 Taiwan employee wellbeing report. https://www.aon.com/getmedia/6ca91756-f4a5-4d13-9585-9794b6113823/employee-wellbeing-report-2024-taiwan.pdfAon

Blustein, D. L., Lysova, E. I., & Duffy, R. D. (2023). Understanding decent work and meaningful work. *Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior*, *10*(1), 289–314. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevorgpsych-031921-024847

Clarke, A., Amundson, N., Niles, S., & Yoon, H. J. (2018). Action-oriented hope: An agent of change for internationally educated professionals. *Journal of Employment Counseling*, *55*(4), 155–165. https://doi.org/10.1002/joec.12095

- Edmondson, A. C. (2018). The fearless organization: Creating psychological safety in the workplace for learning, innovation, and growth. John Wiley & Sons.
- Kelloway, E. K., Dimoff, J. K., & Gilbert, S. (2023). Mental health in the workplace. Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior., 10(1), 363–387. https://doi.org/10.1146/ annurev-orgpsych-120920-050527
- Liu, Y., & Younger, H. (2025, March 10). CuboAI under labor inspection after CTO murder. *Taipei Times*. https:// www.taipeitimes.com/News/taiwan/ archives/2025/03/10/2003833193
- Lu, P., Su, J., & Zhou, S. (2020). The relationship between social capital and personal health: An exploration of different leisure activity communities in technology industry. *PingTung University Journal of Physical Education*, (6), 25–40. https://www.airitilibrary.com/Article/Detail?DocID=P20161017005-202006-202011090009-202011090009-25-40 (In Chinese)
- Lubis, F. R., & Hanum, F. (2020, December).
  Organizational culture. In 2nd Yogyakarta
  International Conference on Educational
  Management/Administration and
  Pedagogy (YICEMAP 2019) (pp. 88-91).
  Atlantis Press.
- McDonald, K. S., & Hite, L. M. (2023). Career development: A human resource development perspective (2nd ed.). Routledge. https://doi. org/10.4324/9781003246381
- McMahon, M., & Patton, W. (2018). Systemic thinking in career development theory: contributions of the Systems Theory Framework. *British Journal of Guidance & Counselling.*, 46(2), 229–240. https://doi.org/10.1080/03069885.2018.1428941
- Northouse, P. G. (2021). *Leadership: Theory and practice* (9th ed.). Sage Publications.

- Peng, A. C., & Tjosvold, D. (2011). Social face concerns and conflict avoidance of Chinese employees with their Western or Chinese managers. *Human Relations*, 64(8), 1031–1050. https://doi.org/10.1177/0018726711400927
- Pryor, R. G. L., & Bright, J. E. H. (2012). The value of failing in career development: a chaos theory perspective. *International Journal for Educational and Vocational Guidance*, *12*(1), 67–79. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10775-011-9194-3
- Reed, G. E. (2004). Toxic leadership. In *Military Review* (Vol. 84, Number 4, pp. 67-). U.S. Army CGSC. https://www.academia.edu/8873860/Toxic Leadership
- Savickas, M. L. (2021). Career construction theory and counseling model. In S. D. Brown & R. W. Lent (Eds.), *Career development and counseling: Putting theory and research to work* (3rd ed., pp. 165–200). Wiley.
- Tang, M., Montgomery, M. L. T., Collins, B., & Jenkins, K. (2021). Integrating Career and Mental Health Counseling: Necessity and Strategies. *Journal of Employment Counseling*, *58*(1), 23–35. https://doi.org/10.1002/joec.12155
- World Health Organization. (2024, September 2). *Mental health at work*. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/mental-health-at-work
- Zhang, Z.-X., & Wei, X. (2017). Superficial harmony and conflict avoidance resulting from negative anticipation in the workplace. *Management and Organization Review*, *13*(4), 795–820. https://doi.org/10.1017/mor.2017.48

# THE ROLE OF SCHOOLS IN SHAPING FUTURE CAREERS

Sally Spreeman

hen I worked as a K–12 educator, I frequently asked students about their future career aspirations or plans after graduation. Looking back, and considering my graduate studies and research, I now realize that there was much more I could have done to prepare students for careers and the workforce, beyond foundational academics. In the United States, the K-12 public education system can improve the integration of career development into its curricula and teaching practices. All school personnel play a role in preparing young people for careers that will provide decent work with a livable wage in a safe workplace and have growth opportunities to support themselves upon graduation. According to Kosine and Lewis (2008), integrated and intentional career and technical education (CTE) curriculum will engage students early in setting and pursuing work and career goals.

Young people are essential to local and state economies. Young people taking their first step into the workforce often face barriers that curtail their education and entry into meaningful employment. For many students, public institutions and safety nets are insufficient and inadequate to overcome the education barriers. They often lack resources available from their families, making the chance for successful employment difficult. School districts that prioritize a robust CTE curriculum throughout the K-12 continuum enable students to engage in their education early, build essential skills and competencies, explore and pursue career pathways, and ultimately contribute meaningfully to their communities.

#### **A Changing Workforce**

Until now, comprehensive career development for youth has had limited success, "in part, by a long-standing, firmly held assumption that the only way to be successful in career and life is by obtaining a 4-year college degree" (Brown & Lent, 2021, p. 645). In the 20th century, finding employment only required a high school degree; a young adult could find steady work that did not require post-secondary enrollment. Employers and employees both assumed that: "(a) people possessed stable work characteristics that could be measured and then used to match with jobs that were also stable and predictable; (b) job requirements were slow to change, making training and anticipating future work needs relatively uniform and straightforward; and (c) work opportunities existed in organizations that provided structure and meaning" (Lent & Brown, 2021, p. 645). Now, with a global economy, structural shifts in the job market, and the rapid pace of innovation and technology, education and training are not keeping up, "leaving many youths without the knowledge, skills, and credentials employers expect them to have when they enter the workforce" (Rockefeller Foundation, 2013, p.10).

#### **Laying the Foundation**

Public schools and educators today have a lot to manage as they respond to students' diverse needs, interests, and abilities. With some vocational courses and workstudy options in high school, early career exploration programs during elementary grades are rare (Ellot et al., 2024). A lack of comprehensive career development and exploration for all grades in public schools results in many youths missing out on work and career preparation opportunities.

Systemic school factors (e.g., middle school students are required to make academic decisions that affect educational and career opportunities) can exert considerable influence on the future career paths of young people (Brown & Lent, 2021). While Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act (WOIA) programs focus on disengaged teens and young adults, youth workforce staff in a study by Collins (2023) indicated career exploration should begin at a younger age, introducing fields of work broadly and creatively. By first taking a holistic social work approach that meets young people's physical, social, and emotional needs, educators and adults can then engage youth in identifying their strengths and meet young people where they are currently in their school/work experience (Collins & Spindle-Jackson, 2023).

"Optimal career development ensures that young people are: (a) aware of their personal interests, abilities, and aspirations; (b) knowledgeable about the world of work; and (c) able to use information when considering academic and career-related choices" (Brown & Lent, 2021, p. 649). Applying Donald Super's Life-Span Life-Space theory in K-12 means designing career education as a gradual, age-appropriate process that supports students in forming self-concepts, exploring life roles, and making informed choices. Incorporating Social Cognitive Career Theory (SCCT), developed by Lent, Brown, and Hackett, K-12 career awareness focuses on how self-efficacy, outcome expectations, and personal goals shape students' career interests and choices.

#### **Reaching Every Student**

Key factors impacting youth success in graduating high school and fulfilling their personal goals are socio-economic and quality of education. Experiencing low income or poverty is a barrier to the successful transition of youth and young adults (YYA) to the workplace, interfering with learning, and developing work attitudes required for the job (Wentling & Waight, 2001). Trauma from poverty can lead to issues such as anxiety, stress, and burnout affecting youths' ability to make informed career decisions. "When

parents are unemployed or earn low wages, their access to resources to support their kids' development is more limited, which can undermine their children's health and prospects for success in school and beyond" (Annie E. Casey Foundation, 2024a, p. 24). There are disparities in access to quality education and schools in the United States, particularly for students from lowerincome communities or underrepresented backgrounds. According to a 2024 report by the Annie E. Casey Foundation, "among fourth graders nationwide, 84% of Black students, 82% of American Indian students, and 80% of Hispanic students did not read at a fourth-grade proficiency level" (2024b, p. 4). Youth disconnected from school and work identified school personnel's lack of understanding of different cultures as barriers to their educational success. It is "essential that school personnel be cognizant of the different cultures of their student population if there is to be a ripple effect of productive behaviors and outcomes" (Wentling & Waight, 2001, p.77). The research supports creating inclusive cultures in classrooms and schools, and teacher awareness and training regarding diversity and equity.

#### **Effective Career Development Theories**

Although each career theorist and career perspective frames the stages of a career somewhat differently, they share common themes such as, "the need (a) to be self-aware of career-related interests and skills, (b) to exert self-management skills, (c) to recognize and act on unplanned opportunities, and (d) to view career decision-making as a continual process rather than a single event in late adolescence" (Brown & Lent, 2021, p. 647).

#### **Stages of Becoming**

Any school, in any neighborhood, with a goal of better serving students, can integrate career development activities into the existing school curriculum and academic content (Ellott, 2024). During the growth stage of Donald Super's Life-Span Life-Space theory, elementary students learn about various occupations within their family, school, and community (Ellott et al., 2024). As students

progress through elementary school and this growth stage, they develop an awareness of themselves and the world of work, explore and identify careers that fit their skills and interests, choose and generate a plan for achieving their desired career, develop and refine essential work-related skills, and implement these skills to obtain their job of choice (Ellott et al., 2024). From roleplaying with dress-up clothing and a mock market in the kindergarten classroom to having responsibility for a classroom job, the scaffolding of career awareness occurs. As educators reference work or careers found in literature, an image of that worker is added to a career wall, displaying a broad visual range of options that spark interest and inquiry. Positive improvements in students' career awareness, self-efficacy, and school engagement have resulted when adults share about their profession and work during elementary school career day events (Ellott et al., 2024). Youth participation in careerrelated after-school programs like robotics and Lego leagues offers another option to supplement formal school curricula without drawing time and effort away from required academic coursework (Brown & Lent, 2021).

#### Belief, Behavior, and Beyond

During middle and high school, educators can model and embed key factors from the Social Cognitive Career Theory (SCCT), such as self-efficacy beliefs, outcome expectations, interests, and curricular exposure (Brown & Lent, 2021). While in their teen years, students explore careers of interest and focus on the steps to achieve career goals, developing a positive personal and vocational self-concept (Ellott et al., 2024; O'Rourke, 2020). Teachers of subjects like math, science, language arts, and social studies can integrate career awareness and exploration into their lessons, offering support and encouragement to students who express an interest in related career fields. A positive personal self-concept and self-efficacy are the foundations of both Super's Life-Span Life-Space Theory and SCCT. Supportive and trusted adult relationships provide social capital to strengthen work readiness skills in youth, especially for those disconnected from these assets "due

to systemic oppression and the unequal allocation of power and resources" (Boat et al., 2021, p. 3). All adult school personnel play a role in the success of each student. By encouraging students to do well, holding them to high expectations, and supporting them as they plan and make choices, students feel empowered about their life purpose and optimistic about their future (Search Institute, 2006).

The entire K-12 school experience for a student uses aspects of SCCT to grow and develop the foundational human-centric or soft skills employers look for in employees.

Interaction with peers strengthens collaboration and teamwork skills. Adults support student growth in goal setting, time management, conflict resolution, and overcoming challenges and obstacles. These relationships with trusted adults during adolescence influence motivation and progress toward successful integration into the workforce or pursuit of post-secondary opportunities and spur the implementation of career choice with post-secondary options (Kosine & Lewis, 2008).

#### **Building a Career Path**

For an adolescent without background knowledge of science-related careers, an engineering, computer science, or bio-medical career may seem complex and too difficult to pursue. Especially if educators' attitudes and presentation of mathematical and science courses influence middle and high school students' pursuit of science and engineering career exploration (Starobin et al., 2013). Generating interest in science and technology fields led to the development of the Project Lead the Way (PLTW) curriculum, consisting of "activity, project, and problem-based (APB) instructional design that centers on hands-on, real-world activities, projects, and problems that help students understand how the knowledge and skills they develop in the classroom may be applied in everyday life" (PLTW, n.d.). Completing a PLTW engineering or bio-medical course not only expands upon career interests in a STEM field, but it also allows students to build skills as they perform real-world tasks, strengthening their belief in their capabilities and interest in pursuing

post-secondary education in STEM fields. High school students who participated in the PLTW curriculum had increased enrollment in higher education compared to their peers who did not participate in the program (Starobin et al., 2013).

#### Conclusion

Intentional career development during the K-12 school years can play a significant role in preparing students for work life after high school. With the support of teachers, counselors, school staff, and a learning environment centered on career awareness and development, students are encouraged to explore their interests and build the skills and competencies essential for postsecondary work realities. Ultimately, embedding career theories into the school curriculum fosters career readiness and self-empowerment, equipping students with the skills and growth mindset needed to thrive in a competitive and changing world.



Sally Spreeman is an experienced public school educator and youth development specialist. She transitioned her career to a role in human resources with the State of Minnesota where she found a talent for working with young adults as they pursued internships and enteredthe work world. With a passion for lifelong learning, at the age of 62, she enrolled at the University of Minnesota, earning an M.Ed. in Adult Education in May 2025.

#### **RESOURCES**

- Annie E. Casey Foundation. (2024a). 2024 kids count data book. https://www.aecf. org/resources/2024-kids-count-data-book
- Annie E. Casey Foundation. (2024b). *Racial inequality in education*. https://www.aecf.org/blog/racial-inequality-in-education.
- Boat, A. A., Syvertsen, A. K., & Scales, P. C. (2021). The role of social capital in promoting work readiness among opportunity youth. *Children and Youth Services Review*, *131*, Article 106270.
- Brown, S. D., & Lent, R. W. (2021). Career development and counseling: Putting theory and research to work. Wiley.
- Collins, M. E., & Spindle-Jackson, A. (2023). Understanding youth circumstances in workforce development programs: Opportunities for social work. *Journal of Social Work*, *23*(5), 939-952. https://doi.org/10.1177/14680173231180271
- Ellott, J., McConnell, A. E., Spotton, D., & Reisman, S. (2024). Introducing elementary students to the world of work. *Journal of Education*, 205(1), 72–83. https://doi. org/10.1177/00220574241297991
- Kosine, N. R., & Lewis, M. V. (2008). Growth and exploration: Career development theory and programs of study. *Career and Technical Education Research*, *33*(3), 227–243. https://doi.org/10.5328/cter33.3.227
- O'Rourke, D. (2020). ProjectMe: An approach to career exploration in high school. *Career Convergence*. https://www.ncda.org/aws/NCDA/pt/sd/news\_article/332478/\_self/CC\_layout\_details/false

- Project Lead the Way. (n.d.). *Our philosophy for education*. *PLTW.* https://www.pltw.org/about/approach-impact-efficacy
- Search Institute. (n.d.). Developmental relationships help young people thrive. https://searchinstitute.org/research
- Starobin, S. S., Schenk, T., Laanan, F. S., Rethwisch, D. G., & Moeller, D. (2013). Going and passing through community colleges: Examining the effectiveness of project lead the way in STEM pathways. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, *37*(3), 226–236. https://doi.org/10.1080/10668926.2013.740390
- Wentling, R. M., & Waight, C. L. (2001). Initiatives that assist and barriers that hinder the successful transition of minority youth into the workplace in the USA. *Journal of Education and Work*, *14*(1), 71–89. https://doi.org/10.1080/13639080124738

### APPLYING CHAOS THEORY TO NON-COLLEGE-EDUCATED AFRICAN AMERICANS

#### Christian Martin

elving into the topic of non-collegeeducated African Americans is a subject that is important not only for the general population but also for me. The term noncollege-educated refers to individuals who have not received a four-year degree or a two-year degree. Personally, along with being an African American, most of my family is not college educated. Understanding how to create pathways using career development theories could be the recipe for creating sustainable career paths for this population. The importance lies in the fact that non-college-educated Blacks represent a majority of the group. Around 73% have not completed a bachelor's or associate degree leaving a demographic where theories in career development, which were mainly focused on white men, do not provide enough effective assistance (Funk, 2022; Maree & Molepo, 2006). Due to the lack of research on this population, it is essential to discuss the aspects that may contribute to the application of certain career development theories.

#### Why This is Important

What makes discussing this demographic important is the research that could be provided to help shrink the number of negative outcomes that may arise in this population. Failure has many negative associations when people experience it because they often think of failures as the opposite of career success. Feelings like disgraced, discouraged, and demotivated may arise during these failures, which ultimately create a negative connotation towards failure (Pryor & Bright 2012). This may have more of an impact on non-college-educated Blacks than on Whites. Discussing these events and understanding how likely these

events are to occur will allow practitioners to develop effective counseling to guide this demographic towards sustaining a successful career after failure. For example, understanding the implications and chaos that Covid-19 brought is an indicator of the importance of this need. During the pandemic in 2020, people experienced what Ankkermans (2020) described as career shocks which is "a disruptive and extraordinary event that is, at least to some degree, caused by factors outside the focal individual's control and that triggers a deliberate thought process concerning one's career" (para. 2). Covid-19 was a major event that caused career shocks for many people, as careers changed and jobs were lost. Unemployment extended months after the initial spike of the pandemic. The pandemic was extremely unpredictable, but as with other chaotic events, certain populations experienced the harshest parts of it.

The Black population, college-educated or not, was one, if not the most, affected group as unemployment reached a high among other groups and decreased at a slower rate throughout the year (Hardy et al., 2022). For non-college-educated blacks in that pool, the lack of a college degree created employment instability during this time (Hardy et al., 2022). Research published in the American Academy of Political and Social Science suggested that Blacks with fewer educational credentials are more likely to have low-wage jobs that result in employment instability:

By the end of the sample period, April 2021, the Black-white unemployment gap is roughly double for the most (6.2% versus 3.0%) and least educated (13.1% versus 6.7%). The unemployment shock from COVID-19 is disproportionately borne by

workers with less education; and among these, Black and Hispanic workers fare worst of all. (Hardy et al., 2022, para. 20)

#### **Analysis of the Population**

The African American community, as it pertains to several aspects today, faces many barriers that inhibit them from advancing in their career development, including poor conditions/bad relationship with management, economic restraints, marginalization, and racism that influence career choice. This has and will create hardships for them to be able to progress and sustain (Pitcan et al., 2018; Zhang, 2023).

Similar barriers contribute to halting the career development process making it more difficult for African Americans to advance their careers. Career development alone is a very complex process that consists of different theories and frameworks that can contribute to guidance and make room for explaining the importance of failures. These very failures that are experienced by African Americans can be attributed to chaos and how the chaos in one's life may lead to failures in their career development. The African American community, based on the hardships, experiences a greater chance of failures throughout their career development. Additionally, understanding both the likelihood and the implications of these failures allows for better guidance in overcoming them.

### **Application of Career Development Theories**

#### Chaos Theory

Chaos Theory integrates several complex dynamical system characteristics of complexity, connection, change and chance, specifically the interplay between order and disorder or predictability and uncertainty (Pryor & Bright, 2014). When looking at the complexity of reality, Chaos Theory proposes the acceptance of failure as a possibility when navigating through life (Pryor & Bright, 2012). Thus, failures should not only be accounted for in one's career development, but we must also move away from the negative

connotation they have. Before determining pathways to advising African Americans on planning with chaos, it is vital to understand the most prevalent chaotic events that will influence their career development and how to promote positive outcomes through these events. One of the most significant chaotic events that is shown to affect non-collegeeducated African Americans is a layoff or losing a job. Job loss is an event that can greatly affect the career process for any individual and lead to many implications. In most cases, a lack of career preparation may leave many individuals lost when they need to be open to considering their options for the future. As it pertains to African Americans, these avenues are limited due to systemic barriers.

Along with those barriers, research has shown that African Americans face the disparity of losing their job more than whites in the United States. Shiro and Butcher (2022) researched the statistics on this population's job displacement focusing on the Panel Study of Income Dynamics (PSID). The PSID is used to determine the impacts of job displacement. They found that "Black workers are 67% more likely to be displaced than their White peers, on average. Workers without a bachelor's degree are also 67% more likely to be displaced than those with a bachelor's degree" (Shiro & Butcher, 2022, para.1). This research determines how likely it is for African Americans, compared to Whites, to experience job displacements and how noncollege-educated Blacks experience a greater disparity on top of that.

Looking from the outside in, the chances for this failure to happen for less educated African Americans is significantly higher than Whites and should be viewed as more of a possibility than a spontaneous event. In major events like pandemics and natural disasters that could cause job loss and displacement, Akkermans (2020) explained the event systems theory, which suggests that stronger events that are more disruptive are more likely to initiate change in an individual and promote decision making. Utilizing event systems theory can contribute to altering the current mindset of non-college-educated African Americans to change from a linear

mindset where there is no consideration of the complexity of how career pathways can be affected, to an approach that incorporates this possibility. Individuals can mentally and physically prepare for that possibility allowing chaos to be incorporated into the career development. This also allows for the planning of a chaotic system as described by Cartwright (1991) as undershooting and over-shooting through which the individual deliberately accounts for how complex situations may arise in the career development process and makes decisions that will cater to different outcomes. This is a more effective tactic than a linear mindset.

Chaos theory can also be applied to the schooling that non-college-educated African Americans have experienced. The absence of a bachelor's degree for African Americans poses chaos that is more likely to occur for them and focusing on the education that they may have received is an indicator of additional chaos that exists in their lives. Predominately Black public high schools specifically can create hardships that prohibit the acceleration of education for Black students as policies, actions, and the general procedures of the school can prohibit academic preparation in high school alone. Vernon Polite, who served as the Dean of Eastern Michigan University's School of Education, uses chaos theory as a framework to explain the chaos in these types of schools. Through a case study he found that high schools with a large population of African American students experience widespread chaos that results in unpreparedness on an institutional level and harmful patterns that prohibit students' education (Polite, 1994). This case study presents four indicators related to structures in chaos theory: the lack of parent's contribution to the education of their sons, peer pressure to resist schooling, the lack of caring from teachers, and the failure of instructional leadership from administrators (Polite, 1994).

In determining why this is significant in one's career development, Polite (1994) discussed the butterfly effect as it relates to chaos theory, meaning prior events could have had significant implications on the unpreparedness occurring in metropolitan public school districts. Brady (1990) also discussed the butterfly effect, describing it as "the fact that small causes can have great effects: these exponential repercussions are based on (hyper-) sensitive dependence on initial conditions" (p.70). Brady (1990) also stated that although long-range forecasting of the butterfly effect is practically impossible due to current technology and how nonlinear the approach is, it is still important to consider future implications and understand that some events could be more linear than other events.

With non-college-educated African Americans, the events that may occur due to the lack of preparedness in high school could likely be the cause of later chaos as seen in the students at the metropolitan public school district in Polite's case study. It is impossible to completely predict the outcomes of the chaos that has occurred during schooling in college. However, with the demographic of non-college-educated African Americans, it is reasonable to consider certain outcomes, such as likeness and chance, play a role in influencing chaos.

#### Planned Happenstance Theory

Planned happenstance theory, which Mitchell, Levin and Krumboltz (1999) defined as "a conceptual framework extending career counseling to include the creating and transforming of unplanned events into opportunities for learning" (p. 117), should also be considered. Planned Happenstance Theory can be utilized to incorporate change in an individual's career development. This approach is linked closely with chaos theory. Where this could be beneficial for noncollege-educated Blacks is in the skills that they can develop through interventions based on this theory to prepare for unplanned events. Those five skills include curiosity, persistence, flexibility, optimism, and risktaking (Mitchell et al., 1999). Developing these skills could be essential for this demographic and ultimately prepare them for the chaotic situations, career shocks, and failures that are most likely to have a major impact on their careers.

Planned happenstance theory could be utilized as a strategy in high schools. In urban

schools with predominantly Black students, for example, creating a career counseling course or meeting where educators and counselors can suggest planned happenstance may allow students to develop the skills they need before they go straight into the workforce. This is beneficial because it does not occur in the midst of the failures and chaos they may go through.

#### **Implications**

Although chaos theory can create a mindset that allows failures to be viewed in a different light that allows for preparation for events that may happen, there are aspects that need to be considered when understanding how to utilize chaos theory. Long-term predictability is very hard to achieve, and educators should not use chaos theory to predict any long-term events for this demographic. For example, although practitioners should promote the possible positivity of the failures that may have occurred, it is impossible to formulate what to expect in the future. Scholars suggest that chaos theory can have negative and positive outcomes but cannot predict what will happen exactly based on the chaos that an individual is going through. Long-term planning is very difficult to achieve and the notion of using long-term predictability for chaos is almost impossible and could create different implications for educators and organizations using it as a strategy (Levy, 1994).

Another implication for educators and counselors to consider is what forces drive individuals in this demographic in terms of work. As mentioned before, African Americans without a college education make up a lot of the low-wage sector in the job market which means that people in this demographic may seek these jobs to survive rather than to build and advance their career development process. Decent work as described by Nizami and Prasad (2017) could mean resorting to finding a job quickly to make ends meet during situations and chaos. Based on this, educators and counselors should be cautious and take time to understand why decisions are made.

#### **Future Strategies**

The steps that should be taken by practitioners, educators, and counselors will be important in influencing a mindset change to support this population. Specifically, they should engage in intensive research that will allow them to understand this group and be able to guide them in certain pathways amid all the common chaos that is experienced today. It is important for educators and counselors to prepare these individuals for the chaos that is likely to happen in their lives, and to help them create a new mindset when setbacks and failures occur.



Christian Martin is a recent graduate of Cornell University with a B.S. in Hospitality Administration. He is currently a student at the University of Minnesota pursuing a M.A. in Human Resource Development. Christian currently participates on the track and field team for the University of Minnesota and plans to pursue law school upon graduation.

#### REFERENCES

- Akkermans, J., Richardson, J., & Kraimer, M. L. (2020). The covid-19 crisis as a career shock: Implications for careers and vocational behavior. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 119, 103434.
- Brady, P. (1990). Chaos theory, control theory, and literary theory or: A story of three butterflies *Modern Language Studies*, *20*(4) 65-79.
- Cartwright, T. J. (1991). Planning and chaos theory. *Journal of the American Planning Association*, 57(1), 44–56.
- Funk, C. (2022, April 7). 1. Black Americans' views of education and professional opportunities in science, technology, engineering and math. *Pew Research Center*. https://www.pewresearch.org/science/2022/04/07/black-americansviews-of-education-and-professional-opportunities-in-science-technology-engineering-and-math/
- Hardy, B., Hokayem, C., & Roll, S. (2022). Crashing without a parachute: Racial and educational disparities in unemployment during covid-19. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 698(1), 39-67. https://doi.org/10.1177/00027162211069429
- Levy, D. (1994). Chaos theory and strategy: Theory, application, and managerial implications. *Strategic Management Journal*, *15*(S2), 167-178.
- Maree, K., & Molepo, M. (2006). The use of narratives in cross-cultural career counselling. In M. McMahon & W. Patton (Eds.), *Career counselling: Constructivist approaches* (pp. 69-81). Routledge.
- Mitchell, K. E., Levin, S. A., & Krumboltz, J. D. (1999). Planned happenstance: Constructing unexpected career opportunities. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 77(2), 115-124.

- Nizami, N., & Prasad, N. (2017). *Decent work*. Springer.
- Pitcan, M., Park-Taylor, J. & Hayslett, J. (2018). Black men and racial microaggressions at work. *The Career Development Quarterly*, 66, 300-314.
- Polite, V. C. (1994). The method in the madness: African American males, avoidance schooling, and chaos theory. *The Journal of Negro Education*, *63*(4), 588-601.
- Pryor, R. G., & Bright, J. E. (2012). The value of failing in career development: A chaos theory perspective. *International Journal for Educational and Vocational Guidance*, 12, 67-79.
- Pryor, R. G. L., & Bright, J. E. H. (2014).

  The chaos theory of careers (CTC): Ten years on and only just begun. *Australian Journal of Career Development, 23*(1), 4-12. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/234633957\_The\_Chaos\_Theory\_ of Careers
- Shiro, A. G., & Butcher, K. F. (2022). Job displacement in the United States by race, education, and parental income. Brookings. https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2022/07/20220719\_FMCI\_ShiroButcher\_JobDisplacement\_FINAL.pdf
- Zhang, L. (2023). Black employees not only earn less, but deal with bad bosses and poor conditions: Working knowledge.

  Harvard Business School. https://www.library.hbs.edu/working-knowledge/racial-inequality-in-work-environments

# Training Programs

As the premier leader in career development training and education services, the National Career Development Association (NCDA) provides programming and credentials in a diverse set of training programs. Each program serves a specific audience and offers informed practices for research, development, and delivery of career development services.

NCDA training and education products, services and leaders are dedicated to providing the best career development training programs available.



### **FCD**

#### What is the NCDA Facilitating Career Development Training (FCD) and Certification Program?

The NCDA FCD Training and Certification Program is NCDA's premier offering, encompassing all aspects of career development; it equips participants with essential foundational skills to deliver effective career services to diverse individuals and groups around the world. Training is 120 hours in length and is typically completed in 8-14 weeks. Training schedule and content can be customized.



### SCDA

#### What is the NCDA School Career Development Advisor (SCDA) Training and Certification Program?

The NCDA SCDA Training and Certification program is tailored for professionals who support K-12 students in preparing for meaningful careers and managing their future work lives. Training includes 48 hours of instruction and is typically completed within 6-8 weeks. Training schedule and content can be customized.



### **CPS**

#### What is the NCDA Career Practitioner Supervision (CPS) Training and Certification Program?

The NCDA CPS Training and Certification program is designed for individuals who currently, or aim to, supervise career development practitioners in a variety of settings. Training includes 45 hours of instruction and is typically completed within a 6-8 week time period.





www.ncda.org

### Empower Your Career with Certification



# What is an NCDA Credential?

An NCDA credential represents a formal validation

of an individual's qualifications and professional competency in a specific area of practice in the field of career development.

### What is the Value of a Credential?

An industry certification ensures that you are proficient in a field, while allowing you to enhance your professional brand. By promoting your credential to organizations, your peers and the public at large, you are able to present your base of knowledge, skills and experience to those you serve (students and clients).

Scan the barcode below for more information on NCDA Credentials or visit ncdacredentialing.org.

CCSP

#### **Certified Career Services Provider**

For individuals from an array of backgrounds, to deliver services and demonstrate core competency in the field of career services. Individuals who have completed training through NCDA's Facilitating Career Development are eligible to apply.

CMCS\_

#### **Certified Master of Career Services**

For professionals in advising, coaching and consulting roles in the field of career services. Must hold a minimum of a bachelor's degree combined with 5-7 years of career services experience.

CCC

#### **Certified Career Counselor**

For career counselors with an advanced degree (master's or higher) in counselor education, counseling psychology, rehabilitation counseling or closely related counseling degree, engaged primarily in a career counseling practice or other career counseling-related services.

CSCP

**Certified Supervisor of Career Practitioners** 

For individuals who are trained for or experienced in the delivery of clinical supervision to career counselors and other practitioners who provide career services.

CSCDA

Certified School Career Development Advisor For K-12 career educators working directly with students, or who help design and coordinate school and community based efforts



### Listen to NCDA's Podcast!



Join our hosts and their guests for conversations covering a wide variety of relevant topics for today's career practitioner, no matter your career development context. Each episode features NCDA leaders and industry experts providing information you can use right now.

- Career Coaching, Advising and Counseling Skiills
- Self-Care for Helping Professionals
- Artificial Intelligence in Career Development
- Starting and Developing a Private Practice



Check out the latest episodes at NCDA.buzzsprout.com and subscribe. NCDA's podcast is available for streaming online and wherever you listen to podcasts.

